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President and
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Today, our company is uniquely positioned with a complete
set of commerce chain solutions where customer demands
and supply chain capacity converge. We understand how to
master this convergence—and do so profitably.
— Eddie Capel
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Manh attan Assoc iates, Inc.

L E TTE R TO SH A R E H O L D E R S
To Our Shareholders,
2012 was a very successful year for your Company in a number of important ways. The Company
delivered strong performance across all key financial metrics including revenue, operating
profit, earnings per share and cash flow from operations. We doubled the number of customers
implementing our platform-based solutions. We witnessed the emergence of a revolution in
omni-channel commerce that will likely change the way we see the supply chain forever. And,
with tremendous support from our Board of Directors along with a highly tenured and dedicated
management team, we successfully executed our CEO succession.
However, as with any business, there is room for

revolution in a generation. While this commerce shift

improvement in our performance. Geographically,

is most apparent in the retail sector, it extends into

we continued to experience elongated software sales

many other market segments, such as manufacturing

cycles in our core markets associated with persistent

and wholesale distribution. To fully understand the

global macro-economic weakness. In some instances,

current commerce revolution, it may be best to start

our heritage as the market leader in warehouse

with some historical context. Macro trends from

management overshadows

decades past continue to shape

our distinctive capabilities in

how consumers gain access to

other solutions where we are
not well known. Specifically, we
keep fighting to gain market
awareness for our transportation
management and inventory

“We are working to provide
our customers with seamless
experiences no matter how
they choose to shop with us.”

optimization solutions.

— Macy’s

As your new CEO, I am pleased

products, interact with brands
and shop for goods.
In 1947, the first planned
suburb was built using an
assembly line method of massproduced houses, connected
to the city by new paved

to have the opportunity to report to you my

highways that were used by increasingly affordable

perspective on the substantial market opportunity

automobiles. Within three years, more Americans

for Manhattan and supply chain management

lived in suburbs than in cities or rural areas. Six years

technology along with our performance in 2012.

later, the Dayton Company built the first enclosed

The Commerce Revolution

shopping mall in a Minneapolis suburb, ushering
in an era where the physical immediacy of urban

Transformations in commerce are inherently

shopping districts came closer to home for the

uncommon. However, I believe we are standing today

majority of Americans; and along the way, the Dayton

right in the middle of the most significant commerce

Company changed its name to Target.
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In 1999, the first laptop computer with built-in

Today, the early signs of the commerce revolution are

Wi-Fi was introduced by Apple Computer. The era of

most apparent in the retail sector, through omni-channel

mobile computing had dawned, fueled by the rapidly

selling and fulfillment, where consumers make the rules

improving availability of wireless Internet access,

about what they want, when they want it and how much

both in public places like coffee shops and inside

they are willing to pay. However, we firmly believe the

consumers’ homes. So it’s no coincidence that three

omni-channel commerce revolution will quickly extend

years later, a little company named Amazon turned

beyond retail to every corner of the industry landscape.

its first profit. It was the ubiquity of Internet access—

In turn, these new challenges create significant

unshackled from the desktop—that gave the Seattle-

opportunities for Manhattan Associates.

based bookseller the momentum to expand beyond
books to sell nearly any retail item.

Our work in building solutions to capitalize on
this market revolution started years ago, when we

Suburbanization and mobile computing were two of the

launched an organic growth strategy anchored by

forerunners of the commerce revolution we’re seeing

investment in supply chain technology innovation.

today. The revolution has sparked

The result: Today, our Company is uniquely positioned
with a complete set of

fundamental changes
in the relationships and
interactions between
buyers and brands. These
relationships, whether
retail or wholesale, along
with their enabling digital

The Store Floor

Capabilities on the store
floor to save the sale:
• Ship from store
• Buy online, pickup in store
• In-store order capture

technologies, are shaping
the new commerce
landscape. The implications for
the supply chain and the opportunities for

supply chain commerce
solutions where customer
demands and supply
chain capacity converge.
Business Model and
Performance Overview
As you know,

Manhattan Associates develops and deploys
comprehensive software solutions that solve the

Manhattan Associates can’t be understated.

market’s most complex and impactful supply chain

Capitalizing on the Omni-Channel
Commerce Revolution

business capabilities, connecting the supply chain

challenges. Our solutions cover a broad range of
(distribution operations, transportation management,

The commerce revolution is still in its early stages,

inventory optimization, labor management and

but already its impact is reverberating through

capacity utilization) with the commerce chain (order

traditional supply chain management. In fact, it’s no

management, store operations and planning)—we

exaggeration to say that the revolution is redefining

are in the business of building better supply chains.

supply chain management. It’s no longer viewed as
just a value lever to improve efficiency and control
costs. Supply chain management is gaining clout as a
lifeline for the brand—because it drives both revenue
and profitable growth.

We currently have over 1,200 customers worldwide.
In 2012, our team of expert services professionals
supported nearly 300 “go-lives” across the globe. Many
of these implementations incorporate the most up-todate technology, such as cloud computing technologies
provisioned both in public and private environments.
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We also continue to develop innovative software

For our customers:

delivery models for our customers that provide

•

the lowest possible cost of ownership. Mobility, for

Investing in innovation continues to be our central

	focus. In 2012, we invested $45 million in R&D,

example, is one of the key drivers in supply chain

bringing our cumulative investment to $301 million

innovation—and we’re in the vanguard of that trend.
Our strategy is to provide customers with mobile tools
that enable anywhere, always on, untethered access
to supply chain information and functionality. To drive

since 2006.
•

In 2010, we launched our Warehouse Management

	solution on our Supply Chain Process Platform.™ Since
then, our customers have shown great interest and

Manhattan’s mobile initiatives, a development team

adoption. By the end of 2012, we had 28 customers

was formed in 2012—Manhattan Mobility Labs.

across 57 sites running our platform-based Warehouse
Management solution, more than doubling that

Turning to and measuring our accomplishments

number from the prior year.

for the year, we reflect on them from three primary
•

perspectives; our shareholders, our customers and

Our theme since the launch of the platform has
evolved, starting with Platform Thinking,™ then

our employees. Our overarching goal is to grow at

Platform Thinking

twice the market
rate (5% - 6%) .
1

By this and other
key performance
measures, we
believe 2012 was a
tremendous success.

The Store Back Room
Capabilities in the store
back room:
• Store inventory management
• Store labor productivity
• Parcel integration

For our shareholders:
•

total revenue growth was 13% in the Americas, 23%

•

I am thrilled to share
with you that many of
our customers are seeing
first-hand the power of
positive business impact

	through new revenue opportunity, improved
efficiencies and lower operating costs.
•

Once again in 2012, we hosted our customers at

	Momentum,® our annual user conference. We set

in EMEA and 19% in APAC. Total license revenue

record attendance at the year’s event, with over

grew 13% over 2011 and our services business

1,000 supply chain professionals coming together

continued to perform well, with professional

to share experiences and participate in our growth

services revenue up 18% from 2011.

as a Company.

Record revenue and solid expense management

	resulted in record adjusted operating income in
2012 of $88 million, increasing 26% over 2011.

•

Platform Payoff ™ in 2012.

the platform and realizing

The Company delivered record revenue of $376

	million for the year, up 14% from 2011. Regionally,

Activated™ in 2011 and

For our employees:
•

Manhattan’s leadership in the supply chain

Adjusted operating margins improved to 23.5%

domain continues to be a key factor for attracting

from 21.4% in 2011.

and retaining the absolute best supply chain

The Company also delivered record adjusted

professionals in the market.

	earnings per share of $2.82, up 22% from $2.32

•

	employees across 11 offices around the world.

in 2011.

1
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We grew our workforce 12% adding approximately

focused on delivering impact. Second, we seize

265 employees during the year, led by strong

every opportunity for success. Our markets move

demand for our professional services and are

quickly and technology innovation can happen in the

investing in training programs, great career path

blink of an eye. We stand ready to make the most

development and technical infrastructure to support

of every opportunity. Finally, we don’t bask in past

our leadership position within the industry.

achievements. Our success is measured by what
we can make happen tomorrow. We learn from our

Where We Go From Here

mistakes and constantly look to improve.

Looking forward, Manhattan Associates is well

In closing, I believe our Company is well positioned,

positioned in several essential areas, including the

the market that we serve is vibrant and, while overall

solutions we deliver, the markets where we compete

it will continue to grow 5% - 6% in 2013, our plans

and the attitude that we bring to work every day.
•

are to grow at about twice that rate while generating

Only Manhattan Associates delivers a comprehensive

earnings growth through operating margin expansion.

	suite of supply chain commerce solutions on a single

•

We will continue to benefit from our leadership

process and technology platform. Our customers

position in the core warehouse management, order

represent the best evidence of our success through

management and transportation markets. We will also

their loyalty and market performance.

continue to invest in innovative solutions that capitalize

We are in the middle of a commerce revolution

on the emerging market trends and in our people who

	where supply chain management can determine

so expertly and diligently serve our customers. I’m

success or failure. As the supply chain software

proud to be part of the Manhattan Associates team

sector continues to consolidate, our strength and

and look forward to the opportunities ahead.

resilience makes Manhattan Associates the clear
choice. In 2012, eCommerce sales exceeded $US

Sincerely,

1 trillion for the first time, and are expected to grow
by 15% every year through 20162.
•

We bring a distinctive mindset to work every day.
Eddie Capel

	First, customers are our primary focus and by putting

President and Chief Executive Officer

them in the spotlight, we are assured to remain

2
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Manhattan Associates, Inc.

F IN A N C I A L HI G H L I G H T S
Statement of Income Data (annual):

Year Ended December 31,

2011

2012

(in thousands except per share data)

License revenue

$ 54,241		

$ 61,494

Total revenue

329,253

376,248

Net income

44,907

51,853

(1)

49,770

57,167

GAAP diluted earnings per share

2.09

2.56

2.32

2.82

Cash, cash equivalents and investments

$ 99,114

$ 103,047

Total assets

259,600

261,813

Debt

—

—

Shareholders’ equity

162,080

161,509

Adjusted net income
Adjusted diluted earnings per share

(1)

Balance Sheet Data (at December 31):

(1)	The non-GAAP financial measures adjusted operating income, adjusted net income, and adjusted diluted earnings per share exclude
amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, equity-based compensation, unusual items such as restructuring charges, asset impairment
charges, recovery of previously impaired investment, and sales tax recoveries, net of tax effects and unusual tax adjustments. A reconciliation
of GAAP to adjusted results can be found in the Investor Relations section of our website at www.manh.com. Non-GAAP financial measures
should not be used as a substitute for, or considered superior to, measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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These are exciting times.
The digital commerce revolution is spawning
tremendous opportunity for businesses by building
closer connections than ever between the vast buyers’
marketplace and the supply chains that serve it. It’s
a golden intersection we describe as ‘where supply
chain and the market meet.’ This is the promise of
Supply Chain Commerce: the blending of supply

chain and commerce and the wealth of opportunity it
represents.
Through this intersection flows a ‘commerce
connection’—an all-points feeder system presenting
continuous opportunities to capitalize on today’s
omni-channel landscape.
It’s a market shift, disrupting supply chains and
creating growth opportunity for businesses across
all industries.
To capitalize and compete, it means mobilizing
the right supply chain and commerce strategy—an
integrated technology approach designed to meet
omni-channel complexity while maximizing return on
investment.
At Manhattan Associates, we believe supply chain
technology is at the heart of digital commerce
enablement and core to creating sustainable
competitive advantage. And we believe the
acceleration of this new paradigm is only just
commerce connection

beginning.

where supply chain and the market meet
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global offices
Atlanta, GA (headquarters)
Bangalore, India
Bracknell, UK
Carmel, IN
Melbourne, Australia
Nieuwegein, The Netherlands
Paris, France
Shanghai, China
Singapore
Sydney, Australia
Tokyo, Japan

partner locations
Chile
Colombia
Iceland
Indonesia
Malaysia
Mexico
Poland
Romania
Russia
South Africa
South Korea

The accelerating

change
of an
revolution
has businesses on a fast track to turn
complexity into opportunity and achieve
the promise of Supply Chain Commerce.

Spain
Sweden
Thailand
United Arab Emirates
Venezuela
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supply chain commerce

where supply chain and

The term Supply Chain Commerce acknowledges the transformative
role of today’s supply chain as both a money saver and a money
maker. Regardless of your industry or the markets you serve,
connecting logistics (supply chain distribution) and loyalty (supply
chain demand) is the key to delivering satisfaction profitably.

supply chain
solution suites
	The name of the supply
chain game is agility and
efficiency with a strong
focus on bottom-line
results. SCOPE Supply
Chain Solutions optimize
performance throughout
the enterprise—enhancing
productivity, service and
speed across every node,
at every touch-point.
Manhattan solutions are all
about maximizing inventory
performance, enhancing
operational effectiveness
in your distribution centers,
and running a transportation
network that facilitates
timely deliveries at the
lowest possible cost.

Manhattan SCOPE Customer:

Nature’s Best

Nature’s Best reaps a bumper crop of benefits
This distributor of natural and organic grocery
products decreased product handling 75%,
reduced labor 66%, increased throughput 114%,
doubled order accuracy, and achieved nearly
$100K savings in fleet costs.

commerce connection
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It all paid off extremely quickly,” reported Jim
Beck, Nature’s Best president and CEO. “We
started seeing improvement four months after
implementation. It usually takes three or four times
that long—and I have yet to see any limits to the
volume we can process. Warehouse Management
is the lifeblood of our operation and cornerstone
of our growth strategy.
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the market meet
Manhattan SCOPE® is the only portfolio of supply chain commerce solutions
built on a common technology platform available on the market today. SCOPE
leverages the investments we’ve made in our Supply Chain Process Platform™
to deliver both the traditional bottom-line benefits associated with supply chain
improvements and the top-line revenue gains created by commerce initiatives.

commerce chain
solution suites
SCOPE Commerce Chain
	Solutions are designed to
enable retailers to engage
more with their customers
	and ultimately sell more.
	From planning the right
assortments in the right
channels and stores,
to serving up inventory
availability across the network
to any selling system, to
fulfilling omni-channel
promises from the store,
Commerce Chain Solutions
help ensure no sale is lost,
customers are satisfied and
margins are maximized,
while providing best-in-class
customer service in the call
center and in the store.

Manhattan SCOPE Customer:

Macy’s

Macy’s embraces omni-channel and rolls out an enhanced customer experience
The other half of “buy anywhere” is “fulfill
anywhere,” noted Macy’s senior vice president
of systems development and field services, Brian
Leinbach. The company’s plan is to optimize
inventory to enable customers to easily shop any
channel they choose. By 2013, 300 of Macy’s 840
locations will be equipped to handle direct-toconsumer order fulfillment. 1

commerce connection
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As we’ve been adding more and more categories
online that are available to be fulfilled from the
store when they run out, we are seeing that there’s
a big opportunity and increased demand,” said
Karen Hoguet, CFO.1
1

Macy’s Takes the Lead in Tech-Enhanced Shopping, RIS News, May 15, 2012
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the platform

Manhattan has an impressive list of the most sophisticated and
complex supply chain customers. Manhattan has established broad
C-level executive relationships with key customers who value a
strategic association and the power of an SCE platform.
The company’s customers are also loyal; many have been
customers for a decade or more, and they continue to invest
in new Manhattan products and services.
— Gartner, 2012
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The industry’s first platform-based approach to Supply

Chain Commerce

Once a supply-centered environment, today’s omni-channel world is more focused on the
customer. And every industry will feel the impact—retailers, manufacturers, wholesalers
and third-party logistics providers (3PLs) alike. For companies to thrive in this new
paradigm and meet the growing demands of digital commerce, supply chains must reach
beyond their legacy role in process and performance efficiency and become drivers of
revenue and relationships.
Manhattan Associates is leading the industry through today’s commerce revolution with
our platform-based solutions—Manhattan SCOPE and Manhattan SCALE. From how we
design software and deliver solutions to the marketplace, to how we provide services
and support to our customers, this platform-based approach infuses everything we
do and is enabling leading companies worldwide to capitalize on the opportunities of
Supply Chain Commerce.

Manhattan SCOPE® is the only portfolio of supply chain commerce
solutions built on a common technology platform available on the
market today. SCOPE leverages the investments we’ve made in our
Supply Chain Process Platform to deliver both the traditional bottomline benefits associated with supply chain
improvements and the top-line revenue gains
created by commerce initiatives. SCOPE provides
Supply Chain Solutions to optimize efficiency and
performance and Commerce Chain Solutions to seize opportunities for
revenue growth, complemented by Visibility and Insight applications to
support functional capabilities across the platform. SCOPE is well
suited for companies with high levels of supply chain complexity that
consider supply chain software, processes and technology strategic to
market leadership.
Manhattan SCALE™ is an optimal blend of features, functionality and
technology for organizations looking for a high-performing, affordable
and low-risk supply chain solution. Leveraging the Microsoft .NET
platform to unify logistics functions, SCALE’s
infrastructure integrates Labor Management,
Trading Partner Management, Yard Management,
Warehouse Management and Transportation
Execution to create a cost-effective, optimized solution suite that
offers end-to-end supply chain integration and visibility. “Scaled to fit
and ready to run,” Manhattan SCALE is designed to help companies
maximize their supply chain execution speed-to-value by reducing IT
complexity and deployment costs.

commerce connection
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Manhattan MORE®
Manhattan delivers value through
more than software. Surrounding
our software is Manhattan MORE,
a full suite of services that optimize
the supply chain at every touchpoint to maximize customer value.
Backed by a dedicated team of
Manhattan Supply Chain People®
and a worldwide network of partners,
MORE delivers on our commitment
to help our customers achieve
and maintain business advantage
through supply chain excellence.

“Customer references
complimented Manhattan
on its service and support, as
well as the robustness of the
methodologies it employs to
support implementations, or
what it calls MORE.”
Gartner WMS Magic Quadrant, 2012
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americas

Store Commerce Activation helps improve our inventory
accuracy, while reducing the amount of time our
associates spend in the back room. It provides a better
in-store customer experience, improves our store sales
and sets the stage for buy-online-pick-up-in-store and
ship-from-store operations.
— Lamps Plus
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Leading companies across the Globe capitalize on the opportunity of Supply

Chain Commerce

Manhattan’s Americas operations are based out of our headquarters in Atlanta, Georgia,
and supported by Manhattan Value Partners™ and GeoPartners.™ The Americas sales team
had a very productive 2012, with an impressive win rate against both best-of-breed and
ERP competitors. Across the Americas—Canada, Latin America and the U.S.—Manhattan
customers are leveraging our platform-based approach to capitalize on the opportunity
of Supply Chain Commerce, including David’s Bridal, Canadian Tire and Ripley.
David’s Bridal, a $600 million wedding retailer, depends on its supply chain to deliver
on promises to brides across the U.S., Canada and Puerto Rico. Using Distributed
Order Management (DOM), David’s Bridal can keep track of incoming inventory,
inbound orders from stores and online purchases. DOM enables David’s Bridal to
leverage network-wide inventory, support order modifications and cancellations
throughout the order lifecycle, and provide customers the option to buy online and
pick up in store. With Warehouse Management, the retailer has greatly increased
accuracy and efficiency while reducing costs, achieving impressive results—increased
on-time delivery rates from 65-70% to 98-99%, reduced cycle time by 25% and
lowered distribution center (DC) labor costs by 20% per piece. “We don’t miss a
wedding…we have to make sure that what we promise, we can deliver,” says Diane
Garforth, director of logistics systems. Manhattan solutions help David’s Bridal do just
that—deliver on their promises while improving profit and performance.1
Canadian Tire offers everyday products and services through more than 1,700
retail and gasoline outlets across Canada. Manhattan’s Warehouse Management
provides the company with critical product sales velocity data—the information
Canadian Tire used to reorganize its auto parts DCs. “The Manhattan Associates
tools give us the ability to see the velocity, see what we’ve put in the right place
and see what we should move, either to a more productive or a less productive
area,” reports John Salt, SVP of supply chain. By improving distribution processes,
Canadian Tire is able to make near-daily deliveries to its stores, producing
significant business benefits. “More frequent deliveries lets us carry a broader
assortment of what a customer may want, so there’s a higher probability that the
tires they want will be there when they walk in—and even if not, we’ll be able to
get them more quickly,” says Salt.2
Ripley is the third largest department store chain in Chile. With more than 50 stores,
a thriving online business and intensifying competition, Ripley needed to consolidate
and automate its distribution operations. “Our competitors were providing oneto three-hour delivery windows, which put us in a very tight spot,” says Francisco
Irarrázaval, retail operations manager. Ripley’s new 660,000 sq. ft. automated DC,
equipped with Manhattan’s Warehouse Management, has radically improved
capacity, productivity and supply chain efficiency while reducing costs. Chosen
for its ability to run different operations simultaneously, Warehouse Management
integrates with Ripley’s material handling equipment and other systems to manage
receiving, order delivery and its booming home delivery business. “Today we work
with about 40% fewer people than in the past,” says CIO Gustavo Pardo. “We’re
moving more SKUs to market (70,000 daily) in far less time.” 3
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“How do we be more productive
with the workforce and the
physical wall capacity that we
already have? DOM was a way
around that…It’s really the
flexibility to be omni-channel.
Our existing infrastructure really
wasn’t allowing us to do that.
DOM is allowing us the flexibility
to match the current footprint of
our business and help us grow.”4
Yankee Candle

“During this time of year we
can see our business increase five
times our normal rate. Manhattan’s
WMS and TMS integration has
helped us improve what was once a
four- to five-day lead time to delivery
overnight as required. Our accuracy
rate is higher than 99%, further
improving customer service.”
Lennox

1

Happily Ever After, STORES,
September 1, 2012

2

Data-Driven Distribution, RIS News,
August 2012

3

Warehouse Management Stocks Savings
for Ripley, NRF Daily, January 17, 2012

4

The Sweet Smell of Success, STORES,
May 3, 2012
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international

To effectively meet the expected growth in demand for
the products we’re selling, and because we’re operating
across an increasing number of channels, we realized we
would need a highly intelligent supply chain system. After
a competitive selection process, we chose Manhattan
because of its rich experience and excellent reputation
working with the world’s leading retailers.
— Happigo, China

commerce connection
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Companies across the planet realize the potential of Supply

Chain Commerce

Manhattan’s EMEA and APAC business units had a very successful year, delivering
double-digit top-line and operating profit growth. With associates in nine Manhattan
offices supported by GeoPartners operating across both regions, Manhattan’s
international operations are equipped to provide local and global companies with
the supply chain and commerce chain solutions they need to make the most of every
Supply Chain Commerce opportunity.
Europe, the Middle East and Africa EMEA
2012 was a record-breaking year for the EMEA region with the business unit
delivering record total revenue and profit. This performance was achieved through
the combined efforts of Manhattan associates in our Centers of Expertise in
France, the Netherlands and the UK working closely with Manhattan GeoPartners
in Central and Eastern Europe, the Commonwealth of Independent States
(CIS) and Russia, Iberia, the Nordics, the Middle East and South Africa. It was
a milestone year for Manhattan EMEA in other respects as well, with many
regional customers across retailing, food/foodservice, consumer goods, 3PL and
pharmaceutical distribution now leveraging our platform-based approach to
address the unique challenges they face in today’s omni-channel world.

Asia Pacific APAC
More and more companies across Asia Pacific are recognizing the importance
of having an advanced distribution and fulfillment capability and are investing in
Manhattan’s solutions. They are seeing Manhattan’s technologies as critical, not
just to control costs and make their operations more transparent and efficient,
but to increase revenues by improving fill rates and customer service levels,
often across multiple channels. Manhattan’s APAC organization—represented by
offices in Australia, China, India, Japan and Singapore, and complemented by key
partners—work with customers representing 15 countries across the region.
2012 represented our APAC business unit’s strongest year ever from a revenue
and profitability perspective.

“With the significant growth we
have seen in our e-commerce
activity, we saw Manhattan’s DOM
solution as the perfect fit—
in terms of its ability to help us
manage, monitor and optimize
our e-commerce and cross
channel orders. Specifically, the
DOM solution will provide us
with real-time, global visibility of
inventory, thus boosting service
levels and enabling us to sell
more at each point of customer
engagement as well as allowing
us to fulfill those orders in a way
which maximizes profit for the
business.”
Leroy Merlin | France

“Manhattan invests a lot in R&D
and their software solutions
evolve continuously, just like
our business and our business
environment. They are exactly
the kind of supply chain partner
we were looking for. Thanks to
Manhattan Associates’ supply
chain optimization solutions we
are able to keep our promise:
‘passion for food and passion
for service.’”
Deli XL | Netherlands
“What we have been particularly
impressed with is Manhattan’s
project management approach,
both in terms of implementation
and execution, which has been
simply outstanding. They have set
the bar very high.
Jeanswest Corporation
Australia
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the numbers

Manhattan is also a customer-intimate firm, which is exhibited by
its strategic partnership customers, which have made significant
investments in multiple solutions and have actively participated as
a sounding board and platform to drive continual innovation. While
Manhattan’s products are the primary focal point of its customer
relationships, the amount of services it provides testifies to the value
that customers place on Manhattan’s domain expertise, as well as
the value delivered through its services above and
beyond the value of its applications. — Gartner, 2012
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Financial Highlights
Year Ended December 31,

2008		

2009		

Statement of Income Data (annual):
$ 65,313 		

License revenue
Total revenue
Net income
Adjusted net income

2011		

2012

(1)

$ 34,686		

$ 54,450		

$ 54,241		

$ 61,494

337,201		

246,667 		

297,117		

329,253		

376,248

22,798 		

16,562		

28,061		

44,907		

51,853

35,863		

23,885

35,360		

49,770

57,167		

GAAP diluted earnings per share
Adjusted diluted earnings per share

2010		

(in thousands except per share data)

(1)

0.94		

0.73		

1.25		

2.09		

2.56

1.47		

1.06		

1.58		

2.32		

2.82

Balance Sheet Data (at December 31):
$ 88,706		

Cash, cash equivalents and investments

270,221		

Total assets

$ 123,014		

$ 126,869		

264,711		
— 		

—		

—		

—

Shareholders’ equity

183,365 		

183,800		

162,080		

161,509

Total Revenue

Net Income

(in millions)

(in millions)

$376

$65

Adjusted Net Income
$52

$57
$50

$329
$28

$61
$54

$36

$247

$17

11

12

08

09

$35

$23

$35

10

11

12

08

09

(1)

(in millions)

$45

$297

10

261,813		

—		

$337

09

$ 103,047

259,600		

179,839		

(in millions)

08

$ 99,114		

Debt

License Revenue

$54

280,464		

$24

10

11

12

08

09

10

11

12

Operating Highlights
n

n

In 2012, total revenue of $376.2 million grew 14% over 2011.
In 2012, we delivered $88.4 million in adjusted operating income.(1)

n

In 2012, we achieved GAAP and adjusted diluted earnings per share (1) of $2.56 and $2.82, respectively.

n

We generated operating cash flow of $75.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Over the past 		
three years, we generated approximately $181.1 million in cash flow from operations.

n

Our balance sheet is strong, with $103.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments and no debt. 		

n

Of our approximately 2,400 employees, over 90% are focused on extending customer value.

(1)	The non-GAAP financial measures adjusted operating income, adjusted net income, and adjusted diluted earnings per share exclude amortization of
acquisition-related intangibles, equity-based compensation, unusual items such as restructuring charges, asset impairment charges, recovery of previously
impaired investment, and sales tax recoveries, net of tax effects and unusual tax adjustments. A reconciliation of GAAP to adjusted results can be found in the
Investor Relations section of our website at www.manh.com. Non-GAAP financial measures should not be used as a substitute for, or considered superior to,
measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP.
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Manhattan at a Glance
Founded: 1990
Nasdaq: MANH
Global Customers:
more than 1,200
Deployments:
287 go-lives in 2012
Supply Chain Focused
R&D Investment:
$45 million in 2012;
$301 million since 2006
Employees Worldwide:
~ 2,400 (December 2012)
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Forward-Looking Statements
Forward-Looking Statements
In addition to historical information, this Annual Report may contain “forward-looking statements” relating to Manhattan
Associates,
Inc. Investor
and prospective
investors
are cautioned
such “forward-looking
forward-looking statements
not guarantees
of future
In addition
to historical
information,
this Annual
Report that
mayany
contain
statements”are
relating
to Manhattan
performance
andInvestor
involve and
risksprospective
and uncertainties,
and
actual results
may
differ
materially from
those contemplated
by suchof future
Associates, Inc.
investors
arethat
cautioned
that any
such
forward-looking
statements
are not guarantees
forward-looking
Among
the importantand
factors
that could
cause
to differ
from thoseby
indicated
performance and statements.
involve risks
and uncertainties,
that actual
results
mayactual
differresults
materially
frommaterially
those contemplated
such by
such
forward-looking
statements
are
delays
in
product
development,
undetected
software
errors,
technical
difficulties,
availability
of
forward-looking statements. Among the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by
technical
personnel, changes
in customer
requirements,
competitive pressures,
acceptance,
the impact
of acquisitions,
and of
such
forward-looking
statements
are delays
in product development,
undetectedmarket
software
errors, technical
difficulties,
availability
general
conditions.
Additional
are set forth
in the “Risk
Factors”
in Part
I, Item 1A
this Annual
Report. We
technicaleconomic
personnel,
changes in
customer factors
requirements,
competitive
pressures,
market
acceptance,
the of
impact
of acquisitions,
and
undertake
no
obligation
to
update
or
revise
forward-looking
statements
to
reflect
changed
assumptions,
the
occurrence
of We
general economic conditions. Additional factors are set forth in the “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report.
unanticipated
events or changes
future
operating
results. Our
Annual to
Report
Form 10-K
is available
our website
at
undertake
no obligation
to updateinor
revise
forward-looking
statements
reflectonchanged
assumptions,
thethrough
occurrence
of
www.manh.com.
unanticipated events or changes in future operating results. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K is available through our website at
www.manh.com.
PART I
PART I
Item 1. Business
Item 1. Business
Overview
Overview
We were founded in 1990 in Manhattan Beach, California and incorporated in Georgia in 1998. References in this filing to
the “Company,”
“Manhattan
Associates,”
“our,”
and
“us” refer toinManhattan
Inc., ourinpredecessors,
We were“Manhattan,”
founded in 1990
in Manhattan
Beach, “we,”
California
and
incorporated
Georgia inAssociates,
1998. References
this filing to
and
our
wholly-owned
and
consolidated
subsidiaries.
Our
principal
executive
offices
are
located
at
2300
Windy
Ridge
Tenth
the “Company,” “Manhattan,” “Manhattan Associates,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to Manhattan Associates, Inc.,
our Parkway,
predecessors,
Floor,
Georgiaand
30339,
and our telephone
number
770-955-7070.
and ourAtlanta,
wholly-owned
consolidated
subsidiaries.
Our is
principal
executive offices are located at 2300 Windy Ridge Parkway, Tenth
Floor, Atlanta, Georgia 30339, and our telephone number is 770-955-7070.
We develop, sell, deploy, service, and maintain supply chain commerce software solutions for retailers, wholesalers,
manufacturers,
governments,
and other
organizations.
Our
customers
many
of the solutions
world’s largest
and most
profitable
We develop,
sell, deploy,
service,
and maintain
supply
chain include
commerce
software
for retailers,
wholesalers,
retailers.
Manhattan
Associates’
chain commerce
areinclude
at the leading
edge
the “omni-channel”
commerce
manufacturers,
governments,
and supply
other organizations.
Oursolutions
customers
many of
the of
world’s
largest and most
profitable
revolution,
as they areAssociates’
positioned supply
to deliver
critical
business
capabilities
connect
every order and delivery
channel
retailers. Manhattan
chain
commerce
solutions
are atthat
the seamlessly
leading edge
of the “omni-channel”
commerce
across
the
customer’s
entire
enterprise.
Key
benefits
of
implementing
our
solutions
include:
revolution, as they are positioned to deliver critical business capabilities that seamlessly connect every order and delivery channel
across the customer’s entire enterprise. Key benefits of implementing our solutions include:
• Solving the complexity of operating profitably in an omni-channel world (stores, websites, mobile devices, catalogs, call
by forecasting
controlling
inventory,
enabling “buy
everywhere,
deliver anywhere”
shipping,
and managing
• centers)
Solving the
complexitydemand,
of operating
profitably
in an omni-channel
world
(stores, websites,
mobile devices,
catalogs,
call
bottom
costs through
inventory,
labor, and
asset optimization;
centers)line
by forecasting
demand,
controlling
inventory,
enabling “buy everywhere, deliver anywhere” shipping, and managing
bottom line
costs
through
inventory,by
labor,
and asset
optimization;
• Opening
new
revenue
opportunities
“saving
the sale”
on the store floor through network-wide inventory visibility and
•

•
•
•
••
•
•
•
•
•

capturing
greater
grossopportunities
margins by optimizing
andfloor
totalthrough
cost of network-wide
ownership; inventory visibility and
Opening new
revenue
by “savingdemand
the sale”fulfillment
on the store
capturing
greater
gross
margins
by
optimizing
demand
fulfillment
and
total
cost
of
ownership;
Coordinating workflows and communications with the participants in the supply chain
ecosystem, including suppliers,

manufacturers,
distributors,
and transportation
providers;in the supply chain ecosystem, including suppliers,
Coordinating workflows
andcustomers,
communications
with the participants
manufacturers,
distributors,
customers,
and
transportation
providers;
Balancing transportation and inventory costs with desired service
levels across all channels;

Balancing transportation
andasset
inventory
costsinwith
desired service
across all networks,
channels; and delivery channels, including
Increasing
productivity and
utilization
distribution
centers,levels
transportation
retail
stores,productivity
to capture more
customer
revenue
and improvecenters,
return on
supply chainnetworks,
investments,
includingchannels,
storage, including
labor,
Increasing
and asset
utilization
in distribution
transportation
and delivery
inventory,
and
investments;
retail stores,
to transportation
capture more customer
revenue and improve return on supply chain investments, including storage, labor,
inventory, and
transportation
investments;
Improving
compliance
with customer
requirements, including radio frequency identification (RFID) and electronic product
code
(EPC)compliance
requirements;
Improving
withand
customer requirements, including radio frequency identification (RFID) and electronic product
code
(EPC)
requirements;
and
Accelerating eco-friendliness through “green” initiatives such as reducing carbon footprints and greenhouse gas emissions

and
improvingeco-friendliness
reuse and recycling.
Accelerating
through “green” initiatives such as reducing carbon footprints and greenhouse gas emissions
and improving reuse and recycling.
We believe that a platform-based approach is the best way to optimize an organization’s supply chain, as well as its entire
supply chain
ecosystem
enterprise that
interacts
withbest
theway
supply
chain). Supply
chain ecosystems
encompass
disparate
We believe
that(every
a platform-based
approach
is the
to optimize
an organization’s
supply chain,
as well
as its entire
functions
within
an
organization
that
affect
its
supply
chain
(such
as
distribution,
transportation,
order
lifecycle
management,
supply chain ecosystem (every enterprise that interacts with the supply chain). Supply chain ecosystems encompass disparate
inventory
optimization,
and planning
and forecasting)
as well
as interactions
withtransportation,
entities outsideorder
the organization
that are integral to
functions within
an organization
that affect
its supply chain
(such
as distribution,
lifecycle management,
its
supply optimization,
chain, including
suppliers, distributors,
trading partners,
transportation
channels
(such
as
inventory
andmanufacturers,
planning and forecasting)
as well as interactions
with entities
outsideproviders,
the organization
that
are integral
to
catalogers,
store
retailers,
call
centers,
mobile
devices
and
web
outlets)
and
consumers.
its supply chain, including manufacturers, suppliers, distributors, trading partners, transportation providers, channels (such as
catalogers, store retailers, call centers, mobile devices and web outlets) and consumers.
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We deliver these benefits in a distinctive way through a set of supply-chain-centered capabilities we call Manhattan MORE®:
Manhattan’s
Optimized
Roadmap
1).a These
elements work togethercapabilities
to coordinate
people,MORE®:
We deliver
these
benefits to
in Excellence
a distinctive(See
wayFigure
through
set of supply-chain-centered
we insights,
call Manhattan
workflows,
assets,
events,
and
tasks
across
supply
chain
functions
from
planning
through
execution.
They
also
help
to
coordinate
Manhattan’s Optimized Roadmap to Excellence (See Figure 1). These elements work together to coordinate insights, people,
actions, dataassets,
exchange,
andand
communication
amongchain
participants
in supply
chain ecosystems.
workflows,
events,
tasks across supply
functions
from planning
through execution. They also help to coordinate
actions, data exchange, and communication among participants in supply chain ecosystems.

Figure 1: Manhattan MORE® depicts Manhattan’s Optimized Roadmap to Excellence, our comprehensive
®
methodology
for delivering
customer
through supply-chain-centered
principles,
products, protocols,
Figure 1: Manhattan
MORE
depictsvalue
Manhattan’s
Optimized Roadmap topeople,
Excellence,
our comprehensive
and
processes.forWe
build long-term
customer
relationships
through our Customer
methodology
delivering
customer
value through
supply-chain-centered
people,Excellence
principles,Lifecycle,
products,which
protocols,
leverages
our software,
enriched
services in athrough
high-touch
cycle of engagement,
deployment,
and
and processes.
We buildexpertise
long-termand
customer
relationships
our Customer
Excellence Lifecycle,
which
adoption
for
continuous
supply
chain
advancement.
leverages our software, expertise and enriched services in a high-touch cycle of engagement, deployment, and
adoption for continuous supply chain advancement.
The Omni Channel Revolution – For Retail and Beyond
The Omni Channel Revolution – For Retail and Beyond
For decades, the supply chain had been dominated by a focus on operating
efficiencyFor
anddecades,
cost management.
Over had
the past
years, Manhattan
has built a
the supply chain
been20
dominated
by a focusAssociates
on operating
foundation
andcost
world-class
reputation
solutions
to solvehas
the built
mosta
efficiency and
management.
Overfor
thebuilding
past 20 technology
years, Manhattan
Associates
complex
and
business
critical
supply
chain
problems.
The
consumerization
of
technology
foundation and world-class reputation for building technology solutions to solve the most
and emergence
of on-line
commerce
that demands
new supply
complex
and business
critical
supply have
chainprompted
problems.a revolution
The consumerization
of technology
chainemergence
capabilities
newcommerce
supply chain
commerce
Today,
effective new
supply
and
of and
on-line
have
promptedsolutions.
a revolution
that demands
supply
chain
managementand
is as
much
about
revenue
generation
as it isToday,
about cost
reduction.
chain capabilities
new
supply
chain
commerce
solutions.
effective
supply
Whilemanagement
the earliest signals
of theabout
omni-channel
revolutionaswere
retail,
we believe
chain
is as much
revenue generation
it isseen
aboutincost
reduction.
that virtually
everysignals
industry
the world will
be impacted
in one
orwe
another.
While
the earliest
of around
the omni-channel
revolution
were seen
in way
retail,
believe
Manufacturers,
wholesalers,
and third
logistics
feel way
the impact
of
that virtually every
industry around
theparty
world
will be providers
impacted all
in one
or another.
converging
channels.
Manufacturers, wholesalers, and third party logistics providers all feel the impact of
converging channels.
For almost every retailer, the omni-channel revolution has sparked an outright
“land grab”
market
share.
Switching
costs for therevolution
average consumer
have
Forfor
almost
every
retailer,
the omni-channel
has sparked
andropped
outrightradically, as virtually every major retailer
operates
on-line
storefronts
as Switching
well as physical,
brick
mortar
locations,
placing
customer
loyalty
in jeopardy.
know that
“land
grab”
for market
share.
costs for
the and
average
consumer
have
dropped
radically,
as virtually
everyRetailers
major retailer
in
order to
keep customers
must
able to brick
deliverand
a consistent
shopping
experience
across
everyinchannel
andRetailers
at a cost know
that isthat
operates
on-line
storefrontsthey
as well
asbe
physical,
mortar locations,
placing
customer
loyalty
jeopardy.
in order to keep customers they must be able to deliver a consistent shopping experience across every channel and at a cost that is
4
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competitive. As the multi-channel business model has evolved, competitors have realized that winning requires more than a great
website.
Winning
an integrated
business
that functions
seamlessly
across every
channel requires
and delivers
consistent
competitive.
As therequires
multi-channel
business
modelmodel
has evolved,
competitors
have realized
that winning
moreathan
a great
experience
at
a
cost
structure
that
can
deliver
a
profit.
website. Winning requires an integrated business model that functions seamlessly across every channel and delivers a consistent
experience at a cost structure that can deliver a profit.
Manhattan Associates is leading the industry through this radical change with its platform-based solutions that connect
supply chain
solutions
with commerce
chain
Manhattan
Associates
is leading
the solutions.
industry through this radical change with its platform-based solutions that connect
supply chain solutions with commerce chain solutions.
Manhattan Associates’ Software Solution Portfolios
Manhattan Associates’ Software Solution Portfolios
Our supply chain commerce software solution portfolios – Manhattan SCOPE® and Manhattan SCALETM – are designed to
®
leverage Our
our platform
investments
to deliver
both
the profitability
typically
associated
with supply
chainTM
improvements
and
and Manhattan
SCALE
– are designed
to
supply chain
commerce
software
solution
portfolios –benefits
Manhattan
SCOPE
top line revenue
gains investments
created by commerce
Manhattanbenefits
SCOPEtypically
(Supplyassociated
Chain Optimization,
Planning
through Execution,
leverage
our platform
to deliver initiatives.
both the profitability
with
supply
chain
improvements
and
TM
(SCPP,(Supply
depictedChain
in Figure
3) to bringPlanning
togetherthrough
the supply
and
depicted
in Figure
2) leverages
our
Supply Chain
ProcessManhattan
Platform SCOPE
top line revenue
gains
created by
commerce
initiatives.
Optimization,
Execution,
TM Logistics Execution, depicted in Figure 4) leverages Microsoft’s
commerce
chains;
Manhattan
SCALE
(Supply
Chain
Architected
for
depicted
in Figure 2) leverages our Supply Chain Process Platform (SCPP, depicted in Figure 3) to bring together the supply and
to Manhattan
unify logistics
functions.
.NET® platform
commerce
chains;
SCALE
(Supply Chain Architected for Logistics Execution, depicted in Figure 4) leverages Microsoft’s
.NET® platform to unify logistics functions.
Our solutions operate across Unix, IBM System i, Linux and Microsoft.NET computing platforms, as well as on multiple
hardwareOur
platforms
andoperate
systems.
Because
chain solutions
interact with
other business
operation
our
solutions
across
Unix,supply
IBM System
i, Linuxnecessarily
and Microsoft.NET
computing
platforms,
as wellsystems,
as on multiple
solutions are
designed
interoperate
with supply
software
from
other providers
as well
as with
company’s
existing
legacy
systems.
hardware
platforms
andtosystems.
Because
chain
solutions
necessarily
interact
witha other
business
operation
systems,
ourThis
interfacing
and
open system
capabilitywith
enables
customers
to continue
using
computer
resources
and tolegacy
choosesystems.
among aThis
wide
solutions are
designed
to interoperate
software
from other
providers
as existing
well as with
a company’s
existing
variety
of existing
andsystem
emerging
computer
hardware
and peripheral
Wecomputer
provide an
integration
to facilitate
interfacing
and open
capability
enables
customers
to continuetechnologies.
using existing
resources
and framework
to choose among
a wide
rapid and
to any
Enterprise
Resource
or host business
systems
(includingframework
certified integration
to
variety
of reliable
existingintegration
and emerging
computer
hardware
and Planning
peripheral(ERP)
technologies.
We provide
an integration
to facilitate
both
and Microsoft
Dynamics
We also
offer certain
of our
solutions
both on-premise
software and
cloudintegration
computing to
rapidSAP
and reliable
integration
to anyAX).
Enterprise
Resource
Planning
(ERP)
or hostinbusiness
systems (including
certified
models
so and
that Microsoft
customersDynamics
can select AX).
the option
that offer
best meets
requirements
control,
flexibility,
cost and
of ownership,
and timeboth SAP
We also
certaintheir
of our
solutions infor
both
on-premise
software
cloud computing
to-deployment.
models so that customers can select the option that best meets their requirements for control, flexibility, cost of ownership, and timeto-deployment.
Manhattan SCOPE®
Manhattan SCOPE®
SCOPE is positioned for companies that consider supply chain software, processes, and technology strategic to their market
leadership.
It is the
leading portfolio
of supply
chain
commerce
built on processes,
a commonand
technology
platform.
SCOPE
is positioned
for companies
that
consider
supplysolutions
chain software,
technology
strategicSCOPE
to theirismarket
distinctive for
several
reasons.
First, itofclearly
the role and
capabilities
chain
and commerce
chainSCOPE
solutions.
leadership.
It is
the leading
portfolio
supplydefines
chain commerce
solutions
built for
on asupply
common
technology
platform.
is
Second, it articulates
convergence
supplydefines
chain and
commerce
chain, particularly
the areas
of Distribution
distinctive
for severalthe
reasons.
First, itofclearly
the role
and capabilities
for supplyinchain
and commerce
chainManagement
solutions. and
Order Lifecycle
Management.
Finally,ofitsupply
highlights
theand
central
value of
a supply
chain platform
by elevating
visibility
and insightand
Second,
it articulates
the convergence
chain
commerce
chain,
particularly
in the areas
of Distribution
Management
above Lifecycle
all of the functional
capabilities.
Order
Management.
Finally, it highlights the central value of a supply chain platform by elevating visibility and insight
above all of the functional capabilities.

Figure 2: Manhattan SCOPE® Supply Chain Optimization, Planning through Execution, is a portfolio of supply chain
® Supply Chain Process Platform to enable high degrees of operational insight,
solution2:suites
that leverages
Figure
Manhattan
SCOPEour
Supply Chain Optimization, Planning through Execution, is a portfolio of supply chain
performance,
and optimization
at Chain
a tightly-managed
and overall
lower
total
cost of
platform-based
solution
suitesagility,
that leverages
our Supply
Process Platform
to enable
high
degrees
of ownership.
operationalThis
insight,
architecture
enables
different
elements of different
solution
suites
into
X-Suite
solutionsThis
to address
specific
performance,also
agility,
and combining
optimization
at a tightly-managed
and overall
lower
total
cost
of ownership.
platform-based
supply
chain also
challenges.
architecture
enables combining different elements of different solution suites into X-Suite solutions to address specific
5
supply chain challenges.
5

Visibility and Insight
Visibility and Insight
SCOPE offers a series of solutions designed to provide both network wide visibility as well as analytical insight into all
TM
TM
and Event
Management
, which
designed
functionsSCOPE
across the
supply
chain.
These solutions
include
Supply
Chain
Visibility
offers
a series
of solutions
designed
to provide
both
network
wide visibility
as well
as analytical
insightare
into
all
TM
TM
to provideacross
globalthe
inventory
and order
visibility
along
with predictive
alerting
to criticaland
events
inManagement
the supply chain.
Alsoare
included
is
Event
,
which
designed
functions
supply
chain.
These
solutions
include
Supply
Chain
Visibility
TM
, a financial
analytics
toolalong
created
to provide
supply
chain
insight
into
granular
level
of cost
detailis
Total
Cost global
to Serve
to provide
inventory
and order
visibility
with
predictive
alerting
to executives
critical events
in the
supply
chain.
Also
included
TM delivery. This level of information, along with simulation and predictive tools, enables executives and analysts
from
to final
, a financial analytics tool created to provide supply chain executives insight into granular level of cost detail
Total purchase
Cost to Serve
to better
monetize
theirdelivery.
supply chain,
and profitability
while enhancing
customertools,
service
levels.
Finally, Visibility
from
purchase
to
final
This driving
level of revenue
information,
along with simulation
and predictive
enables
executives
and analysts
TM
TM
alsotheir
includes
Supply
Intelligence
Manhattan’swhile
operational
reporting
and analytics
solution.
and
Insights
to better
monetize
supply
chain,Chain
driving
revenue and, profitability
enhancing
customer
service levels.
Finally, Visibility
and InsightsTM also includes Supply Chain IntelligenceTM, Manhattan’s operational reporting and analytics solution.
Supply Chain Solution Suites
Supply Chain Solution Suites
Inventory OptimizationTM enables enterprises to reduce overall network inventory to release working capital while improving
TM Inventory Optimization also provides analytical tools to better balance the financial trade-off
sales andInventory
customer Optimization
order fill rates.
enables enterprises to reduce overall network inventory to release working capital while improving
between
customer
service
levels and
overall inventory
investments.
Our tools
multi-echelon,
all-channel
solution trade-off
helps
sales
andimproving
customer order
fill rates.
Inventory
Optimization
also provides
analytical
to better balance
the financial
organizations
manage
distribution
networks
withoverall
more than
one type
or level ofOur
distribution
center all-channel
between suppliers
and
various
between improving
customer
service
levels
and
inventory
investments.
multi-echelon,
solution
helps
TM
helps
lasting
relationships
with key
trading
partners,
suchand
as replenishing
endpoints. Vendor
Managed
Inventory
organizations
manage
distribution
networks
withformulate
more thantighter,
one type
or level
of distribution
center
between
suppliers
various
TM
products into
customers’
locations
or sharing
keyformulate
supply chain
performance
indicators. with key trading partners, such as replenishing
helps
tighter,
lasting relationships
endpoints.
Vendor
Managed
Inventory
products into customers’ locations or sharing key supply chain performance indicators.
Transportation Lifecycle ManagementTM optimizes all aspects of transporting product through supply chains, from
TMcompanies manage assets, timing, accuracy, and costs for both inbound and
procurement
through delivery.
TheManagement
system helps
Transportation
Lifecycle
optimizes all aspects of transporting product through supply chains, from
outbound
shipments,
acrossThe
private
and helps
contracted
fleets.manage
The solution
interconnects
partners
and suppliers
to
procurement
through and
delivery.
system
companies
assets,also
timing,
accuracy, transportation
and costs for both
inbound
and
improve
to initial
and changing
requirements
wellThe
as tosolution
improvealso
delivery
and billing
accuracy. partners and suppliers to
outboundvisibility
shipments,
and across
private and
contracted as
fleets.
interconnects
transportation
improve visibility to initial and changing requirements as well as to improve delivery and billing accuracy.
Distribution ManagementTM is designed to effectively manage the key assets required to run complex distribution operations,
and to move
goods and
informationTMthrough
a warehouse
with precision
andkey
velocity.
suiteto
enables
(amongdistribution
other processes)
is designed
to effectively
manage the
assets The
required
run complex
operations,
Distribution
Management
knowing
what
inventory
will be arriving
at aadistribution
receiving,
away
shipping
and managing
and
to move
goods
and information
through
warehouse center;
with precision
andputting
velocity.
Theand
suite
enablesinventory,
(among other
processes)
distribution-related
labor.will be arriving at a distribution center; receiving, putting away and shipping inventory, and managing
knowing
what inventory
distribution-related labor.
Commerce Chain Solution Suites
Commerce Chain Solution Suites
Order Lifecycle ManagementTM is the heart of the omni-channel enterprise. This solution set leverages network wide
TM
inventoryOrder
and uses
a single
view of customer
order
to drive new
revenue and
maximize
Highlights
include
is thedemand
heart ofinthe
omni-channel
enterprise.
This
solution profitability.
set leverages network
wide
Lifecycle
Management
the ability and
to use
store
inventory
on-line
orders
to to
usedrive
inventory
across the
network
to save in-store
sales.include
inventory
uses
a single
view to
of fulfill
customer
demand
in and
order
new revenue
andentire
maximize
profitability.
Highlights
Advanced
algorithms
identifytoeither
most orders
distressed
or the lowest
fulfillment
costs totomaximize
profitsales.
margins. For
the ability to
use storecan
inventory
fulfillthe
on-line
and inventory
to use inventory
across the
entire network
save in-store
retailers,
in-store,
mobile,
and
call
center
capabilities
enable
their
associates
to
locate
and
sell
items
from
across
their
supply
chainFor
Advanced algorithms can identify either the most distressed inventory or the lowest fulfillment costs to maximize profit margins.
network to
meet real-time
customer
demand.
retailers,
in-store,
mobile, and
call center
capabilities enable their associates to locate and sell items from across their supply chain
network to meet real-time customer demand.
Store Inventory and FulfillmentTM brings execution tools to the store floor to enable omni-channel initiatives. Store
TM receiving and auditing tools to help store associates build inventory integrity. Store Order
InventoryStore
Management
inventory
brings execution tools to the store floor to enable omni-channel initiatives. Store
Inventoryprovides
and Fulfillment
Fulfillment
includes a series
of tools
to support
pick-up
and fulfill
from
the store.
These components
provideintegrity.
critical capabilities
to
Inventory Management
provides
inventory
receiving
andinauditing
tools
to help
store associates
build inventory
Store Order
enable omni-channel
Fulfillment
includes ainitiatives.
series of tools to support pick-up in and fulfill from the store. These components provide critical capabilities to
enable omni-channel initiatives.
PlanningTM supports all levels of enterprise merchandise planning, from strategic level planning down to assortment and key
TM
TM
item planning.
Customer
Preference
Planning
capabilities
use multivariable
shopper
preference
data todown
createtomerchandise,
pricing
Planning
supports
all levels
of enterprise
merchandise
planning, from
strategic
level planning
assortment and
key
TM when shopping and buying across multiple channels (including stores, catalogs, the
and
tunedPreference
to how customers
capabilities use multivariable shopper preference data to create merchandise, pricing
itempromotion
planning. plans
Customer
Planningthink
web,
mobile devices
call
so retailers
relationships
among
product
type,channels
style, brand,
color, stores,
fabrication,
and the
and promotion
plans and
tuned
to centers)
how customers
thinkunderstand
when shopping
and buying
across
multiple
(including
catalogs,
price mobile
when their
customers
make
decisions
to buy.understand relationships among product type, style, brand, color, fabrication, and
web,
devices
and call
centers)
so retailers
price when their customers make decisions to buy.
Supply Chain Process Platform
Supply Chain Process Platform
At the foundation of Manhattan SCOPE is our Supply Chain Process Platform (SCPP), which utilizes a service-oriented
architecture
(SOA),
common
model,SCOPE
collaborative
and Process
an optimization
(among
constructs)
to facilitate
At the
foundation
of data
Manhattan
is our gateways,
Supply Chain
Platformengine
(SCPP),
whichother
utilizes
a service-oriented
supply
chain(SOA),
transformations
ourcollaborative
customers create
and sustain
advantages.
Specific
elements
of Manhattan’s
architecture
common that
data help
model,
gateways,
and ancompetitive
optimization
engine (among
other
constructs)
to facilitate
SCPP,
related corethat
benefits,
arecustomers
detailed increate
Figureand
3. sustain competitive advantages. Specific elements of Manhattan’s
supply along
chain with
transformations
help our
SCPP, along with related core benefits, are detailed in Figure 3.
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Among its overall benefits, our SCPP enables customers using multiple Manhattan SCOPE applications to achieve CrossTM
. Cross-Application
Optimization
is our
term
for the Manhattan
compound SCOPE
benefits applications
derived not only
from optimizing
Application
Optimization
Among
its overall benefits,
our SCPP enables
customers
using
multiple
to achieve
CrossTM
multiple
functional
supply
chain
elements
individually,
but
also
collectively
by
considering
factors
across
multiple
functions
in a
Application Optimization . Cross-Application Optimization is our term for the compound benefits derived not only from optimizing
supply chain
(e.g., warehouse
management,
transportation,
and labor)
simultaneously,
that their
individual
and in
related
multiple
functional
supply chain
elements individually,
but inventory,
also collectively
by considering
factorssoacross
multiple
functions
a
impacts
inform
each
decision to
determine the
optimal course
of actionand
forlabor)
the organization
as a whole.
common
supply chain
(e.g.,
warehouse
management,
transportation,
inventory,
simultaneously,
so thatOur
theirSCPP’s
individual
and related
architecture
alsoeach
enables
customers
to speedthe
implementations,
simplify
and achieve
total
cost
of ownership
impacts inform
decision
to determine
optimal course of
action upgrades,
for the organization
as lower
a whole.
Our
SCPP’s
commonover time.
architecture also enables customers to speed implementations, simplify upgrades, and achieve lower total cost of ownership over time.

Figure 3: Manhattan’s Supply Chain Process Platform provides the foundation for Manhattan SCOPE Solution
Suites, Platform
Applications,
X-Suite
Solutions.
Thisprovides
commonthe
architecture
agility and
business
Figure
3: Manhattan’s
Supplyand
Chain
Process
Platform
foundationprovides
for Manhattan
SCOPE
Solution
differentiation
advantages
to
operations
executives
while
also
simplifying
maintenance
and
upgrade
paths
and
Suites, Platform Applications, and X-Suite Solutions. This common architecture provides agility and business
lowering
the total
cost of ownership
overexecutives
time for information
technology and
financial and
executives.
differentiation
advantages
to operations
while also simplifying
maintenance
upgrade paths and
lowering the total cost of ownership over time for information technology and financial executives.
Manhattan SCALETM
Manhattan SCALETM
SCALE is our portfolio of logistics execution solutions built on the Microsoft®.NET platform. It is targeted toward
®
companies
with execution-focused
chain
needs that
require
speed-to-value,
resource-light
systemItconfiguration
and
SCALE
is our portfolio ofsupply
logistics
execution
solutions
built
on the Microsoft
.NET platform.
is targeted toward
maintenance,
and
the
ability
to
quickly
scale
their
logistics
operations
up
or
down
in
response
to market
or and
business
companies with execution-focused supply chain needs that require speed-to-value, resource-light
systemfluctuations
configuration
requirement
changes.
SCALE
combines
the
features
of
Trading
Partner
Management,
Yard
Management,
Optimization,
Warehouse
maintenance, and the ability to quickly scale their logistics operations up or down in response to market fluctuations or business
Management,changes.
and Transportation
Execution,
as shownofinTrading
Figure Partner
4.
requirement
SCALE combines
the features
Management, Yard Management, Optimization, Warehouse
Management, and Transportation Execution, as shown in Figure 4.
Because SCALE leverages a common platform, solutions share common data elements, and each user can access all
applications
through
a single
sign-on.a common
Users also
can set up
“dashboards”
that enable
accessand
to real-time
most
Because
SCALE
leverages
platform,
solutions
share common
dataeasy
elements,
each userinformation
can access all
applications through a single sign-on. Users also can set up “dashboards” that enable easy access to real-time information most
7
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relevant to their jobs. SCALE’s ease of deployment, operation, and support make it a popular choice for organizations operating in
countries
and developing
economies, and
where technical
support
arechoice
limited.
relevant towith
theiremerging
jobs. SCALE’s
ease of deployment,
operation,
and support
makeresources
it a popular
for organizations operating in
countries with emerging and developing economies, and where technical support resources are limited.

Figure 4: Manhattan’s Supply Chain Architected for Logistics Execution is a portfolio of logistics solutions that
.NET platform
and is designed
for organizations
that
to improve
their logistics
leverages
Microsoft®Supply
Figure 4: the
Manhattan’s
Chain Architected
for Logistics
Execution
is awant
portfolio
of logistics
solutions that
operations
quickly
with ®limited
technicaland
resources.
SCALE
also is a popular
choice fortheir
organizations
.NET platform
is designed
for organizations
thatsolution
want to improve
logistics
leverages the
Microsoft
operating inquickly
countries
emerging
supply
chain ecosystems.
operations
withwith
limited
technical
resources.
SCALE also is a popular solution choice for organizations
operating in countries with emerging supply chain ecosystems.
Professional Services
Professional Services
We advise and assist our customers in planning and implementing our solutions through our global Professional Services
Organization.
To ensure
long-term
successfulincustomer
consultants
assist customers
with
the initial
deployment
of our
We advise
and assist
our customers
planningrelationships,
and implementing
our solutions
through our
global
Professional
Services
systems, the conversion
transfersuccessful
of the customer’s
data onto
our systems,
ongoing
training,
education,
and system
Organization.
To ensure and
long-term
customerhistorical
relationships,
consultants
assist and
customers
with
the initial
deployment
of our
upgrades.the
Weconversion
believe ourand
Professional
teams enable
customers
to our
implement
and in
thesystem
systems,
transfer of Services
the customer’s
historical
data onto
systems,our
andsolutions
ongoingknowledgeably
training, education,
and
appropriate
amount
ofour
time,
help customers
achieve
expected
results from
investments,
continuously
identifyand
new
upgrades. We
believe
Professional
Services
teams
enable customers
to system
implement
our solutions
knowledgeably
in the
opportunitiesamount
for supply
chain
advancements,
and meaningfully
add to
our system
industry-specific
knowledge
base identify
to improve
appropriate
of time,
help
customers achieve
expected results
from
investments,
continuously
newfuture
implementations
product
opportunities
for and
supply
chaininnovations.
advancements, and meaningfully add to our industry-specific knowledge base to improve future
implementations and product innovations.
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Substantially all of our customers use at least some portion of our Professional Services to implement and support our
software Substantially
solutions. Professional
Services typically
are rendered
underoftime
and materialsServices
contracts,
services
billed
by the
all of our customers
use at least
some portion
our Professional
to with
implement
and
support
ourhour.
Professional
Services
sometimes
are
rendered
under
fixed-fee
contracts,
with
payments
due
on
specific
dates
or
milestones.
Wehour.
software solutions. Professional Services typically are rendered under time and materials contracts, with services billed by the
believe that increased
sales of ourare
software
solutions
will drivecontracts,
higher demand
for our Professional
Services.
Professional
Services sometimes
rendered
under fixed-fee
with payments
due on specific
dates or milestones. We
believe that increased sales of our software solutions will drive higher demand for our Professional Services.
We believe our Professional Services team delivers deep supply chain domain expertise to our customers through industryspecific “best-practices”
protocols andServices
processes
developed
the collective
knowledge
we to
have
in more
thanindustry3,900
We believe our Professional
team
deliversthrough
deep supply
chain domain
expertise
ourgained
customers
through
installations
worldwide. We
also extensively
traindeveloped
our consulting
personnel
on supply
chain operations
and on in
ourmore
solutions.
specific
“best-practices”
protocols
and processes
through
the collective
knowledge
we have gained
than 3,900
installations worldwide. We also extensively train our consulting personnel on supply chain operations and on our solutions.
Business consultants, systems analysts, and technical personnel assist customers in all phases of implementing our systems,
includingBusiness
planningconsultants,
and design, systems
customer-specific
module
configuration,
implementation,
or conversion
from existing
systems,
analysts, and
technical
personnel on-site
assist customers
in all phases
of implementing
our systems,
and
integration
withand
customer
such as Enterprise
Planning
(ERP),
web- and mobile-based
commerce
platforms,
and
including
planning
design,systems
customer-specific
module Resource
configuration,
on-site
implementation,
or conversion
from existing
systems,
Material
Handling
(MHE) systems.
At times, third-party
consultants,
suchwebas those
from major systems
integrators,
assist
and integration
withEquipment
customer systems
such as Enterprise
Resource Planning
(ERP),
and mobile-based
commerce
platforms,
and
our
customers
withEquipment
certain implementations.
Material
Handling
(MHE) systems. At times, third-party consultants, such as those from major systems integrators, assist
our customers with certain implementations.
Customer Support Services and Software Enhancements
Customer Support Services and Software Enhancements
We offer a comprehensive program that provides our customers with software upgrades for additional or improved
functionality
and technological
advances
incorporating
emerging
supply chain
and industry
initiatives.
Over theorpast
three years, our
We offer
a comprehensive
program
that provides
our customers
with software
upgrades
for additional
improved
annual renewal
of customers
subscribing
to comprehensive
enhancements
been greater
90%.three
We years,
are able
functionality
andrate
technological
advances
incorporating
emergingsupport
supplyand
chain
and industryhas
initiatives.
Overthan
the past
ourto
remotely
accessrate
customer
systemssubscribing
to perform to
diagnostics,
provide
on-line
assistance,
and facilitate
upgrades.
offerable
24 to
annual renewal
of customers
comprehensive
support
and
enhancements
has beensoftware
greater than
90%. We
We are
hour
customer
every
day oftothe
year, plus
softwareprovide
upgrades
for anassistance,
annual feeand
thatfacilitate
is paid insoftware
advanceupgrades.
and is based
the24
remotely
accesssupport
customer
systems
perform
diagnostics,
on-line
Weon
offer
solutions
the customer
and
theofservice
level
required.
are provided
on aiswhen-and-ifhour
customer
support has
every
day
the year,
plus
softwareSoftware
upgradesupgrades
for an annual
fee thatunder
is paidthis
in program
advance and
based on the
available
basis.
solutions the
customer has and the service level required. Software upgrades are provided under this program on a when-and-ifavailable basis.
Training
Training
We offer training in a structured environment for new and existing users. Training programs are provided at fixed fees perperson, per-class,
coverintopics
such asenvironment
(but not limited
to) solution
use, configuration,
and system
administration.
We offer and
training
a structured
for new
and existing
users. Trainingimplementation,
programs are provided
at fixed
fees perSeveral
computer-based
training
programs
can be
a fixeduse,
fee for
use at clientimplementation,
sites.
person, per-class,
and cover
topics
such as (but
notpurchased
limited to)for
solution
configuration,
and system administration.
Several computer-based training programs can be purchased for a fixed fee for use at client sites.
Hardware Sales
Hardware Sales
Along with software licenses, and as a convenience for our customers, we sell a variety of hardware developed and
manufactured
others,
including
(but and
are not
to) computer
frequency
networks,
RFID and
chip readers,
Alongbywith
software
licenses,
as alimited
convenience
for our hardware,
customers,radio
we sell
a varietyterminal
of hardware
developed
bar code printers
scanners,
and(but
other
all third-party
products
and related
maintenance
pursuant
to
manufactured
by and
others,
including
areperipherals.
not limitedWe
to) resell
computer
hardware, hardware
radio frequency
terminal
networks,
RFID chip
readers,
agreements
with
manufacturers
or
through
distributor-authorized
reseller
agreements
pursuant
to
which
we
are
entitled
to
purchase
bar code printers and scanners, and other peripherals. We resell all third-party hardware products and related maintenance pursuant to
hardware
products
and services or
at discount
prices and to receive technical
support in connection
product
and any
agreements
with manufacturers
through distributor-authorized
reseller agreements
pursuant to with
which
we areinstallations
entitled to purchase
subsequent
productand
malfunctions.
We do not
maintain
inventorysupport
as we generally
purchase
from vendors
hardware products
services at discount
prices
and tohardware
receive technical
in connection
withhardware
product installations
andonly
anyafter
receiving
related
customer
orders.
subsequent product malfunctions. We do not maintain hardware inventory as we generally purchase hardware from vendors only after
receiving related customer orders.
Strategy
Strategy
Our objective is to extend our position as the leading global supply chain solutions provider for supply chain leaders,
meaning Our
organizations
intent
on creating
and sustaining
marketglobal
advantages
leveraging
supply
chain
Our solutions
objective is
to extend
our position
as the leading
supplyby
chain
solutions
provider
forsolutions.
supply chain
leaders, help
global distributors,
wholesalers,
logistics
providers
andadvantages
manufacturers
successfully
manage
accelerating
and solutions
fluctuatinghelp
meaning
organizations
intent on retailers,
creating and
sustaining
market
by leveraging
supply
chain
solutions. Our
market
demands, aswholesalers,
well as master
the increasing
andmanufacturers
volatility of their
local and manage
global supply
chains.and
Wefluctuating
believe our
global distributors,
retailers,
logisticscomplexity
providers and
successfully
accelerating
solutions
are
advanced,
highly
functional,
and
highly
scalable.
They
are
designed
to
enable
organizations
to:
create
customer
market demands, as well as master the increasing complexity and volatility of their local and global supply chains. We believe our
experiences
their
brand values;
improve
relationships
withdesigned
suppliers,
and logistics
leverage
solutions
areconsistent
advanced,with
highly
functional,
and highly
scalable.
They are
to customers
enable organizations
to:providers;
create customer
investments consistent
across supply
effectively
revenue
andsuppliers,
manage costs;
and meet
dynamically
changing
customer
experiences
withchain
theirfunctions;
brand values;
improvegenerate
relationships
with
customers
and logistics
providers;
leverage
requirements.
We
believe
our
solutions
are
uniquely
positioned
to
holistically
optimize
supply
chains
from
planning
through
investments across supply chain functions; effectively generate revenue and manage costs; and meet dynamically changing customer
execution, andWe
thatbelieve
customers
can leverage
holistic
approachtotoholistically
create operational
market
advantages.
Strategies
to
requirements.
our solutions
are this
uniquely
positioned
optimizeand
supply
chains
from planning
through
accomplishand
ourthat
objectives
include
(but are not
the following:
execution,
customers
can leverage
thislimited
holisticto)
approach
to create operational and market advantages. Strategies to
accomplish our objectives include (but are not limited to) the following:
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Develop and Enhance Software Solutions. We intend to continue to focus our research and development resources on
enhancing
our supply
solutions.
WeSolutions.
offer whatWe
weintend
believe
be the broadest
and research
most richly-featured
software
portfolio
Develop
and chain
Enhance
Software
to to
continue
to focus our
and development
resources
on in the
supply
chain
solutions
marketplace.
To
continuously
expand
functionality
and
value,
we
plan
to
continue
to
provide
enhancements
enhancing our supply chain solutions. We offer what we believe to be the broadest and most richly-featured software portfolio in theto
existingchain
solutions
and to
introduce new
to address
industry
needs.toWe
identify
these
supply
solutions
marketplace.
To solutions
continuously
expandevolving
functionality
and standards
value, weand
planmarket
to continue
provide
enhancements
to
opportunities
through
Product Management,
Services,
Customer
Support,
Account
Management
existing solutions
and our
to introduce
new solutionsProfessional
to address evolving
industry
standards
andand
market
needs.
We identifyorganizations,
these
through
interactions
ongoing
customer consulting
engagements
and implementations,
our solution
user groups,
opportunities
throughsuch
our as
Product
Management,
Professional
Services, Customer
Support, andsessions
Accountwith
Management
organizations,
association
with leading
analyst
and market
research
firms, andand
participation
on industry
standards
and solution
researchuser
committees.
through
interactions
suchindustry
as ongoing
customer
consulting
engagements
implementations,
sessions
with our
groups,
Our solutions
address
needs
in various
vertical
markets,
including
retail,
consumer goods,
food andstandards
grocery,and
logistics
service
association
with
leading
industry
analyst
and market
research
firms,
and participation
on industry
research
committees.
providers,
industrial
wholesale,
high
technology
andincluding
electronics,
life consumer
sciences and
government.
intend
to continue
to enhance
Our
solutions
addressand
needs
in various
vertical
markets,
retail,
goods,
food and We
grocery,
logistics
service
our
solutions
to
meet
the
dynamic
requirements
of
these
and
new
vertical
markets
as
business
opportunities
dictate.
providers, industrial and wholesale, high technology and electronics, life sciences and government. We intend to continue to enhance
our solutions to meet the dynamic requirements of these and new vertical markets as business opportunities dictate.
Expand International Presence. We believe that our solutions offer significant benefits to customers in markets outside the
United States,
andInternational
for organizations
with We
global
operations.
out ofbenefits
a total of
2,400 Manhattan
Expand
Presence.
believe
that ourApproximately
solutions offer 1,270
significant
to approximately
customers in markets
outside the
employees
work
the United States
to build
international
sales, service1,270
our international
and further2,400
develop
our
United States,
andoutside
for organizations
with global
operations.
Approximately
out of a totalclients,
of approximately
Manhattan
solutions. We
have
offices
Australia,
China,
France,
India, Japan,
Netherlands,
Singapore,
and the
United
Kingdom,
employees
work
outside
theinUnited
States
to build
international
sales,the
service
our international
clients,
and
further
develop as
ourwell as
representatives
in Mexico
reseller partnerships
in Latin
Eastern
Europe,Singapore,
the Middleand
East,
Africa,
and Asia.
Ouras
solutions.
We have
officesand
in Australia,
China, France,
India,America,
Japan, the
Netherlands,
theSouth
United
Kingdom,
as well
Europe,
Middle
East,
and
Africa
(EMEA)
operations
support
sales,
implementation
services,
and
customer
support
functions
for
representatives in Mexico and reseller partnerships in Latin America, Eastern Europe, the Middle East, South Africa, and Asia. Our
customers
in Europe
well
as a (EMEA)
number ofoperations
customerssupport
across sales,
the Middle
East, concentrated
countries
wesupport
considerfunctions
politically
Europe,
Middle
East,as
and
Africa
implementation
services,inand
customer
forand
economically
stable, such
as as
Jordan,
Kuwait,
Oman, Turkey,
Arabia,
andconcentrated
the United Arab
Emirates.
Asia Pacific
(APAC)
customers
in Europe
as well
a number
of customers
across Saudi
the Middle
East,
in countries
weOur
consider
politically
and
operations
service
emerging
in China,
Asia,Arabia,
and India,
as more
Australia
and
economically
stable,
such as opportunities
Jordan, Kuwait,
Oman, Southeast
Turkey, Saudi
andas
thewell
United
Arabestablished
Emirates. markets
Our AsiainPacific
(APAC)
New Zealand.
Ouremerging
international
strategy includes
leveraging
strength
of ourasrelationships
current U.S.
andin
Europe-based
operations
service
opportunities
in China,
Southeastthe
Asia,
and India,
well as morewith
established
markets
Australia and
customers
that also
significant
international
pursuingof
strategic
marketing with
partnerships
withand
international
systems
New Zealand.
Our have
international
strategy
includesoperations,
leveraging and
the strength
our relationships
current U.S.
Europe-based
integrators
and also
third-party
solution providers.
customers that
have significant
international operations, and pursuing strategic marketing partnerships with international systems
integrators and third-party solution providers.
Expand Our Strategic Alliances and Indirect Sales Channels. We currently sell our products primarily through our direct
sales personnel,
partnership
a select
number
organizations
emergingprimarily
markets through
where we
not
Expandand
Ourthrough
Strategic
Alliances agreements
and Indirectwith
Sales
Channels.
Weof
currently
sell ourinproducts
ourdodirect
currently
have a and
direct
sales presence.
have worked
joint projects
joint sales initiatives
with markets
industry-leading
sales personnel,
through
partnershipWe
agreements
withona select
numberand
of organizations
in emerging
where weconsultants
do not
and
software
of the
firms
other
systemswith
consulting
firms specializing
in
currently
havesystems
a directimplementers,
sales presence.including
We havemost
worked
onlarge
jointconsulting
projects and
jointand
sales
initiatives
industry-leading
consultants
our targeted
to supplementincluding
our directmost
salesofforce
and professional
services
organization.
We have been
expanding
our in
and
softwareindustries,
systems implementers,
the large
consulting firms
and other
systems consulting
firms
specializing
indirect
salesindustries,
channels through
resellerour
agreements,
marketing
agreements
with third-party
providers.
These
our
targeted
to supplement
direct sales
force andagreements,
professionaland
services
organization.
We havelogistics
been expanding
our
alliances
extend
our
market
coverage
and
provide
us
with
new
business
leads
and
access
to
trained
implementation
personnel.
indirect sales channels through reseller agreements, marketing agreements, and agreements with third-party logistics providers. These
alliances extend our market coverage and provide us with new business leads and access to trained implementation personnel.
Acquire or Invest in Complementary Businesses. We continuously evaluate strategic acquisition opportunities of
technologies,
solutions,
andinbusinesses
that areBusinesses.
consistent We
withcontinuously
our platform-based
andacquisition
enable us opportunities
to enhance and
Acquire
or Invest
Complementary
evaluatestrategy
strategic
ofexpand our
supply
chain
planning
and
execution
solutions
and
service
offerings.
Preferred
acquisition
targets
are
those
that
would
beexpand our
technologies, solutions, and businesses that are consistent with our platform-based strategy and enable us to enhance and
complementary
to our and
existing
solutions
and technologies,
expand ourPreferred
geographic
presencetargets
and distribution
channels,
our
supply
chain planning
execution
solutions
and service offerings.
acquisition
are those that
wouldextend
be
presence into additional
verticalsolutions
markets and
withtechnologies,
challenges and
requirements
similar presence
to those we
serve,
and further
solidify
complementary
to our existing
expand
our geographic
andcurrently
distribution
channels,
extend
our our
leadership
position
within
the
primary
components
of
supply
chain
planning
and
execution.
presence into additional vertical markets with challenges and requirements similar to those we currently serve, and further solidify our
leadership position within the primary components of supply chain planning and execution.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and Marketing
We employ multi-disciplinary sales teams that consist of professionals with industry experience in sales and technical sales
support. We
To date,
we multi-disciplinary
have generated thesales
majority
ourconsist
software
(licensing)
revenue
through
our direct
sales
force.
We plan
to
employ
teamsofthat
of sales
professionals
with
industry
experience
in sales
and
technical
sales
continue to
in our
sales,
services,
marketing
within
the United
States,
EMEA,
APAC,
to We
pursue
support.
Toinvest
date, we
have
generated
theand
majority
of ourorganizations
software sales
(licensing)
revenue
through
ourand
direct
sales and
force.
plan to
strategic
We conduct
comprehensive
global marketing
that include
profiling
targeting,
continue marketing
to invest inpartnerships.
our sales, services,
and marketing
organizations
within the programs
United States,
EMEA,prospect
and APAC,
and toand
pursue
lead
generation,
public
relations,
analyst
relations,
trade
show
attendance
and
sponsorships,
supply
chain
conference
hosting,
online
strategic marketing partnerships. We conduct comprehensive global marketing programs that include prospect profiling and targeting,
marketing,
joint public
promotion
programs
withrelations,
vendors trade
and consultants,
and ongoing
customer communication
programs.hosting, online
lead
generation,
relations,
analyst
show attendance
and sponsorships,
supply chain conference
marketing, joint promotion programs with vendors and consultants, and ongoing customer communication programs.
Our sales cycle typically begins with the generation of a sales lead — through in-house telemarketing efforts, targeted
promotions,
trade show
presence,
engagements,
hosted
seminars,
or othertelemarketing
means of referral
— targeted
or the receipt
Ourweb
salesinquiries,
cycle typically
begins
with thespeaking
generation
of a sales lead
— through
in-house
efforts,
of a request for
from
a prospective
customer.
Leads
are qualified
and opportunities
are closed
a process
thatreceipt
includes
promotions,
webproposal
inquiries,
trade
show presence,
speaking
engagements,
hosted
seminars, or other
meansthrough
of referral
— or the
telephone-based
assessments
requirements;
responsesLeads
to requests
for proposals,
presentations
product
demonstrations,
visits
of
a request for proposal
fromofa prospective
customer.
are qualified
and opportunities
are and
closed
through
a process thatsite
includes
and/or
reference
calls
with
organizations
already
using
our
supply
chain
solutions,
and
contract
negotiations.
Sales
cycles
vary
telephone-based assessments of requirements; responses to requests for proposals, presentations and product demonstrations, site visits
substantially
fromcalls
opportunity
to opportunity,
butusing
typically
requirechain
six tosolutions,
twelve months.
and/or reference
with organizations
already
our supply
and contract negotiations. Sales cycles vary
substantially from opportunity to opportunity, but typically require six to twelve months.
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In addition to new customer sales, we plan to continue to leverage our existing customer base to drive revenue from system
upgrades,Insales
of additional
licenses of
purchased
andtosales
of new
add-oncustomer
solutions.base
To to
efficiently
penetrate
addition
to new customer
sales,
we plansolutions,
to continue
leverage
ourorexisting
drive revenue
fromemerging
system
global
markets,
we
leverage
indirect
sales
channels,
including
sales
through
reseller
agreements,
marketing
agreements,
andemerging
upgrades, sales of additional licenses of purchased solutions, and sales of new or add-on solutions. To efficiently penetrate
agreements
withwe
third-party
providers.
To extend
oursales
market
coverage,
generate
new business
leads,
and provide
global
markets,
leverage logistics
indirect sales
channels,
including
through
reseller
agreements,
marketing
agreements,
andaccess to
trained
implementation
personnel,
weproviders.
leverage strategic
alliances
with coverage,
systems integrators
skilled
at implementing
our solutions.
agreements
with third-party
logistics
To extend
our market
generate new
business
leads, and provide
access to
Business
referrals and leads
are positively
influenced
by alliances
systems integrators,
which
includeskilled
most of
large consulting
firms and
trained implementation
personnel,
we leverage
strategic
with systems
integrators
at the
implementing
our solutions.
other systems
consulting
firms
in our targeted
industries.
Business
referrals
and leads
arespecializing
positively influenced
by systems
integrators, which include most of the large consulting firms and
other systems consulting firms specializing in our targeted industries.
Our Manhattan Value Partner (Manhattan MVP™) and Manhattan GeoPartner™ programs foster joint sales and marketing
with otherOur
organizations.
Manhattan
PartnersMVP™)
are proven
andGeoPartner™
hardware providers,
trusted
and
Manhattan Value
PartnerValue
(Manhattan
andsoftware
Manhattan
programs
fosterthird-party
joint salesintegrators
and marketing
consultants
who bring added
value to Value
customer
engagements
through
vertical
industry knowledge
or technical
specialization.
with other organizations.
Manhattan
Partners
are proven
software
and hardware
providers, trusted
third-party
integrators and
Manhattan MVPs
support
andvalue
complement
our supply
chain solutions
so we can
provide
customersorwith
a comprehensive
approach
consultants
who bring
added
to customer
engagements
through vertical
industry
knowledge
technical
specialization.
that
is suited
to their
business
This
collaborative
programsoiswe
designed
to benefit
both Manhattan
and our partners
Manhattan
MVPs
support
and requirements.
complement our
supply
chain solutions
can provide
customers
with a comprehensive
approach
through
tailored
jointbusiness
marketing,
sales and, inThis
some
cases, co-development
efforts. Among
others,
IBM,
that
is suited
to their
requirements.
collaborative
program is designed
to benefit
both Manhattan
Manhattan MVPs
and ourinclude
partners
Deloitte,
Kurt Salmon,
Microsoft,sales
and Motorola.
Manhattan
GeoPartners represent
a select others,
group of
companies
that sell
and IBM,
through tailored
joint marketing,
and, in some
cases, co-development
efforts. Among
Manhattan
MVPs
include
implement
ourSalmon,
solutionsMicrosoft,
in specificand
geographies
the world,
each providing
expertise tothat
meet
customer
needs
Deloitte,
Kurt
Motorola.around
Manhattan
GeoPartners
representvaluable
a select localized
group of companies
sell
and
in
areas
such
as
Western
Europe,
Eastern
Europe,
Russia,
the
Middle
East,
Latin
America,
Africa,
and
the
Asia
Pacific
region.
implement our solutions in specific geographies around the world, each providing valuable localized expertise to meet customer needs
in areas such as Western Europe, Eastern Europe, Russia, the Middle East, Latin America, Africa, and the Asia Pacific region.
Customers
Customers
To date, our customers have been suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, retailers, and logistics providers in a variety of
industries.
five
customers
(new
or suppliers,
pre-existing)
in the aggregate
accounted
for 12%,
and 10%
of total
ToOur
date,top
our
customers
have
been
manufacturers,
distributors,
retailers,
and15%,
logistics
providers
in revenue
a varietyfor
of the
years
endedOur
December
2012, 2011,
2010, respectively.
No singleaccounted
customer accounted
for more
than of
10%
of revenue
our totalfor
revenue
industries.
top five31,
customers
(newand
or pre-existing)
in the aggregate
for 12%, 15%,
and 10%
total
the
in
2012,
2011,
or 2010.31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue
years
ended
December
in 2012, 2011, or 2010.
Product Development
Product Development
We focus our development efforts on adding new functionality to existing solutions, integrating our various solution
offerings,We
enhancing
thedevelopment
operability of
our solutions
our Supply Chain
Process
Platformintegrating
and acrossour
distributed
and alternative
focus our
efforts
on addingacross
new functionality
to existing
solutions,
various solution
hardware platforms,
systems,
andsolutions
databaseacross
systems,
developing
new solutions.
our future
offerings,
enhancing operating
the operability
of our
ourand
Supply
Chain Process
PlatformWe
andbelieve
across that
distributed
andsuccess
alternative
depends, in
part, on our
ability systems,
to continue
enhancesystems,
existing and
solutions,
to respond
to dynamically
changing
hardware
platforms,
operating
andtodatabase
developing
new solutions.
We believe
thatcustomer
our futurerequirements,
success
and
to develop
incorporate
newsolutions,
technological
developments
and emerging
supply
chain requirements,
and industry
depends,
in part,new
on or
ourenhanced
ability tosolutions
continue that
to enhance
existing
to respond
to dynamically
changing
customer
standards.
To that
development
frequently
focuses onnew
basetechnological
system enhancements
and incorporating
userchain
requirements
and
and
to develop
newend,
or enhanced
solutions
that incorporate
developments
and emergingnew
supply
and industry
features intoToour
solutions.
As a result,
we deliver
packaged,
highly
configurable
solutions
with increasingly
standards.
that
end, development
frequently
focuses
on base
system
enhancements
and incorporating
newrich
userfunctionality
requirementsrather
and
than
custom-developed
software.
We also
many major
ERP systems
to enhance rich
communication
features
into our solutions.
As a result,
we deliver
deliver interface
packaged,toolkits
highly for
configurable
solutions
with increasingly
functionalityand
rather
improve
data flows between
our core
andinterface
our clients’
host for
systems.
than custom-developed
software.
Wesolutions
also deliver
toolkits
many major ERP systems to enhance communication and
improve data flows between our core solutions and our clients’ host systems.
We leverage internal and external scientific advisors to inform our solution strategies and research and development
approaches
the most
advanced
thinkingscientific
on supply
chain opportunities,
and technologies.
research team
Wewith
leverage
internal
and external
advisors
to inform our challenges,
solution strategies
and researchOur
andinternal
development
is comprisedwith
of Ph.D.-credentialed
and on
science
experts
work on creating
and and
solving
algorithms Our
and internal
other constructs
approaches
the most advancedmath
thinking
supply
chain who
opportunities,
challenges,
technologies.
research that
team
advance
the optimization
capabilities
andand
other
aspects
of ourwho
solutions.
external
Board
unitesconstructs
the thinking
is
comprised
of Ph.D.-credentialed
math
science
experts
work onOur
creating
andScience
solvingAdvisory
algorithms
and other
thatof
experts
leading educational
institutions
known
forof
their
chainOur
disciplines,
and practitioners
organizations
deploying
advancefrom
the optimization
capabilities
and other
aspects
oursupply
solutions.
external Science
Advisoryfrom
Board
unites the thinking
of
supply
chain
technology
in
innovative
and
market-advancing
ways.
Together,
our
Research
Team
and
Science
Advisory
Board
experts from leading educational institutions known for their supply chain disciplines, and practitioners from organizations deploying
inform
both the
practical in
business
approaches
and the mathematical
scientific
of and
our Science
solutions.Advisory Board
supply chain
technology
innovative
and market-advancing
ways. and
Together,
ourinventiveness
Research Team
inform both the practical business approaches and the mathematical and scientific inventiveness of our solutions.
We conduct most development internally in the U.S. and India to retain development knowledge and promote programming
standardsWe
continuity.
However,
we may internally
periodically
outsource
some
projects
thatdevelopment
can be performed
separately
and/or that
require
conduct most
development
in the
U.S. and
India
to retain
knowledge
and promote
programming
special skills.
We alsoHowever,
use third-party
research
and development
companies
forthat
translation
to localizeseparately
our products
intothat
Chinese,
standards
continuity.
we may
periodically
outsource some
projects
can be performed
and/or
require
French,
Japanese,
and Spanish.
special skills.
We also
use third-party research and development companies for translation to localize our products into Chinese,
French, Japanese, and Spanish.
Our research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 were $44.7 million, $42.4
million, and
million,
respectively. expenses
We intend
continue
to invest
significantly
in product
development.
Our$40.5
research
and development
fortothe
years ended
December
31, 2012,
2011, and
2010 were $44.7 million, $42.4
million, and $40.5 million, respectively. We intend to continue to invest significantly in product development.
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Competition
Competition
Our solutions are solely focused on the supply chain planning and execution markets, which have been consolidating rapidly,
are intensely
arefocused
characterized
rapidchain
technological
The principal
affecting therapidly,
Our competitive,
solutions are and
solely
on the by
supply
planning change.
and execution
markets,competitive
which have factors
been consolidating
markets
for our
solutions include:
industry expertise;
company
and solution
reputation;
company
viability; factors
compliance
withthe
industry
are intensely
competitive,
and are characterized
by rapid
technological
change.
The principal
competitive
affecting
standards;
architecture;
functionality
and features;
integration
experience,
particularly
withcompliance
ERP providers
markets forsolution
our solutions
include:solution
industry
expertise; company
and solution
reputation;
company
viability;
with and
industry
material
handling
providers;
and speedand
of implementation;
proven
return onparticularly
investment;with
historical
and current
standards;
solutionequipment
architecture;
solutionease
functionality
features; integration
experience,
ERP providers
andsolution
quality and
performance;
totalproviders;
cost of ownership;
solution
price; and ongoing
solution
support
structure. historical
We believe
compete
material
handling
equipment
ease and speed
of implementation;
proven
return
on investment;
andwecurrent
solution
favorably
respect to each
these
factors. solution price; and ongoing solution support structure. We believe we compete
quality andwith
performance;
total of
cost
of ownership;
favorably with respect to each of these factors.
Our competitors are diverse and offer a variety of solutions directed at various aspects of the supply chain, as well as at the
enterpriseOur
as acompetitors
whole. Ourare
existing
diversecompetitors
and offer a include:
variety of solutions directed at various aspects of the supply chain, as well as at the
enterprise as a whole. Our existing competitors include:
•
Corporate information technology departments of current or potential customers capable of internally developing
solutions; information technology departments of current or potential customers capable of internally developing
•
Corporate
solutions;
•
ERP vendors, including Oracle, SAP, and Infor, among others;
•
ERP vendors, including Oracle, SAP, and Infor, among others;
•
Supply chain execution vendors, including JDA Software Group, Inc. (JDA), HighJump Software Inc., and the
Sterlingchain
Commerce
division
of IBM,
amongJDA
others;
•
Supply
execution
vendors,
including
Software Group, Inc. (JDA), HighJump Software Inc., and the
Sterling Commerce division of IBM, among others;
•
Supply chain planning vendors, including JDA and SAS Institute Inc., among others; and
•
Supply chain planning vendors, including JDA and SAS Institute Inc., among others; and
•
Smaller independent companies that have developed or are attempting to develop supply chain execution solutions
and/or
solutions
that apply
specific
countries
and/or
globally.
•
Smallerplanning
independent
companies
that in
have
developed
or are
attempting
to develop supply chain execution solutions
and/or planning solutions that apply in specific countries and/or globally.
We anticipate facing increased competition from ERP and supply chain management (SCM) applications vendors and
business We
application
software
may broaden
offerings
internally developing
or by acquiring
or and
partnering
anticipate
facing vendors
increasedthat
competition
fromtheir
ERPsolution
and supply
chainby
management
(SCM) applications
vendors
with independent
developers
supplythat
chain
planning
execution
of thesedeveloping
ERP and SCM
andpartnering
other
business
application
softwareof
vendors
may
broadenand
their
solutionsoftware.
offerings Some
by internally
or bycompanies
acquiring or
potential
competitors
have longer
operating
more
financial,
technical,
resources;
with independent
developers
of supply
chainhistories;
planningsignificantly
and execution
software.
Some
of thesemarketing
ERP and and
SCMother
companies
andgreater
other
name
recognition;
broader
and larger
installed
bases of customers
than us.
To the extent
that ERP
and SCM
vendors
or
potential
competitors
have solutions;
longer operating
histories;
significantly
more financial,
technical,
marketing
and other
resources;
greater
other large
competitors
develop
or acquire
systems
with functionality
comparable
or superior
to ours,
customer
bases,
name
recognition;
broader
solutions;
and larger
installed
bases of customers
than us.
To the extent
thattheir
ERPlarger
and SCM
vendors
or
long-standing
customer develop
relationships,
and ability
to with
offerfunctionality
broader solutions
outsideorthesuperior
scope of
chain
couldcustomer
create significant
other large competitors
or acquire
systems
comparable
to supply
ours, their
larger
bases,
competitive
advantage
them. It also
is ability
possible
competitors
or outside
alliances
and/or
new
competitors
could
long-standing
customerfor
relationships,
and
to that
offernew
broader
solutions
theamong
scopecurrent
of supply
chain
could
create significant
emerge to win
significant
share.
could result
in price reductions,
fewerand/or
customer
reduced
competitive
advantage
formarket
them. It
also isIncreased
possible competition
that new competitors
or alliances
among current
new orders,
competitors
could
earningstoand
and market
loss of market
share. In turn,
this could
have
a material
effectfewer
on our
business,
resultsreduced
of operations,
emerge
winmargins
significant
share. Increased
competition
could
result
in priceadverse
reductions,
customer
orders,
cash
flow,and
andmargins
financial
earnings
andcondition.
loss of market share. In turn, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
cash flow, and financial condition.
We believe we have established meaningful competitive advantages and have built barriers to market entry through our
supply chain
expertise;
platform-based
solution approach;
our advantages
track recordand
of continuous
supply chain
innovation
and investment;
We believe
weour
have
established meaningful
competitive
have built barriers
to market
entry through
our
our
strong
andexpertise;
endorsing
customer
relationships;
ourapproach;
significant
success
in deploying
and supporting
supply
chains forand
market-leading
supply
chain
our
platform-based
solution
our
track record
of continuous
supply chain
innovation
investment;
companies;
andendorsing
our abilitycustomer
to out-execute
others in
identifying
opportunities
andand
demonstrating
throughout
the sales
our
strong and
relationships;
our
significantsales
success
in deploying
supporting expertise
supply chains
for market-leading
cycle.
However,
to further
ourout-execute
market success,
must continue
to opportunities
respond promptly
and effectivelyexpertise
to technological
change
and
companies;
and our
ability to
otherswe
in identifying
sales
and demonstrating
throughout
the sales
competitors’
innovations.
we cannot
assure
that wetowill
not bepromptly
requiredand
to make
substantial
additional investments
cycle. However,
to furtherConsequently,
our market success,
we must
continue
respond
effectively
to technological
change and in
research, development,
marketing,
sales and
service
in not
order
meet any
threat,
or that we
will be ableinto
competitors’
innovations.
Consequently,
we customer
cannot assure
thatefforts
we will
betorequired
to competitive
make substantial
additional
investments
compete successfully
the future. sales and customer service efforts in order to meet any competitive threat, or that we will be able to
research,
development,inmarketing,
compete successfully in the future.
International Operations; Segments
International Operations; Segments
We have three reporting segments, based on geographic location: the Americas; Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”);
and Asia We
Pacific
For further
information
our segments,
see Note
7 to our consolidated
financial
Our
have(“APAC”).
three reporting
segments,
based onon
geographic
location:
the Americas;
Europe, Middle
East statements.
and Africa (“EMEA”);
international
revenue
was approximately
$104.4 million,
$90.7
million,see
and
$80.7
for the years
ended December
2012,
and Asia Pacific
(“APAC”).
For further information
on our
segments,
Note
7 tomillion
our consolidated
financial
statements.31,
Our
2011,
and
2010,
respectively,
which
represents
approximately
28%,
28%,
and
27%
of
our
total
revenue
for
the
years
ended
December
international revenue was approximately $104.4 million, $90.7 million, and $80.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2012,
31, 2012,
2010, respectively.
International
revenue includes
all and
revenue
fromrevenue
sales tofor
customers
United
2011,
and 2011,
2010, and
respectively,
which represents
approximately
28%, 28%,
27% derived
of our total
the yearsoutside
ended the
December
States.
We2011,
now have
approximately
1,270
employees revenue
outside the
UnitedallStates.
31,
2012,
and 2010,
respectively.
International
includes
revenue derived from sales to customers outside the United
States. We now have approximately 1,270 employees outside the United States.
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Proprietary Rights
Proprietary Rights
We rely on a combination of copyright, trade secret, trademark, and trade dress laws, confidentiality procedures, and
contractual
to protect ourofproprietary
in our products,
processes
technology.
We have registered
trademarks
for
Weprovisions
rely on a combination
copyright, rights
trade secret,
trademark,
and tradeand
dress
laws, confidentiality
procedures,
and
Manhattan Associates
the Manhattan
Associates
as products,
well as a number
of and
our technology.
products andWe
features.
Generallytrademarks
we enter into
contractual
provisions and
to protect
our proprietary
rightslogo,
in our
processes
have registered
for
confidentiality
and assignment-of-rights
employees,
consultants,
customersand
andfeatures.
potentialGenerally
customersweand
limit
Manhattan Associates
and the Manhattanagreements
Associates with
logo,our
as well
as a number
of our products
enter
into
access
to, and distribution
of, our proprietary
information.
Weemployees,
license ourconsultants,
proprietary customers
products toand
ourpotential
customers
under license
confidentiality
and assignment-of-rights
agreements
with our
customers
and limit
agreements
that
we believeof,
contain
appropriate
use and other
order to tryproducts
to best protect
our ownership
our products
access
to, and
distribution
our proprietary
information.
Werestrictions
license ourinproprietary
to our customers
underoflicense
and our proprietary
rights incontain
them, and
to protectuse
ourand
revenue
potential from
our products.
However,
our efforts
to safeguard
agreements
that we believe
appropriate
other restrictions
in order
to try to best
protectdespite
our ownership
of our
products
and
maintain
our
proprietary
rights,
we
cannot
ensure
that
we
will
successfully
deter
misappropriation,
unintended
disclosure
or
and our proprietary rights in them, and to protect our revenue potential from our products. However, despite our efforts to safeguard
independent
development
ofcannot
our technology
or we
ourwill
proprietary
rightsdeter
or information.
Policing
unauthorized
use ofor
our
and maintainthird-party
our proprietary
rights, we
ensure that
successfully
misappropriation,
unintended
disclosure
products is difficult,
and,development
while we areofunable
to determine
the proprietary
extent to which
of our software
solutions
exists, asuse
is the
case
independent
third-party
our technology
or our
rightspiracy
or information.
Policing
unauthorized
of our
with
any is
software
company,
piracy
could
become
a problem.
the extent
that
into transactions
in countries
products
difficult,
and, while
we are
unable
to determine
theFurther,
extent totowhich
piracy
of we
ourenter
software
solutions exists,
as is the where
case
intellectual
property
laws arepiracy
not well
developed
poorly Further,
enforced,
to protect
ourinto
proprietary
rightsinmay
be where
with
any software
company,
could
becomeora are
problem.
toour
the efforts
extent that
we enter
transactions
countries
ineffective. property
Whetherlaws
we seek
to enforce
our proprietary
rights enforced,
in the U.S.our
or efforts
abroad,toour
efforts,
litigation
to enforce
our
intellectual
are not
well developed
or are poorly
protect
ourincluding
proprietary
rights may
be
rights,
can result
in substantial
and diversion
of resources,
or our
succeed in
such efforts,
couldour
have a
ineffective.
Whether
we seek tocosts
enforce
our proprietary
rights inand
thesuch
U.S.efforts,
or abroad,
ourfailure
efforts,toincluding
litigation
to enforce
material
adverse
effect
on
our
business,
financial
condition,
results
of
operations
or
cash
flows,
regardless
of
the
final
outcome.
rights, can result in substantial costs and diversion of resources, and such efforts, or our failure to succeed in such efforts, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, regardless of the final outcome.
As the number of supply chain management solutions available in the marketplace increases and solution functionality
continuesAs
to the
overlap,
supply
chain chain
software
may increasingly
subject
claims of infringement
or solution
other misappropriation
number
of supply
management
solutionsbecome
available
in thetomarketplace
increases and
functionality of
intellectual
property.
Third
parties
may
assert
infringement
or
misappropriation
claims
against
us
relating
to
our
products,
processes
continues to overlap, supply chain software may increasingly become subject to claims of infringement or other misappropriation
of
or technology.
Such claims,
whether
or assert
not they
have merit,or
generally
are time-consuming
and us
may
result to
in our
costly
litigation,
divert
intellectual
property.
Third parties
may
infringement
misappropriation
claims against
relating
products,
processes
management’s
or cause
product
shipment
delays
or generally
require usare
to enter
into royaltyand
or licensing
arrangements.
Defense
of
or technology. attention
Such claims,
whether
or not
they have
merit,
time-consuming
may result
in costly litigation,
divert
infringement
or
other
misappropriation
claims,
entering
into
royalty
or
licensing
agreements,
the
unavailability
of
such
agreements,
management’s attention or cause product shipment delays or require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Defense of or
adverse determinations
in proprietary rights
litigation
could
a material
adverse
effect on the
our unavailability
business, financial
condition,
results
infringement
or other misappropriation
claims,
entering
intohave
royalty
or licensing
agreements,
of such
agreements,
or
of operations
or cash flows.
adverse
determinations
in proprietary rights litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows.
Employees
Employees
At December 31, 2012, we employed approximately 2,400 employees worldwide, of which 1,130 are based in the Americas,
170 in EMEA,
and 1,100
APAC
Our distribution
by function
is approximately:
145 inare
sales
and in
marketing;
1,425
At December
31,in2012,
we(including
employed India).
approximately
2,400 employees
worldwide,
of which 1,130
based
the Americas,
in
services;
650
in
research
and
development
(“R&D”);
and
180
in
general
and
administration.
170 in EMEA, and 1,100 in APAC (including India). Our distribution by function is approximately: 145 in sales and marketing; 1,425
in services; 650 in research and development (“R&D”); and 180 in general and administration.
Available Information
Available Information
We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC” orWe
thefile
“Commission”).
These
can beand
inspected
and copied at
thethe
SEC’s
Publicand
Reference
Room
at 100 F Street,
annual, quarterly
andmaterials
current reports
other information
with
Securities
Exchange
Commission
(the
N.E., Washington,
D.C. 20549.These
Copies
of thesecan
materials
may also
obtained
bySEC’s
mail atPublic
prescribed
rates from
Public
“SEC”
or the “Commission”).
materials
be inspected
andbecopied
at the
Reference
Roomthe
at SEC’s
100 F Street,
Reference
Room atD.C.
the above
about the
Reference
can
obtainedrates
by calling
theSEC’s
SEC atPublic
1-800N.E., Washington,
20549.address.
CopiesInformation
of these materials
mayPublic
also be
obtained Room
by mail
at be
prescribed
from the
that contains
reports,
and
information
statements,
and
SEC-0330.Room
The SEC
maintains
a website
at www.sec.gov
Reference
at thealso
above
address.
Information
about the Public
Reference
Roomproxy
can be
obtained
by calling
the SEC
at other
1-800information The
regarding
issuers
that filea electronically
with the SEC.
that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other
SEC-0330.
SEC also
maintains
website at www.sec.gov
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.
On our website, www.manh.com, we provide free of charge our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q, Current
Reports
onwww.manh.com,
Form 8-K, and any
as our
soonAnnual
as reasonably
practicable
afterQuarterly
they haveReports
been on Form
On our
website,
weamendments
provide free thereto,
of charge
Report on
Form 10-K,
electronically
or furnished
to theand
SEC.
onsoon
our website
is not part
of this Form
10-Khave
or our
other filings
10-Q,
Current filed
Reports
on Form 8-K,
anyInformation
amendmentscontained
thereto, as
as reasonably
practicable
after they
been
with
the SEC. filed or furnished to the SEC. Information contained on our website is not part of this Form 10-K or our other filings
electronically
with the SEC.
Additionally, our code of business conduct and ethics and the charters of the Audit, Compensation, and Nomination and
Governance
Committees
the Board
of Directors
on the
our charters
website.of the Audit, Compensation, and Nomination and
Additionally,
ourofcode
of business
conductare
andavailable
ethics and
Governance Committees of the Board of Directors are available on our website.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Item 1A. Risk Factors
You should consider the following and other risk factors in evaluating our business or an investment in our common stock.
The occurrence
of adverse
events
described in
following
risk factors
or otherour
adverse
events
notinvestment
described in
in our
the common
followingstock.
risk
You should
consider
the following
andthe
other
risk factors
in evaluating
business
or an
factors
could have
a material
adverse
effect on
ourfollowing
business, results
of operations,
cash flow
and not
financial
condition,
and could risk
cause
The
occurrence
of adverse
events
described
in the
risk factors
or other adverse
events
described
in the following
factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flow and financial condition, and could cause
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the trading price of our common stock to decline.
the trading price of our common stock to decline.
Our performance can be negatively impacted by global macroeconomic or other external influences which could have
a material
adverse
effect oncan
ourbebusiness,
results
of operations,
flow and financial
condition.
are a technology
company
Our
performance
negatively
impacted
by globalcash
macroeconomic
or other
external We
influences
which could
have
selling
technology-based
with totalresults
pricing,ofincluding
software
and services,
often, condition.
exceeding $1.0
million.
Reductions
in the
a
material
adverse effectsolutions
on our business,
operations,
cash flow
and financial
We are
a technology
company
capital technology-based
budgets of our customers
and
prospective
customers
could
have anand
adverse
impact
onexceeding
our ability$1.0
to sell
our solutions.
We in the
selling
solutions
with
total pricing,
including
software
services,
often,
million.
Reductions
believe
that
potential
customer
concerns
over
the
slow
economic
recovery
within
the
United
States
and/or
other
geographic
regions
capital budgets of our customers and prospective customers could have an adverse impact on our ability to sell our solutions. We in
which we
operate
could
cause delays
in capital
spending
by our customers
or delay
closing
of our
sales,other
which
could have
a
believe
that
potential
customer
concerns
over the
slow economic
recovery within
thethe
United
States
and/or
geographic
regions
in
material
on ourdelays
business
and ourspending
ability tobycompete
and further
intensify
in our already
intensely
competitive
which
weadverse
operateimpact
could cause
in capital
our customers
or delay
the closing
of our sales,
which
could havemarkets.
a
material adverse impact on our business and our ability to compete and further intensify in our already intensely competitive markets.
The recovering financial and credit markets and the slow economic recovery in general may adversely affect our
business,The
results
of operations,
cash
flow
andmarkets
financialand
condition.
forrecovery
our products
and services
depends inaffect
largeour
part
recovering
financial
and
credit
the slow Demand
economic
in general
may adversely
upon
the level
of capital
and maintenance
bycondition.
many of ourDemand
customers.
Decreased
and maintenance
could
business,
results
of operations,
cash flowexpenditures
and financial
for our
productscapital
and services
depends inspending
large part
have
material
on the demand
for our products
andofservices,
and on Decreased
our business,
results
operations and
financial
upon athe
level ofadverse
capitaleffect
and maintenance
expenditures
by many
our customers.
capital
andofmaintenance
spending
could
condition.
Disruptions
the financial
markets,
the events
beganand
in the
second
half ofresults
2008 from
which theand
financial
have
a material
adverseineffect
on the demand
forsuch
our as
products
and that
services,
on our
business,
of operations
financial
markets areDisruptions
now slowlyinrecovering,
may
adversely
availability
of credit
arranged
andfrom
the availability
and cost of
condition.
the financial
markets,
suchimpact
as the the
events
that began
in the already
second half
of 2008
which the financial
credit
in are
the now
future,
which
could result
in adversely
the delay or
cancellation
of projects
or capital
programs
on and
which
business and
depends.
markets
slowly
recovering,
may
impact
the availability
of credit
already
arranged
theour
availability
cost of
credit in the future, which could result in the delay or cancellation of projects or capital programs on which our business depends.
In addition, continuing weakness or further deterioration in regional economies or the world economy could negatively
impact the
andcontinuing
maintenance
expenditures
of our
customers in
and
end users.
There can
be no
assurance
thatcould
government
Incapital
addition,
weakness
or further
deterioration
regional
economies
or the
world
economy
negatively
responses
to
the
disruptions
in
the
financial
markets
or
to
weakening
economies
will
restore
confidence,
stabilize
markets, or increase
impact the capital and maintenance expenditures of our customers and end users. There can be no assurance that government
liquidity
the disruptions
availability in
ofthe
credit.
Thesemarkets
conditions
reduce the
willingness
abilityconfidence,
of our customers
andmarkets,
prospective
responsesand
to the
financial
or tomay
weakening
economies
willorrestore
stabilize
or increase
customersand
to commit
funds toofpurchase
our products
andmay
services,
their
ability to or
payability
for our
and services
after purchase.
liquidity
the availability
credit. These
conditions
reduceorthe
willingness
ofproducts
our customers
and prospective
customers to commit funds to purchase our products and services, or their ability to pay for our products and services after purchase.
We may not be able to continue to successfully compete with other companies. We compete in markets that are intensely
competitive
expected
more
competitive as
currentwith
competitors
expand their
product
offerings.
Ourthat
current
Weand
mayare
not
be abletotobecome
continue
to successfully
compete
other companies.
We
compete
in markets
are intensely
competitors
comeare
from
many to
segments
the software
industry
and offer
a varietyexpand
of solutions
directedofferings.
at variousOur
aspects
of the
competitive and
expected
becomeof
more
competitive
as current
competitors
their product
current
extended
supply
chain,
as
well
as
the
enterprise
as
a
whole.
We
face
competition
for
product
sales
from:
competitors come from many segments of the software industry and offer a variety of solutions directed at various aspects of the
extended supply chain, as well as the enterprise as a whole. We face competition for product sales from:
•
corporate information technology departments of current or potential customers capable of internally developing
solutions;
•
corporate information technology departments of current or potential customers capable of internally developing
solutions;
•
ERP
vendors, including Oracle, SAP, and Infor, among others;
••
•
•

ERP
vendors,
includingvendors,
Oracle, SAP,
and Infor,
among others;
supply
chain execution
including
JDA Software
Group, Inc. (JDA), HighJump Software Inc., and the
Sterling
Commerce
division
of
IBM,
among
others;
supply chain execution vendors, including JDA Software Group, Inc. (JDA), HighJump Software Inc., and the
Sterlingchain
Commerce
division
of IBM,
among
others;
supply
planning
vendors,
including
JDA
and SAS Institute Inc., among others; and

supply
planning
vendors, including
JDA and SAS
Institute
Inc., to
among
others;
andchain execution solutions
smallerchain
independent
companies
that have developed
or are
attempting
develop
supply
and/or
supply
chain
planning
solutions
that
apply
in
specific
countries
and/or
globally.
•
smaller independent companies that have developed or are attempting to develop supply chain execution solutions
and/or supply chain planning solutions that apply in specific countries and/or globally.
We anticipate facing increased competition from ERP and supply chain management (SCM) applications vendors and
business We
application
software
may broaden
offerings
internally developing
or by acquiring
or and
partnering
anticipate
facing vendors
increasedthat
competition
fromtheir
ERPsolution
and supply
chainby
management
(SCM) applications
vendors
with
independent
developers
supplythat
chain
planning
execution
of thesedeveloping
ERP and SCM
other
business
application
softwareof
vendors
may
broadenand
their
solutionsoftware.
offeringsSome
by internally
or bycompanies
acquiring and
or partnering
potential
competitors
have longer
operating
more
financial,
technical,
and other
resources,
greater
with independent
developers
of supply
chainhistories,
planningsignificantly
and execution
software.
Some
of thesemarketing,
ERP and SCM
companies
and other
name
recognition,
broader
and larger
installed
bases of customers
than dotechnical,
we. To the
extent that
SCM vendors
potential
competitors
have solutions,
longer operating
histories,
significantly
more financial,
marketing,
andERP
otherand
resources,
greateror
other large
competitors
develop
or acquire
systems
with functionality
comparable
or we.
superior
to extent
ours, their
customer
bases, or
name
recognition,
broader
solutions,
and larger
installed
bases of customers
than do
To the
that larger
ERP and
SCM vendors
long-standing
customer develop
relationships,
and ability
to with
offerfunctionality
broader solutions
outsideorthesuperior
scope of
chain
couldcustomer
create significant
other large competitors
or acquire
systems
comparable
to supply
ours, their
larger
bases,
competitive
advantage
them. It also
is ability
possible
competitors
or outside
alliances
and/or
new
competitors
could
long-standing
customerfor
relationships,
and
to that
offernew
broader
solutions
theamong
scopecurrent
of supply
chain
could
create significant
emerge
to win
significant
share.
could result
price reductions,
fewerand/or
customer
reduced
competitive
advantage
formarket
them. It
also Increased
is possiblecompetition
that new competitors
or in
alliances
among current
neworders,
competitors
could
earnings
andmarket
loss of share.
marketIncreased
share. Incompetition
turn, this could
have
a material
effect
on our
business,
results
of
emerge toand
winmargins,
significant
could
result
in price adverse
reductions,
fewer
customer
orders,
reduced
operations,
flow, and
condition.
earnings
andcash
margins,
and financial
loss of market
share. In turn, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flow, and financial condition.
We believe the domain expertise required to continuously innovate supply chain technology in our target markets, effectively
and efficiently
implement
solutions,
identify
and attract
sales opportunities,
compete
inour
the target
sales cycle
provides
us
We believe
the domain
expertise
required
to continuously
innovate and
supply
chainsuccessfully
technology in
markets,
effectively
with
a competitive
advantage
and is aidentify
significant
barrier sales
to market
entry. However,
in order
to be successful
thecycle
future,
we mustus
and efficiently
implement
solutions,
and attract
opportunities,
and compete
successfully
in the in
sales
provides
continue
to respondadvantage
promptly and
and is
effectively
to technological
change
andHowever,
competitors’
innovations,
and consequently
we cannot
with
a competitive
a significant
barrier to market
entry.
in order
to be successful
in the future,
we must
continue to respond promptly and effectively to technological change and competitors’ innovations, and consequently we cannot
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assure you that we will not be required to make substantial additional investments in connection with our research, development,
marketing,
sales,weand
customer
service efforts
order to meet
any competitive
threat,
or that we with
will be
to compete
successfully
assure you that
will
not be required
to makeinsubstantial
additional
investments
in connection
ourable
research,
development,
in
the
future.
Some
of
our
competitors
have
significant
resources
at
their
disposal,
and
the
degree
to
which
we
will
compete
with their
marketing, sales, and customer service efforts in order to meet any competitive threat, or that we will be able to compete successfully
new
products
the marketplace
is undetermined.
in theinnovative
future. Some
of ourincompetitors
have significant
resources at their disposal, and the degree to which we will compete with their
new innovative products in the marketplace is undetermined.
Our operating results are substantially dependent on one line of business. We continue to derive our revenues from sales
of our supply
solutions
software
and related services
andon
hardware.
factor adversely
affecting
the markets
for supply
Our chain
operating
results
are substantially
dependent
one lineAny
of business.
We continue
to derive
our revenues
fromchain
sales
solutions
couldchain
havesolutions
an adverse
effect on
business,
results
operations,
cash
flow,
and financial
condition.
Accordingly,
our
of
our supply
software
andour
related
services
andof
hardware.
Any
factor
adversely
affecting
the markets
for supply
chain
future
operating
results
depend
onon
theour
demand
for our
supply
chain products
related
services condition.
and hardware
by our customers,
solutions
could have
an will
adverse
effect
business,
results
of operations,
cashand
flow,
and financial
Accordingly,
our
including
new
and
enhanced
releases
that
we
subsequently
introduce.
We
cannot
guarantee
that
the
market
will
continue
to customers,
demand
future operating results will depend on the demand for our supply chain products and related services and hardware by our
our
currentnew
products
or we will
be successful
marketing any
new orWe
enhanced
ourthe
competitors
release
new to
products
including
and enhanced
releases
that we in
subsequently
introduce.
cannotproducts.
guaranteeIfthat
market will
continue
demandthat
are superior
to our products
in performance
demand
ourorproducts
may
decline.IfAour
decline
in demand
for our
a
our
current products
or we will
be successfulorinprice,
marketing
anyfor
new
enhanced
products.
competitors
release
newproducts
productsasthat
result
of competition,
technological
change, or
or price,
other factors
our may
total decline.
revenuesAand
harminour
abilityfor
to our
maintain
are superior
to our products
in performance
demandwould
for ourreduce
products
decline
demand
products as a
profitability.
result
of competition, technological change, or other factors would reduce our total revenues and harm our ability to maintain
profitability.
Our operating results are difficult to predict and could cause our stock price to fall. Our quarterly revenue and operating
results areOur
difficult
to predict
andare
candifficult
fluctuatetosignificantly
quarter
quarter.
our quarterly
revenue
or operating
results
fall
operating
results
predict andfrom
could
causetoour
stock If
price
to fall. Our
quarterly
revenue and
operating
below the
of investors
orfluctuate
public market
analysts,from
the quarter
price oftoour
common
stock
could fall
substantially.
Our results
quarterly
results
are expectations
difficult to predict
and can
significantly
quarter.
If our
quarterly
revenue
or operating
fall
revenuetheis expectations
difficult to forecast
for several
reasons,
including
global
macro-economic
creditOur
andquarterly
equity
below
of investors
or public
market
analysts,the
thefollowing:
price of our
common
stock could disruptions;
fall substantially.
market
which
can for
significantly
impactincluding
capital availability
and spend
of customers
or potentialcredit
customers;
the
revenuedisruptions,
is difficult to
forecast
several reasons,
the following:
globaltiming
macro-economic
disruptions;
and equity
varying
sales
cycle
for
our
products
and
services
from
customer
to
customer,
including
multiple
levels
of
authorization
required
market disruptions, which can significantly impact capital availability and spend timing of customers or potential customers; the by
some customers;
thefor
varying
demandand
forservices
our products;
customers’
purchasing
cycles;
potential
deferral ofrequired
license by
varying
sales cycle
our products
from customer
to budgeting
customer, and
including
multiple
levels
of authorization
revenue
well afterthe
entering
a license
duecustomers’
to extended
payment and
terms,
including,
although
infrequent,
payment
terms in
some customers;
varyinginto
demand
for agreement
our products;
budgeting
purchasing
cycles;
potential
deferral
of license
arevenue
contractwell
extending
beyond
twelve
months,
significant
software
modifications,
future
software
functionality
deliverables
not
on a in
after entering into a license agreement due to extended payment terms, including, although infrequent, payment terms
basis, or beyond
other negotiated
terms that
precludesoftware
softwaremodifications,
revenue recognition
under U.S.
general accepted
accounting
astand-alone
contract extending
twelve months,
significant
future software
functionality
deliverables
not on a
principles;
implementations
at that
customer
sites;
timing revenue
of hiringrecognition
new services
employees
and the
rate at which
these
stand-alonedelays
basis, in
or our
other
negotiated terms
preclude
software
under
U.S. general
accepted
accounting
employees
becomeinproductive;
timing of introduction
of new
products;
development
and performance
of the
our rate
distribution
principles; delays
our implementations
at customer sites;
timing
of hiring
new services
employees and
at whichchannels;
these
and
timing become
of any acquisitions
related
costs.
employees
productive;and
timing
of introduction
of new products; development and performance of our distribution channels;
and timing of any acquisitions and related costs.
As a result of these and other factors, our license revenue is difficult to predict. Because our revenue from services is largely
correlatedAstoaour
license
revenue,
a decline
in license
revenue
couldisalso
causetoa predict.
decline Because
in our services
revenue
in the
same is
quarter
or
result
of these
and other
factors,
our license
revenue
difficult
our revenue
from
services
largely
in subsequent
quarters.
addition,
an increase
or decrease
in could
hardware
provide
with lower
grossinmargins
than
salesor
correlated
to our
license In
revenue,
a decline
in license
revenue
also sales,
cause which
a decline
in ourusservices
revenue
the same
quarter
of subsequent
software licenses
or services,
mayan
cause
variations
in our in
quarterly
operating
results.
in
quarters.
In addition,
increase
or decrease
hardware
sales, which
provide us with lower gross margins than sales
of software licenses or services, may cause variations in our quarterly operating results.
Most of our expenses, including employee compensation and rent, are relatively fixed. In addition, our expense levels are
based, in Most
part, on
our expenses,
expectations
regarding
future revenue
increases.
a result,
any shortfall
relation
to our
of our
including
employee
compensation
and As
rent,
are relatively
fixed. in
In revenue
addition,inour
expense
levels are
expectations
cause
significantregarding
changes future
in our revenue
operatingincreases.
results from
quarter
andincould
result
quarterly
losses. As a
based,
in part,could
on our
expectations
As aquarter
result, to
any
shortfall
revenue
in in
relation
to our
result
of thesecould
factors,
wesignificant
believe thatchanges
period-to-period
comparisons
ourquarter
revenuetolevels
and
operating
results
are not necessarily
expectations
cause
in our operating
results of
from
quarter
and
could result
in quarterly
losses. As a
meaningful.
Historical
growth
rates
and
historical quarterly
revenue and
operating
not be a good
indicator
future
result of these
factors, we
believe
that
period-to-period
comparisons
of our
revenueresults
levels may
and operating
results
are notof
necessarily
operating
results
and reliance
historical
results should
notrevenue
be usedand
to predict
ourresults
future may
performance.
meaningful.
Historical
growthon
rates
and historical
quarterly
operating
not be a good indicator of future
operating results and reliance on historical results should not be used to predict our future performance.
Our future revenue is dependent on continuing license sales, which in turn drive sales of post-contract support and
professional
We areisdependent
onon
ourcontinuing
new customers
as sales,
well aswhich
our large
installed
base to purchase
additional
Our services.
future revenue
dependent
license
in turn
drivecustomer
sales of post-contract
support
and
software licenses,
post-contract
support, and
servicesasfrom
Ourlarge
post-contract
support agreements
are generally
for a
professional
services.
We are dependent
on professional
our new customers
wellus.
as our
installed customer
base to purchase
additional
one-year
term and post-contract
our professional
services
a particular
engagement.
In future periods
customers
software licenses,
support,
andagreements
professionalgenerally
services only
fromcover
us. Our
post-contract
support agreements
are generally
for a
may
not license
additional
products,services
and in turn
may notgenerally
renew post-contract
agreements
or purchase
additional
one-year
term and
our professional
agreements
only cover support
a particular
engagement.
In future
periods professional
customers
services
us.additional
If our customers
decide
to license
purchase
these products
andagreements
services from
us, or if they
reduceprofessional
the scope of
may
not from
license
products,
and innot
turn
may notorrenew
post-contract
support
or purchase
additional
their
post-contract
or hosting
or professional
services
agreements,
our revenue
decrease
significantly,
and that
services
from us. Ifsupport
our customers
decide
not to license
or purchase
these products
and could
services
from us,
or if they reduce
thecould
scope of
have
a
material
adverse
effect
on
our
business,
results
of
operations,
cash
flow
and
financial
condition.
their post-contract support or hosting or professional services agreements, our revenue could decrease significantly, and that could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flow and financial condition.
In addition, many of our customers are using older versions of our products for which we are no longer developing any
further upgrades
or enhancements.
While we intend
to migrate
our customers
who are for
using
theseweversions
to newer
versions or
In addition,
many of our customers
are using
older versions
of our products
which
are no longer
developing
any
products,
there
can
be
no
assurance
that
these
customers
will
do
so.
If
customers
using
older
versions
of
our
products
decide not
further upgrades or enhancements. While we intend to migrate our customers who are using these versions to newer versions
or to
license ourthere
current
products,
orthese
decide
to discontinue
our products
associated
support
services,
products,
can software
be no assurance
that
customers
will dothe
so.useIf of
customers
usingand
older
versionspost-contract
of our products
decide
not to
our
revenue
could decrease
our operating
results
could be materially
affected.
license
our current
software and
products,
or decide
to discontinue
the use of adversely
our products
and associated post-contract support services,
our revenue could decrease and our operating results could be materially adversely affected.
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We may encounter long sales cycles, particularly with our larger customers, which could have an adverse effect on
the amount,
and predictability
our revenue,
adversely
affecting
business,which
results
of operations,
cash flow,
and
Wetiming,
may encounter
long salesofcycles,
particularly
with our
largerour
customers,
could
have an adverse
effect
on
financial
condition.
Our
products
have
lengthy
sales
cycles,
which
typically
extend
from
six
to
twelve
months
and
may
take
up
to
the amount, timing, and predictability of our revenue, adversely affecting our business, results of operations, cash flow, and
several
years.
Potential
and
existinghave
customers,
often
commit
resources
toup
an to
financial
condition.
Our
products
lengthy particularly
sales cycles,larger
whichenterprise
typicallycustomers,
extend from
six to
twelvesignificant
months and
may take
evaluation
of available
and customers,
services andparticularly
require us larger
to expend
substantial
time and
resources
connectionresources
with ourtosales
several years.
Potentialsolutions
and existing
enterprise
customers,
often
commitinsignificant
an
efforts.
The
of our
sales cycles
also varies
onexpend
the typesubstantial
of customer
to and
which
we are selling,
the product
being
sold,
evaluation
oflength
available
solutions
and services
and depending
require us to
time
resources
in connection
with our
sales
and
customer
requirements.
Wecycles
may incur
substantial
sales and
marketing
expenses and
expend
effort sold,
during
efforts.
The length
of our sales
also varies
depending
on the
type of customer
to which
wesignificant
are selling,management
the product being
this time,
regardless
of whether
make
a sale.
Manysales
of theand
keymarketing
risks relating
to sales
are beyondmanagement
our control, effort
including:
and
customer
requirements.
Wewe
may
incur
substantial
expenses
andprocesses
expend significant
during
our customers’
budgetary
and scheduling
our customers’
budget
cycles and
processes;
this
time, regardless
of whether
we make aconstraints;
sale. Manythe
oftiming
the keyofrisks
relating to sales
processes
are approval
beyond our
control, our
including:
customers’
willingness
to replace
their currently
deployed
software
solutions;
and general
our
customers’
budgetary
and scheduling
constraints;
the timing
of our
customers’
budget economic
cycles andconditions.
approval processes; our
customers’ willingness to replace their currently deployed software solutions; and general economic conditions.
As a result of these lengthy and uncertain sales cycles of our products and services, it is difficult for us to predict when
customers may
products
or services
from us,
thereby
affecting
when weand
canservices,
recognizeit the
associated
and when
our
As a purchase
result of these
lengthy
and uncertain
sales
cycles
of our products
is difficult
for revenue,
us to predict
operating results
may vary
significantly
and may
adversely
The length
ofrecognize
our sales cycle
makes usrevenue,
susceptible
having
customers
may purchase
products
or services
frombeus,
thereby affected.
affecting when
we can
the associated
andtoour
pending transactions
or terminated
ourbecustomers
they decide
delay of
or our
withdraw
funding
for IT
projects. Our
operating
results maydelayed
vary significantly
andby
may
adverselyifaffected.
Thetolength
sales cycle
makes
us susceptible
to having
customers
may decidedelayed
to delayororterminated
withdrawby
funding
for IT projects
various
reasons,
including,funding
but notfor
limited
to, global
economic
pending transactions
our customers
if theyfor
decide
to delay
or withdraw
IT projects.
Our
cycles and may
capital
market
fluctuations.
customers
decide
to delay
or withdraw funding for IT projects for various reasons, including, but not limited to, global economic
cycles and capital market fluctuations.
Delays in implementing our products could adversely impact us. Due to the size and complexity of most of our software
implementations,
implementation
can be
lengthy
and may
result us.
in delays.
products
may requireofmodification
or
Delays inour
implementing
ourcycle
products
could
adversely
impact
Due to Our
the size
and complexity
most of our software
customization andour
must
integrate withcycle
manycan
existing
computer
systems
andinsoftware
programs
of our
This can beortimeimplementations,
implementation
be lengthy
and may
result
delays. Our
products
maycustomers.
require modification
consuming andand
expensive
for customers
and existing
can resultcomputer
in implementation
and
deployment
delays
products. This
Additional
customization
must integrate
with many
systems and
software
programs
ofof
ourour
customers.
can be delays
timecould resultand
if we
fail to attract,
train, andand
retain
or if our
companies
to commit
sufficient
resources
consuming
expensive
for customers
canservices
result inpersonnel,
implementation
andalliance
deployment
delaysfail
of our
products.
Additional
delays
towards
implementing
software.
delays
and resulting
customer
dissatisfaction
could limit
future sales
opportunities,
could result
if we fail toour
attract,
train,These
and retain
services
personnel,
or if our
alliance companies
fail our
to commit
sufficient
resources
impact revenue,
and harm
reputation.
towards
implementing
our our
software.
These delays and resulting customer dissatisfaction could limit our future sales opportunities,
impact revenue, and harm our reputation.
Our pricing models may need to be modified due to price competition. The competitive markets in which we operate may
oblige usOur
to reduce
ourmodels
prices in
order
to contend
with thedue
pricing
models
of our competitors.
If our competitors
pricing
may
need
to be modified
to price
competition.
The competitive
markets in discount
which wecertain
operate may
products
weprices
may choose
prices
onthe
certain
products
in order toIfattract
or retain customers.
Any such
oblige
us or
to services,
reduce our
in ordertotolower
contend
with
pricing
modelsorofservices
our competitors.
our competitors
discount certain
price
modifications
likely
reduce
margins
andon
could
adversely
affect
our business,
results
of operations,
cash flow, and
products
or services,would
we may
choose
to lower
prices
certain
products
or services
in order
to attract
or retain customers.
Any such
financial
condition.
price modifications would likely reduce margins and could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flow, and
financial condition.
Our ability to license our software is highly dependent on the quality of our services offerings, and our failure to offer
high quality
adversely
affect is
our
software
licensing
andofresults
of operations.
ourfailure
customers
rely
Ourservices
ability tocould
license
our software
highly
dependent
on revenue
the quality
our services
offerings,Most
andof
our
to offer
to
some
extent
on
our
professional
services
to
aid
in
the
implementation
of
our
software
solutions.
Once
our
software
has
been
high quality services could adversely affect our software licensing revenue and results of operations. Most of our customers rely
installed
and deployed,
our customers
may depend
usimplementation
to provide themofwith
and Once
resolution
of issueshas
relating
to
some extent
on our professional
services
to aid inonthe
our ongoing
softwaresupport
solutions.
our software
been to our
software.
Therefore,
a high
level of service
is critical
continued
marketing
and sale
of ourand
solutions.
If we
or our relating
partnerstodoour
installed and
deployed,
our customers
may depend
onfor
us the
to provide
them
with ongoing
support
resolution
of issues
not
efficiently
and effectively
install
and deploy
our software
products, marketing
or succeedand
in helping
our solutions.
customersIfquickly
resolve
post-do
software.
Therefore,
a high level
of service
is critical
for the continued
sale of our
we or our
partners
deployment
issues,
our ability install
to sell and
software
products
to these
customers
would beinadversely
affected
and our
reputation
the
not
efficiently
and effectively
deploy
our software
products,
or succeed
helping our
customers
quickly
resolveinpostmarketplace issues,
and with
could
suffer. to
Inthese
turn, customers
our business,
results
of operations,
cashand
flow,
financialincondition
deployment
ourpotential
ability tocustomers
sell software
products
would
be adversely
affected
ourand
reputation
the
could
be materially
adversely
marketplace
and with
potentialaffected.
customers could suffer. In turn, our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition
could be materially adversely affected.
Our failure to manage the growth of our operations may adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash
flow, andOur
financial
to continue
increase the
scope
of our operations
and internationally.
This
failurecondition.
to manageWe
theplan
growth
of our to
operations
may
adversely
affect our domestically
business, results
of operations, cash
growth
may
place a significant
on to
ourcontinue
management
systems
resources.
We may further
expandand
domestically
or This
flow, and
financial
condition. strain
We plan
to increase
theand
scope
of our operations
domestically
internationally.
internationally
through
internal strain
growth
through
acquisitions
of related
companies
If we
fail to maintain
growth
may place
a significant
onorour
management
systems
and resources.
Weand
maytechnologies.
further expand
domestically
or continuity
in our executivethrough
officers;
develop
the management
skills of ourof
managers
and supervisors;
attract, retain,
train,
motivate continuity
our
internationally
internal
growth
or through acquisitions
related companies
and technologies.
If we
failand
to maintain
employees;
improve
our operational,
and skills
management
controls; and
and supervisors;
maintain adequate
systems
and procedures
in our executive
officers;
develop the financial,
management
of our managers
attract,reporting
retain, train,
and motivate
our
and
our management
andoperational,
informationfinancial,
control systems,
our business,
resultsand
of operations,
and cash
flow could
be negatively
impacted.
employees;
improve our
and management
controls;
maintain adequate
reporting
systems
and procedures
and our management and information control systems, our business, results of operations, and cash flow could be negatively impacted.
Our international operations have many associated risks. We continue to strategically manage our presence in
international
and these
efforts require
significant
management
attention
andtofinancial
resources.
We
may
not be in
able to
Ourmarkets,
international
operations
have many
associated
risks. We
continue
strategically
manage
our
presence
successfully penetrate
international
markets,
or,significant
if we do, there
can be noattention
assurance
we willresources.
grow ourWe
business
in these
markets
at
international
markets, and
these efforts
require
management
andthat
financial
may not
be able
to
the
same ratepenetrate
as in North
America. Because
and challenges,
success
is international
successfully
international
markets,of
or,these
if weinherent
do, therecomplexities
can be no assurance
that welack
will of
grow
our business
in thesemarkets
markets at
could
adversely
ourAmerica.
business,Because
results ofofoperations,
cashcomplexities
flow, and financial
condition.
the same
rate as affect
in North
these inherent
and challenges,
lack of success is international markets
could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition.
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We have international offices in Europe: the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and France; and in Asia: China, Japan,
Singapore,
India;
and Australia.
2002, our
presence
was limited toand
theFrance;
United and
Kingdom
and
the Netherlands.
Weand
have
international
officesUntil
in Europe:
the international
United Kingdom,
the Netherlands,
in Asia:
China,
Japan,
Our
expansion
into
other
international
markets
largely
began
in
2002.
We
have
committed
resources
to
maintaining
andNetherlands.
further
Singapore, and India; and Australia. Until 2002, our international presence was limited to the United Kingdom and the
expanding,
where
our salesmarkets
officeslargely
and sales
and in
support
key international
markets.
However,
ourfurther
efforts may
Our
expansion
intoappropriate,
other international
began
2002. channels
We haveincommitted
resources
to maintaining
and
not be successful.
sales
are offices
subjectand
to many
and difficulties,
those arising
from the
following:
building
expanding,
where International
appropriate, our
sales
sales risks
and support
channels including
in key international
markets.
However,
our efforts
may
and
maintaining
a
competitive
presence
in
new
markets;
staffing
and
managing
foreign
operations;
managing
international
systems
not be successful. International sales are subject to many risks and difficulties, including those arising from the following: building
integrators;
complying
with a variety
of in
foreign
laws; producing
versions
of our
products;managing
import andinternational
export restrictions
and maintaining
a competitive
presence
new markets;
staffing localized
and managing
foreign
operations;
systemsand
tariffs; enforcing
contracts
collecting
accounts
receivable;
unexpected
changes in
requirements;
protection and
for
integrators;
complying
withand
a variety
of foreign
laws;
producing
localized versions
of regulatory
our products;
import and reduced
export restrictions
intellectual
property
rights and
in some
countries;
potential
adverseunexpected
tax treatment;
less stringent
adherence
to ethicalreduced
and legal
standardsfor
by
tariffs; enforcing
contracts
collecting
accounts
receivable;
changes
in regulatory
requirements;
protection
prospective
customers
in
some
countries;
language
and
cultural
barriers;
currency
fluctuations;
political
and
economic
instability
intellectual property rights in some countries; potential adverse tax treatment; less stringent adherence to ethical and legal standards by
abroad;
and customers
seasonal fluctuations.
prospective
in some countries; language and cultural barriers; currency fluctuations; political and economic instability
abroad; and seasonal fluctuations.
Our operating results may include foreign currency gains and losses. Due to our international operations, we conduct a
portion ofOur
our operating
business inresults
currencies
thanforeign
the United
Statesgains
dollar.and
Ourlosses.
revenues,
operating operations,
profit and net
mayother
include
currency
Due expenses,
to our international
weincome
conductare
a
affectedof
when
the dollarinweakens
or strengthens
in relation
to other
currencies.
In addition,
we have
a largeprofit
development
center inare
portion
our business
currencies
other than the
United States
dollar.
Our revenues,
expenses,
operating
and net income
Bangalore,
India,
does
not have
natural in market
revenue
hedge
to mitigate
to oura operating
expense in
affected when
the that
dollar
weakens
or astrengthens
in relation
to other
currencies.
In currency
addition, risk
we have
large development
center in
India.
Fluctuations
in
the
value
of
other
currencies,
particularly
the
Indian
rupee,
could
significantly
affect
our
revenues,
Bangalore, India, that does not have a natural in market revenue hedge to mitigate currency risk to our operating expense expenses,
in
operating
profit and in
netthe
income.
India.
Fluctuations
value of other currencies, particularly the Indian rupee, could significantly affect our revenues, expenses,
operating profit and net income.
Fluctuations in our hardware sales may adversely affect us. A portion of our revenue in any period is from the resale of a
variety ofFluctuations
third-party hardware
products to
purchasers
of our software.
may
purchase
hardware
in our hardware
sales
may adversely
affect us.However,
A portionour
of customers
our revenue
in any
periodthese
is from
the resale of a
productsofdirectly
fromhardware
manufacturers
or distributors
rather
than
from the
Company.
view sales
ofpurchase
hardwarethese
as non-strategic.
variety
third-party
products
to purchasers
of our
software.
However,
ourWe
customers
may
hardware We
perform
service
to manufacturers
our customers seeking
a singlerather
source
forfrom
theirthe
supply
chain needs.
Hardware
are difficult
to forecastWe
and
productsthis
directly
from
or distributors
than
Company.
We view
sales ofsales
hardware
as non-strategic.
fluctuate
from
quarter
to
quarter,
leading
to
unusual
comparisons
of
total
revenue
and
fluctuations
in
profits.
If
we
are
unable
to
perform this service to our customers seeking a single source for their supply chain needs. Hardware sales are difficult to forecast and
maintain from
or grow
our hardware
business,
results of operations,
cash flow,
and financial
be unable
adversely
fluctuate
quarter
to quarter,revenue,
leading our
to unusual
comparisons
of total revenue
and fluctuations
incondition
profits. Ifmay
we are
to
affected. or grow our hardware revenue, our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition may be adversely
maintain
affected.
Our technology must be advanced if we are to remain competitive. The market for our products is characterized by rapid
technological
change, frequent
product introductions
enhancements,
changes
in customer
evolving industry
Our technology
mustnew
be advanced
if we are to and
remain
competitive.
The market
for ourdemands,
products and
is characterized
by rapid
standards.
Ourchange,
existingfrequent
productsnew
could
be rendered
obsolete
if enhancements,
we fail to continue
to advance
our technology.
We evolving
have alsoindustry
found that
technological
product
introductions
and
changes
in customer
demands, and
the
technological
life cycles
of our
products
are difficult
to estimate,
because
of changing
demands ofWe
other
participants
the
standards.
Our existing
products
could
be rendered
obsolete
if we failpartially
to continue
to advance
our technology.
have
also foundinthat
supply
chain. We life
believe
thatofour
success
will depend
in large partially
part uponbecause
our ability
to continue
to enhance
ourparticipants
current product
the
technological
cycles
ourfuture
products
are difficult
to estimate,
of changing
demands
of other
in the
line while
we We
concurrently
develop
and introduce
newdepend
products
that keep
competitive
and technological
developments.
supply
chain.
believe that
our future
success will
in large
part pace
upon with
our ability
to continue
to enhance our
current product
These
developments
requiredevelop
us to continue
to make
substantial
development
investments.and
Although
we aredevelopments.
presently
line while
we concurrently
and introduce
new
productsproduct
that keep
pace with competitive
technological
developing
a numberrequire
of product
to our
product sets,
we cannot
assure you
that theseAlthough
enhancements
be completed
These developments
us toenhancements
continue to make
substantial
product
development
investments.
we arewill
presently
on a timely abasis
or gain
customer
acceptance. to our product sets, we cannot assure you that these enhancements will be completed
developing
number
of product
enhancements
on a timely basis or gain customer acceptance.
Our research and development activities may not generate significant returns. Our product development activities are
costly, and
recovering
in product
development
may take significant
a significantreturns.
amountOur
of time,
if it development
occurs at all. activities
We anticipate
Our
researchour
andinvestment
development
activities
may not generate
product
are
continuing
make significant
investments
in software
researchmay
andtake
development
andamount
related of
product
opportunities
because
we
costly,
and to
recovering
our investment
in product
development
a significant
time, if
it occurs at all.
We anticipate
believe
thattowemake
mustsignificant
continue to
allocate a significant
ofand
resources
to our research
andproduct
development
activities
in order
continuing
investments
in softwareamount
research
development
and related
opportunities
because
weto
compete
successfully.
We
cannot
estimate
with
any
certainty
when
we
will,
if
ever,
receive
significant
revenues
from
these
believe that we must continue to allocate a significant amount of resources to our research and development activities in order to
investments.
compete
successfully. We cannot estimate with any certainty when we will, if ever, receive significant revenues from these
investments.
Our liability to clients may be substantial if our systems fail. Our products are often critical to the operations of our
customers’
businesses
provide
benefits
that may be
difficult
to quantify.
our products
fail to
function
as required,
Our
liability and
to clients
may
be substantial
if our
systems
fail. OurIfproducts
are often
critical
to the
operationswe
ofmay
our be
subject to claims
for substantial
damages.
maybenot
enforcetoprovisions
ourproducts
contractsfail
thattowould
limit
liability
customers’
businesses
and provide
benefitsCourts
that may
difficult
quantify. Ifinour
function
as our
required,
weormay be
otherwise
protect for
us from
liability
for damages.
a lawsuit,
regardless
of its
merit, could
be costly
and
management’s
subject to claims
substantial
damages.
CourtsDefending
may not enforce
provisions
in our
contracts
that would
limit
ourdivert
liability
or
time
and
attention.
Although
we
maintain
general
liability
insurance
and
error
and
omissions
coverage,
these
coverages
may not
otherwise protect us from liability for damages. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s
continue
be available
on reasonable
terms
or in liability
sufficientinsurance
amountsand
to cover
against us.
In addition,
insurer may
may not
disclaim
time
and to
attention.
Although
we maintain
general
error claims
and omissions
coverage,
theseour
coverages
coverage to
as be
to available
any futureonclaim.
If claims
exceeding
the available
insurance
coverage
are successfully
asserted
or our
continue
reasonable
terms
or in sufficient
amounts
to cover
claims against
us. In addition,
ouragainst
insurerus,
may
disclaim
insurer
imposes
premium
increases
or large
deductibles
co-insurance
requirements
on us,
then our business,
coverage
as to any
future claim.
If claims
exceeding
the or
available
insurance
coverage are
successfully
asserted results
againstof
us,operations,
or our
cash
flow,
and financial
be adversely
affected.
insurer
imposes
premiumcondition
increasescould
or large
deductibles
or co-insurance requirements on us, then our business, results of operations,
cash flow, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
We incorporate third-party software in our solutions, the failure or unavailability of which could adversely affect our
ability toWe
sell,incorporate
support, and
service our
products.
Wesolutions,
incorporate
include
third-party software
into could
and with
certain of
our our
third-party
software
in our
theand
failure
or unavailability
of which
adversely
affect
ability to sell, support, and service our products. We incorporate and include third-party software into and with certain of our
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products and solutions and expect to continue to do so. The operation of our products could be impaired if there are defects in that
third-party
software.
It and
mayexpect
be difficult
for us to
anyoperation
defects inofthird-party
software
the development
and maintenance
products and
solutions
to continue
to correct
do so. The
our products
couldbecause
be impaired
if there are defects
in that
of
the
software
is
not
within
our
control.
Such
defects
could
adversely
affected
or
business.
third-party software. It may be difficult for us to correct any defects in third-party software because the development and maintenance
of the software is not within our control. Such defects could adversely affected or business.
In addition, there can be no assurance that these third parties will continue to make their software available to us on
acceptable
or at
all; can
not make
products
toparties
our competitors
on more
favorable
terms; invest
the appropriate
In terms,
addition,
there
be no their
assurance
that available
these third
will continue
to make
their software
available
to us on levels
of
resources
in
their
products
and
services
to
maintain
and
enhance
the
capabilities
of
their
software;
or
remain
in
business.
Anylevels
acceptable terms, or at all; not make their products available to our competitors on more favorable terms; invest the appropriate
impairment
with
these third
parties or
abilitythe
to license
or otherwise
use their software
have a material
of
resourcesin
inour
theirrelationship
products and
services
to maintain
andour
enhance
capabilities
of their software;
or remaincould
in business.
Any
adverse
effect
business, with
results
of operations,
flow,
and financial
impairment
in on
ourour
relationship
these
third partiescash
or our
ability
to licensecondition.
or otherwise use their software could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition.
The use of open source software in our products may expose us to additional risks and harm our intellectual property.
Some of our
use or
incorporate
software
is subject
one or us
more
open sourcerisks
licenses.
Open source
software isproperty.
Theproducts
use of open
source
software
in ourthat
products
maytoexpose
to additional
and harm
our intellectual
typically
freely
accessible,
and modifiable.
Certain
open source
licenses
require
a userOpen
who source
intendssoftware
to distribute
Some
of our
products
use orusable
incorporate
software that
is subject
to one software
or more open
source
licenses.
is the
open
source
software
as
a
component
of
the
user’s
software
to
disclose
publicly
part
or
all
of
the
source
code
to
the
user’s
software.
typically freely accessible, usable and modifiable. Certain open source software licenses require a user who intends to distribute the In
addition,
certain
open as
source
softwareof
licenses
require
the user
of such software
to make
derivative
theuser’s
open software.
source code
open
source
software
a component
the user’s
software
to disclose
publicly part
or allany
of the
source works
code toofthe
In
available certain
to others
on unfavorable
terms
or at norequire
cost. This
can of
subject
software toworks
openof
source
license
terms.
addition,
open
source software
licenses
the user
such previously
software toproprietary
make any derivative
the open
source
code
available to others on unfavorable terms or at no cost. This can subject previously proprietary software to open source license terms.
While we monitor the use of all open source software in our products, processes, and technology and try to ensure that no
open source
software
is usedthe
in use
suchofaall
way
as to
require
us to disclose
the source
code to the
product
solution,
such
use
While
we monitor
open
source
software
in our products,
processes,
andrelated
technology
andortry
to ensure
that
no
could
inadvertently
Additionally,
if aasthird-party
provider
incorporated
source
software
into software
we
open source
softwareoccur.
is used
in such a way
to requiresoftware
us to disclose
the has
source
code to theopen
related
product
or solution,
such use
license
from them for
use in
our productsifand
solutions,software
we could,provider
under certain
circumstances,
required
to disclose
the source
could inadvertently
occur.
Additionally,
a third-party
has incorporated
openbe
source
software
into software
wecode
to our products
andfor
solutions.
This
could harm
our intellectual
property
and have a material
adversetoeffect
on our
license
from them
use in our
products
and solutions,
we could,
underposition
certain circumstances,
be required
disclose
the business,
source code
results
of operations,
cash flow,
andcould
financial
to
our products
and solutions.
This
harmcondition.
our intellectual property position and have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition.
If we are unable to develop software applications that interoperate with computing platforms developed by others,
We develop
software
our business,
of operations,
flow, applications
and financialthat
condition
may bewith
adversely
affected.
If we results
are unable
to developcash
software
interoperate
computing
platforms
developed
by others,
applications
interoperate
with operating
systems,
database platforms,
and hardware
devices
developed
others,software
which we refer
We by
develop
our business,that
results
of operations,
cash flow,
and financial
condition may
be adversely
affected.
to
collectively
as interoperate
computing platforms.
If thesystems,
developers
of these
computing
not cooperate
with
or wewhich
are unable
to
applications
that
with operating
database
platforms,
andplatforms
hardwaredo
devices
developed
byus
others,
we refer
devote
the necessary
resources
so that our
applications
with those
computing
our with
software
efforts
to
collectively
as computing
platforms.
If the
developersinteroperate
of these computing
platforms
do platforms,
not cooperate
us ordevelopment
we are unable
to
may bethe
delayed
and our
business
of operations
may be adversely
affected.
When
new or updated
versions
of these efforts
devote
necessary
resources
soand
thatresults
our applications
interoperate
with those
computing
platforms,
our software
development
computing
platforms
arebusiness
introduced,
is often
us be
to develop
versions
ourorsoftware
so that they
may be delayed
and our
anditresults
of necessary
operationsfor
may
adverselyupdated
affected.
When of
new
updated applications
versions of these
interoperateplatforms
properly are
withintroduced,
these computing
platforms.
Wefor
may
accomplish
theseversions
development
quickly
or cost-effectively,
computing
it is often
necessary
us not
to develop
updated
of our efforts
software
applications
so that they
and it is difficult
to predict
what computing
the relativeplatforms.
growth rates
adoption
of these computing
platformsefforts
will be.
These or
development
efforts
interoperate
properly
with these
Weofmay
not accomplish
these development
quickly
cost-effectively,
require
substantial
employee
and the cooperation
of the computing
and it issubstantial
difficult toinvestment,
predict whatthe
thedevotion
relative of
growth
rates of
adoptionresources,
of these computing
platforms of
willthebe.developers
These development
efforts
platforms.
For someinvestment,
computingthe
platforms,
obtain employee
some proprietary
application
program interfaces
from the owner
order to
require substantial
devotionwe
of must
substantial
resources,
and the cooperation
of the developers
of the in
computing
develop software
applications
interoperate
with obtain
the computing
platforms.application
Computing
platform
providersfrom
havethe
noowner
obligation
to to
platforms.
For some
computingthat
platforms,
we must
some proprietary
program
interfaces
in order
assist
in software
these development
efforts.
If they do not
provide
us with assistance
the necessary
proprietary
application
develop
applications
that interoperate
with
the computing
platforms.orComputing
platform
providers
have noprogram
obligation to
interfaces
on adevelopment
timely basis, efforts.
we mayIfexperience
or us
be with
unable
to expand
other areas.
assist in these
they do notdelays
provide
assistance
or our
the software
necessaryapplications
proprietary into
application
program
interfaces on a timely basis, we may experience delays or be unable to expand our software applications into other areas.
The computing platforms we use may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms. Any loss of the
right to useThe
anycomputing
of these systems
could
in delays
in the provision
of our to
products
and services, reasonable
and our results
of Any
operations
platforms
weresult
use may
not continue
to be available
us on commercially
terms.
loss ofmay
the
be
adversely
affected.
Defects
in could
computing
in errors
failure ofand
ourservices,
products,and
which
could harm
our business.
right
to use any
of these
systems
resultplatforms
in delays could
in the result
provision
of ourorproducts
our results
of operations
may
be adversely affected. Defects in computing platforms could result in errors or failure of our products, which could harm our business.
Our software may contain undetected errors or “bugs,” or may be breached by hackers, resulting in harm to our
reputation
and
operating
products
as or
complex
as or
those
offered
by us might
contain undetected
Our
software
mayresults.
containSoftware
undetected
errors
“bugs,”
may
be breached
by hackers,
resulting inerrors
harmortofailures
our
when
first
introduced
or
when
new
versions
are
released,
or
may
be
vulnerable
to
hackers.
Despite
testing,
we
cannot
ensure
that
reputation and operating results. Software products as complex as those offered by us might contain undetected errors
or failures
errors first
will introduced
not be found
newnew
products
or product
enhancements
commercial
release,Despite
or that testing,
malefactors
will not
breach
these
when
or in
when
versions
are released,
or may beafter
vulnerable
to hackers.
we cannot
ensure
that
systems.
or security
breaches or
could
causeenhancements
substantial harm
our reputation,
result
additional
unplanned
to
errors
willAny
noterrors
be found
in new products
product
aftertocommercial
release,
or in
that
malefactors
will notexpenses
breach these
remedy any
delay
the introduction
of new
products,
result
in the
of existing result
or potential
customers,
or cause
a loss into
systems.
Anydefects,
errors or
security
breaches could
cause
substantial
harm
to loss
our reputation,
in additional
unplanned
expenses
revenue.any
Further,
such
errors
breaches could
subject
us to result
claimsinfrom
our customers
significant
damages,or
and
we cannot
assure
remedy
defects,
delay
theorintroduction
of new
products,
the loss
of existingfor
or potential
customers,
cause
a loss in
you that courts
would
provisions
in subject
our customer
agreements
that customers
limit our liability
for damages.
In turn,
ourcannot
business,
revenue.
Further,
suchenforce
errors orthe
breaches
could
us to claims
from our
for significant
damages,
and we
assure
results
operations,
flow,
financialincondition
couldagreements
be materially
adversely
you thatofcourts
wouldcash
enforce
theand
provisions
our customer
that
limit ouraffected.
liability for damages. In turn, our business,
results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
Our inability to attract, integrate, and retain management and other personnel may adversely affect us. Our success
greatly depends
on the continued
of our
executives,
as well as our
other
keypersonnel
senior management,
technical
and sales
Our inability
to attract,service
integrate,
and
retain management
and
other
may adversely
affectpersonnel,
us. Our success
personnel.
Our success
will depend
on theofability
of our executive
to work
as a team. The
loss of any
of our senior
greatly depends
on the continued
service
our executives,
as wellofficers
as our other
keytogether
senior management,
technical
personnel,
and sales
personnel. Our success will depend on the ability of our executive officers to work together as a team. The loss of any of our senior
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management or other key professional services, research and development, sales and marketing personnel—particularly if they are lost
to
competitors—could
impair
our ability
to growresearch
our business.
We do not maintain
man lifepersonnel—particularly
insurance on any of our ifexecutive
management
or other key
professional
services,
and development,
sales andkey
marketing
they are lost
officers.
to competitors—could impair our ability to grow our business. We do not maintain key man life insurance on any of our executive
officers.
Our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to attract, retain, and motivate highly skilled employees. We
face significant
competition
for individuals
with part
the skills
to to
perform
services
offer, highly
and thus
we may
encounter
Our future
success will
depend in large
upon required
our ability
attract,the
retain,
and we
motivate
skilled
employees.
We
increased
compensation
costs
that
are
not
offset
by
increased
revenue.
We
cannot
guarantee
that
we
will
be
able
to
attract
and retain
face significant competition for individuals with the skills required to perform the services we offer, and thus we may encounter
sufficient numbers
of these
highly
skilled
employees
or motivate
them.We
Because
the complexity
the be
supply
market,
we may
increased
compensation
costs
that are
not offset
by increased
revenue.
cannotofguarantee
that weofwill
able chain
to attract
and retain
experience
a significant
timehighly
lag between
date on or
which
technical
sales personnel
are hiredof
and
time at
which
thesewe may
sufficient numbers
of these
skilled the
employees
motivate
them.and
Because
of the complexity
thethe
supply
chain
market,
persons
become
fully productive.
experience
a significant
time lag between the date on which technical and sales personnel are hired and the time at which these
persons become fully productive.
Our growth is dependent upon the successful development of our direct and indirect sales channel mix. We believe that
our futureOur
growth
also iswill
depend on
further
and maintaining
successful
direct
sales force
strategic
growth
dependent
upon
thedeveloping
successful development
of aour
direct and
indirect
sales and
channel
mix.relationships
We believe that
with
systems
integrators
and
other
technology
companies.
We
are
currently
investing,
and
plan
to
continue
to
invest,
our future growth also will depend on further developing and maintaining a successful direct sales force and strategicsignificant
relationships
resources
to further
develop
of our salescompanies.
channels. Our
adversely
affecttoour
operating
resultssignificant
if these efforts
with
systems
integrators
andcertain
other technology
We investment
are currentlycould
investing,
and plan
continue
to invest,
do
not generate
license
and service
necessary
to offset
the investment.
our inability
to partner
with
otheriftechnology
resources
to further
develop
certain revenue
of our sales
channels.
Our investment
couldAlso,
adversely
affect our
operating
results
these efforts
companies
and qualified
systems
integrators
could adversely
affect
our results of
operations.
Because
lower unit
are typically
do
not generate
license and
service
revenue necessary
to offset
the investment.
Also,
our inability
to partner
withprices
other technology
charged on and
salesqualified
made through
indirect
channels,
disproportionate
increase
salesBecause
could reduce
selling
prices
companies
systems
integrators
coulda adversely
affect our
resultsinofindirect
operations.
lowerour
unitaverage
prices are
typically
and
resultoninsales
lower
gross
margins.
In addition,
sales
of our products through
channels
typically
do not
charged
made
through
indirect
channels,
a disproportionate
increaseindirect
in indirect
sales could
reduce
ourgenerate
average consulting
selling prices
services
forgross
us atmargins.
the sameInlevels
as direct
the third-party
generallydo
provide
these services.
and resultrevenue
in lower
addition,
salessales,
of ourasproducts
throughsystems
indirectintegrators
channels typically
not generate
consulting
Similarly,
indirect
sales
typically
do
not
generate
the
same
levels
of
direct
contact
between
our
human
resources
and those
of our
services revenue for us at the same levels as direct sales, as the third-party systems integrators generally provide these
services.
customer, and
we may
moredo
difficulty
accurately
forecasting
customer
and recognizing
Similarly,
indirect
saleshave
typically
not generate
the same
levels ofsales,
directevaluating
contact between
oursatisfaction,
human resources
and those emerging
of our
customer
In addition,
these systems
integrators
and third-party
software
providers
may develop,
acquire, or market
customer,requirements.
and we may have
more difficulty
accurately
forecasting
sales, evaluating
customer
satisfaction,
and recognizing
emerging
products
with
products.
customer competitive
requirements.
In our
addition,
these systems integrators and third-party software providers may develop, acquire, or market
products competitive with our products.
Our strategy of marketing our products directly to customers and indirectly through systems integrators and other technology
companies
may
result of
in marketing
distributionour
channel
conflicts.
direct salesand
efforts
may compete
those
of our indirect
channels
and, to
Our
strategy
products
directlyOur
to customers
indirectly
through with
systems
integrators
and other
technology
the
extent
different
systems
integrators
target
the
same
customers,
systems
integrators
may
also
come
into
conflict
with
each
other.
companies may result in distribution channel conflicts. Our direct sales efforts may compete with those of our indirect channels and, to
Anyextent
channel
conflicts
that develop
maytarget
have athe
material
adverse effect
on our
relationships
systems
or harm
the
different
systems
integrators
same customers,
systems
integrators
may with
also come
intointegrators
conflict with
each our
other.
ability
to attract
new systems
integrators.
Any channel
conflicts
that develop
may have a material adverse effect on our relationships with systems integrators or harm our
ability to attract new systems integrators.
Our employee retention and hiring may be hindered by immigration restrictions. Foreign nationals who are not U.S.
citizens or
permanent
residents
constitute
a significant
of ourby
professional
U.S.restrictions.
workforce. Our
ability
to hire who
and retain
Our
employee
retention
and hiring
may be part
hindered
immigration
Foreign
nationals
are notthese
U.S.
workers,
their ability
to remain
and work
in the U.S.
areofimpacted
by laws U.S.
and regulations
well
as bytoprocessing
procedures
citizens orand
permanent
residents
constitute
a significant
part
our professional
workforce. as
Our
ability
hire and retain
these of
various
agencies.
Changes
laws,
procedures
mayand
adversely
affectasour
ability
hire or retain
such of
workers,government
and their ability
to remain
and in
work
in regulations,
the U.S. are or
impacted
by laws
regulations
well
as bytoprocessing
procedures
workersgovernment
and may affect
our costs
of doing
business
and/or our
to deliver
services. affect our ability to hire or retain such
various
agencies.
Changes
in laws,
regulations,
or ability
procedures
may adversely
workers and may affect our costs of doing business and/or our ability to deliver services.
Our failure to adequately protect our proprietary rights may adversely affect us. Our success and ability to compete is
dependent
in part
upontoour
proprietary
technology.
There are no
assurances
that we will
be able
to protect
rights is
Our
failure
adequately
protect
our proprietary
rights
may adversely
affect
us. Our
successour
andproprietary
ability to compete
against
unauthorized
disclosure
or third-party
copying
or use.
Weassurances
rely on a combination
of copyright,
trademark,
and traderights
secret
dependent
in part upon
our proprietary
technology.
There
are no
that we will be
able to protect
our proprietary
laws,
well as confidentiality
licensing
andoncontractual
commitments,
to establish
andand
protect
againstasunauthorized
disclosureagreements,
or third-party
copyingarrangements,
or use. We rely
a combination
of copyright,
trademark,
trade our
secret
proprietary
Despite our efforts
to protect
our proprietary
rights,
copyright,
trademark,
trade and
secret
laws our
afford only
laws, as wellrights.
as confidentiality
agreements,
licensing
arrangements,
andexisting
contractual
commitments,
to and
establish
protect
limited
protection.
In addition,
the laws
certain
countries
do existing
not protect
our rights
to the same
do the
laws
of the
proprietary
rights. Despite
our efforts
to of
protect
ourforeign
proprietary
rights,
copyright,
trademark,
andextent
trade as
secret
laws
afford
only
United States.
Attempts
may bethe
made
copy
or reverse
our products
or to
to the
obtain
andextent
use information
thatofwethe
limited
protection.
In addition,
lawstoof
certain
foreignengineer
countriesaspects
do notof
protect
our rights
same
as do the laws
regard
proprietary.
Any
infringement
ouror
proprietary
rights could
negatively
impact our
results. Furthermore,
United as
States.
Attempts
may
be made to of
copy
reverse engineer
aspects
of our products
or tofuture
obtainoperating
and use information
that we
policing
the
unauthorized
use
of
our
products
is
difficult,
and
litigation
may
be
necessary
in
the
future
to
enforce
our intellectual
regard as proprietary. Any infringement of our proprietary rights could negatively impact our future operating results.
Furthermore,
property the
rights,
to protect use
our trade
or istodifficult,
determine
thelitigation
validity may
and scope
of the proprietary
rights
of others.
policing
unauthorized
of oursecrets,
products
and
be necessary
in the future
to enforce
our Litigation
intellectualcould
result
in substantial
costs and
of resources.
In turn,
business,
of the
operations,
cashrights
flow,ofand
financial
condition
property
rights, to protect
our diversion
trade secrets,
or to determine
theour
validity
and results
scope of
proprietary
others.
Litigation
could
could
be
materially
adversely
affected.
result in substantial costs and diversion of resources. In turn, our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition
could be materially adversely affected.
Our liability for intellectual property claims can be costly and result in the loss of significant rights. It is possible that
third parties
claim for
thatintellectual
we have infringed
their
current
future
products,
inventions,
or other
intellectual
property.
We expect
Ourwill
liability
property
claims
canorbe
costly
and result
in the loss
of significant
rights.
It is possible
that
that
supply
chain
software
developers
like
us
will
increasingly
be
subject
to
infringement
claims
as
the
number
of
products
third parties will claim that we have infringed their current or future products, inventions, or other intellectual property. Wegrows.
expect
Anysupply
claims,chain
with software
or withoutdevelopers
merit, could
in costly
litigation, cause
product
delays,
or require
that
likebeustime-consuming,
will increasinglyresult
be subject
to infringement
claims
as theshipment
number of
products
grows.us to
pay monetary
damages
or to merit,
enter into
royalty
or licensing agreements,
any oflitigation,
which could
negatively
impact our
operating
results.
Any
claims, with
or without
could
be time-consuming,
result in costly
cause
product shipment
delays,
or require
us to
There
are no assurances
royalty
or licensing
agreements,
if required,
would could
be available
on terms
acceptable
to us,results.
if at all.
pay monetary
damages orthat
to these
enter into
royalty
or licensing
agreements,
any of which
negatively
impact
our operating
There are no assurances that these royalty or licensing agreements, if required, would be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all.
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We also may be required to indemnify our customers for damages they suffer as a result of such infringement. There are no assurances
that also
legalmay
action
patent
infringement
will notfor
be damages
commenced
that we
would
prevail in litigation
given
the
We
be claiming
required to
indemnify
our customers
theyagainst
suffer us,
as aorresult
of such
infringement.
There are
no assurances
complex
technical
issues
and
inherent
uncertainties
in
patent
litigation.
If
a
patent
claim
against
us
were
successful
and
we
could
that legal action claiming patent infringement will not be commenced against us, or that we would prevail in litigation given the not
obtain a license
on issues
acceptable
terms oruncertainties
license a substitute
technology
the product
feature
to avoid infringement,
complex
technical
and inherent
in patent
litigation.orIf redesign
a patent claim
againstorus
were successful
and we couldwenot
may
beaprevented
distributing
software
or required
to incur significant
expense
and delay
in developing
non-infringingwe
obtain
license onfrom
acceptable
termsour
or license
a substitute
technology
or redesign
the product
or feature
to avoid infringement,
software.
Any of these
could our
seriously
harm
business,
results
of operations,
cash
financial condition.
may
be prevented
fromevents
distributing
software
or our
required
to incur
significant
expense
andflow,
delayand
in developing
non-infringing
software. Any of these events could seriously harm our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition.
Mergers or other strategic transactions involving our competitors could weaken our competitive position or reduce
our revenue.
Our competitors
have been
consolidating,
whichour
maycompetitors
make them could
more formidable
to position
us. Competing
with
Mergers
or other strategic
transactions
involving
weaken ourcompetitors
competitive
or reduce
stronger
companies
may
cause
us
to
experience
pricing
pressure
and
loss
of
market
share,
either
of
which
could
have
a
material
our revenue. Our competitors have been consolidating, which may make them more formidable competitors to us. Competing with
adverse effect
on ourmay
business,
results
of operations,
cash
flow, and
condition.
Our
competitors
establish
strengthen
stronger
companies
cause us
to experience
pricing
pressure
andfinancial
loss of market
share,
either
of whichmay
could
have a or
material
their
cooperative
vendors,
systemscash
integrators,
third-party
or other parties.
Established
companies
adverse
effect on relationships
our business, with
results
of operations,
flow, and
financial consulting
condition. firms,
Our competitors
may establish
or strengthen
may
only develop
their ownwith
products
but systems
may alsointegrators,
acquire or third-party
partner withconsulting
our current
competitors.
If any ofEstablished
these events
occur,
their not
cooperative
relationships
vendors,
firms,
or other parties.
companies
our revenue
profitability
could
significantly
decline.
may
not onlyand
develop
their own
products
but may
also acquire or partner with our current competitors. If any of these events occur,
our revenue and profitability could significantly decline.
Our business, results of operations, cash flow, and financial condition may be adversely affected if we cannot integrate
acquiredOur
companies
orresults
manage
ventures.
Weflow,
mayand
fromfinancial
time to time
acquiremay
companies
with complementary
productsintegrate
and
business,
ofjoint
operations,
cash
condition
be adversely
affected if we cannot
services. These
acquisitions
will expose
us to increased
risks
andtime
costs,
those
arising from
following: assimilating
new
acquired
companies
or manage
joint ventures.
We may
from
to including
time acquire
companies
withthe
complementary
products and
operationsThese
and personnel;
diverting
financial
management
resources
from existing
and
services.
acquisitions
will expose
us toand
increased
risks and
costs, including
thoseoperations;
arising from
theintegrating
following:acquired
assimilating new
technologies.
may not diverting
be able tofinancial
generateand
sufficient
revenueresources
from anyfrom
of these
acquisitions
to offset
the associated
acquisition
operations
andWe
personnel;
management
existing
operations;
and integrating
acquired
costs.
technologies. We may not be able to generate sufficient revenue from any of these acquisitions to offset the associated acquisition
costs.
We will also be required to maintain uniform standards of quality and service, controls, procedures, and policies. Our failure
to achieveWe
any
of also
thesebestandards
hurt relationships
with customers,
employees,
andcontrols,
new management
personnel.
In addition,
will
requiredmay
to maintain
uniform standards
of quality
and service,
procedures,
and policies.
Our failure
future
acquisitions
maystandards
result in additional
issuances of stock
that could be
dilutive toand
ournew
shareholders.
to
achieve
any of these
may hurt relationships
with customers,
employees,
management personnel. In addition,
future acquisitions may result in additional issuances of stock that could be dilutive to our shareholders.
Many acquisition candidates have significant intangible assets, and an acquisition of these businesses would likely result in
significant
amounts
of goodwill
and other
Goodwill
and
certain
other intangible
are notwould
amortized
income,
Many
acquisition
candidates
haveintangible
significantassets.
intangible
assets,
and
an acquisition
of theseassets
businesses
likelytoresult
in
but are subject
to at least
annual and
impairment
reviews.assets.
If the acquisitions
docertain
not perform
as planned,assets
futureare
charges
to income
significant
amounts
of goodwill
other intangible
Goodwill and
other intangible
not amortized
to arising
income,
fromare
such
impairment
reviews
be significant.
future quarterly
annual
significantly
adversely
but
subject
to at least
annualcould
impairment
reviews.Likewise,
If the acquisitions
do not and
perform
as earnings
planned, could
futurebe
charges
to income
arising
affected.
addition, these
acquisitions
involveLikewise,
acquisition-related
charges,
as one-time
acquired
research and adversely
development
from suchInimpairment
reviews
could becould
significant.
future quarterly
andsuch
annual
earnings could
be significantly
charges.
affected. In addition, these acquisitions could involve acquisition-related charges, such as one-time acquired research and development
charges.
We may also evaluate joint venture relationships with complementary businesses. Any joint venture we enter into would
involve many
of the
same
risks joint
posedventure
by acquisitions,
particularly
the following:businesses.
risks associated
withventure
the diversion
resources;
We may
also
evaluate
relationships
with complementary
Any joint
we enterofinto
would the
inabilitymany
to generate
management
of relationships
with thirdrisks
parties;
and potential
additional
involve
of the sufficient
same risksrevenue;
posed bythe
acquisitions,
particularly
the following:
associated
with the
diversionexpenses.
of resources; the
inability to generate sufficient revenue; the management of relationships with third parties; and potential additional expenses.
Our business may require additional capital. We may require additional capital to finance our growth or to fund
acquisitions
investments
complementary
businesses,
technologies
or additional
product lines.
Ourtocapital
requirements
impacted by
Ourorbusiness
mayinrequire
additional
capital. We
may require
capital
finance
our growth may
or to be
fund
many factors,orincluding:
demand
for our products;
the timing
of and extent
to which
we Our
invest
in new
technology;may
the be
timing
of andby
acquisitions
investments
in complementary
businesses,
technologies
or product
lines.
capital
requirements
impacted
extent factors,
to whichincluding:
we acquire
other companies;
the level
timing
of revenue;
expenses
of sales
andtechnology;
marketing and
product
many
demand
for our products;
theand
timing
of and
extent tothe
which
we invest
in new
the new
timing
of and
development;
related
expensethe
of level
increasing
our brand
awareness;
the cost ofoffacilities
accommodate
a growing
extent to whichthewesuccess
acquireand
other
companies;
and timing
of revenue;
the expenses
sales andtomarketing
and new
product
workforce;
thethe
extent
to which
competitors
areofsuccessful
developing
new products
andof
increasing
market share;
and the costs
development;
success
and related
expense
increasinginour
brand awareness;
the cost
facilities their
to accommodate
a growing
involved in the
maintaining
enforcing
intellectual
propertyinrights.
workforce;
extent to and
which
competitors
are successful
developing new products and increasing their market share; and the costs
involved in maintaining and enforcing intellectual property rights.
To the extent that our resources are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds through
public orTo
private
financing.
However,
additional
funding,toiffund
needed,
not
be available
on terms
to us, or at
all. In
the extent
that our
resources
are insufficient
our may
future
activities,
we may
need attractive
to raise additional
funds
through
addition,
wefinancing.
have historically
financed
our funding,
growth through
cash
flow
operations
available
cash,
our or
relative
public
or since
private
However,
additional
if needed,
may
notfrom
be available
onand
terms
attractive
to us,
at all. In
inexperience
accessing
the credit financed
or capitalour
markets
may
impaircash
our flow
ability
to do
so if the and
needavailable
arises. Our
inability
to raise capital
addition, sinceinwe
have historically
growth
through
from
operations
cash,
our relative
when
needed
could
have
a
material
adverse
effect
on
our
business,
results
of
operations,
cash
flow
and
financial
condition.
If capital
inexperience in accessing the credit or capital markets may impair our ability to do so if the need arises. Our inability to raise
additional
funds
are have
raiseda material
through the
issuance
ofon
equity
securities,results
the percentage
ownership
of our
by our current
when
needed
could
adverse
effect
our business,
of operations,
cash flow
andcompany
financialheld
condition.
If
shareholders
would
diluted.
additional
funds
are be
raised
through the issuance of equity securities, the percentage ownership of our company held by our current
shareholders would be diluted.
Our stock price has been highly volatile. The trading price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly since our
initial public
in April
In addition,
the The
trading
priceprice
of our
stockstock
couldhas
befluctuated
subject to significantly
wide fluctuations
Ouroffering
stock price
has 1998.
been highly
volatile.
trading
of common
our common
since in
our
response
to various
factors,
including:
macro-economic
contraction
impacting
forsubject
supplytochain
quarterly
initial public
offering
in April
1998. In global
addition,
the trading price
of our common
stockdemand
could be
widesolutions;
fluctuations
in
response to various factors, including: global macro-economic contraction impacting demand for supply chain solutions; quarterly
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variations in operating results; announcements of technological innovations or new products by us or our competitors; developments
with
respect
patents or
proprietary
rights; changes
in financialinnovations
estimates by
analysts;
mergers,
acquisitions,
and
variations
in to
operating
results;
announcements
of technological
orsecurities
new products
by usand
or our
competitors;
developments
combinations
involving
our
competitors
or
us.
with respect to patents or proprietary rights; changes in financial estimates by securities analysts; and mergers, acquisitions, and
combinations involving our competitors or us.
During 2012, we repurchased approximately $99.7 million of Manhattan Associates’ outstanding common stock under the
share repurchase
program
by approximately
our Board of Directors
throughout
the year.Associates’
In Januaryoutstanding
2013, our Board
of Directors
approved
During 2012,
we approved
repurchased
$99.7 million
of Manhattan
common
stock under
the
raising
our
remaining
share
repurchase
authority
to
$50.0
million
of
Manhattan
Associates
outstanding
common
stock.
share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors throughout the year. In January 2013, our Board of Directors approved
raising our remaining share repurchase authority to $50.0 million of Manhattan Associates outstanding common stock.
In addition, the stock market has recently experienced volatility that has particularly affected the market prices of equity
securitiesInofaddition,
many technology
The volatility
often has
been unrelated
or disproportionate
operating
the stock companies.
market has recently
experienced
volatility
that has particularly
affected to
thethe
market
pricesperformance
of equity of
those companies.
broad companies.
market fluctuations
may adversely
marketorprice
of our common
stock.
securities
of manyThese
technology
The volatility
often hasaffect
been the
unrelated
disproportionate
to the
operating performance of
those companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Our articles of incorporation and bylaws and Georgia law may inhibit a takeover of our company. Our basic corporate
documents
andarticles
Georgia
contain provisions
that might
enable our
management
a takeover
our company.
Thesecorporate
Our
oflaw
incorporation
and bylaws
and Georgia
law
may inhibittoaresist
takeover
of ourofcompany.
Our basic
provisions might
discourage,
delay, or
prevent athat
change
inenable
the control
of our company
or a change
in our
management.
These
documents
and Georgia
law contain
provisions
might
our management
to resist
a takeover
of our
company. These
provisions could
discourage
proxy
contestsa and
make
more
difficult
forcompany
you and or
other
shareholders
to elect directors
and take
provisions
might also
discourage,
delay,
or prevent
change
in itthe
control
of our
a change
in our management.
These
other
corporate
The existence
these provisions
also
limit the
thatother
investors
might betowilling
to pay in and
the future
provisions
couldactions.
also discourage
proxyofcontests
and makecould
it more
difficult
forprice
you and
shareholders
elect directors
take
for
shares
of
our
common
stock.
other corporate actions. The existence of these provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future
for shares of our common stock.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
As of December 31, 2012, we do not have any unresolved SEC staff comments.
As of December 31, 2012, we do not have any unresolved SEC staff comments.
Item 2. Properties
Item 2. Properties
Our principal administrative, sales, marketing, support, and research and development facility is located in approximately
191,000 square
feet of modern
office space
Atlanta, Georgia.
all ofdevelopment
this space isfacility
leased is
to located
us through
September 30,
Our principal
administrative,
sales,inmarketing,
support, Substantially
and research and
in approximately
2018.
We
have
additional
offices
under
multi-year
agreements
in
Indiana.
We
also
occupy
facilities
outside
of
the
United
States under
191,000 square feet of modern office space in Atlanta, Georgia. Substantially all of this space is leased to us through September
30,
multi-year
agreements
in the
United
Kingdom,
the agreements
Netherlands,inFrance,
China,
Singapore,
India, andoutside
Australia.
WeUnited
also occupy
2018. We have
additional
offices
under
multi-year
Indiana.
We also
occupy facilities
of the
States under
offices
under
short-terminagreements
in other geographical
regions.
We believe
office space
adequate
to meet
multi-year
agreements
the United Kingdom,
the Netherlands,
France,
China, our
Singapore,
India,isand
Australia.
Weour
alsoimmediate
occupy
needs;
however,
we
may
expand
into
additional
facilities
in
the
future.
offices under short-term agreements in other geographical regions. We believe our office space is adequate to meet our immediate
needs; however, we may expand into additional facilities in the future.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be a party to legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, and we could be a party
to legal proceedings
not
in the
The Company
party to
legal proceeding
thebe
result
of
From time to
time,
weordinary
may be acourse
party of
to business.
legal proceedings
arisingisinnot
thecurrently
ordinaryacourse
of any
business,
and we could
a party
which
believes could
material adverse
impact
uponThe
its business,
position,
resultstoof
operations,
or cash the
flows.
to legalitproceedings
nothave
in thea ordinary
course of
business.
Companyfinancial
is not currently
a party
any
legal proceeding
result of
which it believes could have a material adverse impact upon its business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
Liability for our Software and Services
Liability for our Software and Services
Many of our installations involve products that are critical to the operations of our clients’ businesses. Any failure in our
products Many
could of
result
a claim forinvolve
substantial
damages
us, regardless
of our responsibility
such failure.
our in
installations
products
that against
are critical
to the operations
of our clients’for
businesses.
AnyAlthough
failure in we
our
attempt
to
contractually
limit
our
liability
for
damages
arising
from
product
failures
or
negligent
acts
or
omissions,
there
can be
products could result in a claim for substantial damages against us, regardless of our responsibility for such failure. Although
weno
assurance
the limitations
of liability
in ourarising
contracts
will
be enforceable
all instances.
attempt to that
contractually
limit our
liabilityset
forforth
damages
from
product
failures orinnegligent
acts or omissions, there can be no
assurance that the limitations of liability set forth in our contracts will be enforceable in all instances.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Not applicable.
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market for Common Stock
Market for Common Stock
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Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “MANH”. The following table sets forth
the high and
closing
sales
stock asSelect
reported
by the
Nasdaq
Global “MANH”.
Select Market
the periods
indicated:
Our low
common
stock
is prices
tradedof
onthe
thecommon
Nasdaq Global
Market
under
the symbol
Thefor
following
table
sets forth
the high and low closing sales prices of the common stock as reported by the Nasdaq Global Select Market for the periods indicated:
Fiscal Period
Fiscal Period
2012

2012
First Quarter
First Quarter
Second
Quarter

$
$

Second
Quarter
Third
Quarter
Third
Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Fourth Quarter
2011
2011
First Quarter

High Price
High Price

$
$

First Quarter
Second
Quarter
Second
Quarter
Third
Quarter
Third
Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Fourth Quarter

50.10
50.10
50.94

50.94
58.54
58.54
62.58
62.58

32.74
32.74
37.18

37.18
37.97
37.97
46.48

46.48

$
$

$
$

Low Price
Low Price

39.77
39.77
43.39

43.39
41.49
41.49
55.66
55.66

29.23
29.23
33.08

33.08
31.37
31.37
31.65

31.65

On February 15, 2013, the last reported sales price of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market was $69.42 per
share. The
of shareholders
record
of our
common
stock
as of February
2013
was approximately
Onnumber
February
15, 2013, theof
last
reported
sales
price of
our common
stock 15,
on the
Nasdaq
Global Select 20.
Market was $69.42 per
share. The number of shareholders of record of our common stock as of February 15, 2013 was approximately 20.
We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Our management anticipates that all earnings and
other cashWe
resources,
if any,towill
be retained
for investment
in the
our foreseeable
business. future. Our management anticipates that all earnings and
do not intend
declare
or pay cash
dividends in
other cash resources, if any, will be retained for investment in our business.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information regarding our current equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2012:
The following table provides information regarding our current equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2012:
Number of securities to
Weighted-average
Number of securities
exercise
price
of
beNumber
issued upon
exercise
of
remaining
for
of securities to
Weighted-average
Number ofavailable
securities
outstanding
options
and
future
issuance
under
outstanding
options
and
be issued upon exercise of
exercise price of
remaining available for
Plan Category
equity
compensation
plans
rights
rights
outstanding
options and
outstanding
options and
future
issuance under
Equity
compensation
plans
Plan Category
rights
rights
equity compensation plans
968,949
$22.13
3,533,966
approved
by security plans
holders
Equity
compensation
968,949
$22.13
3,533,966
approved
by
security
holders
Equity compensation plans not
approved
by security plans
holders
Equity
compensation
not
approved by security holders
Total
968,949
$22.13
3,533,966
Total

968,949

$22.13

3,533,966

Additional information regarding our equity compensation plans can be found in Note 2 of the Notes to our Consolidated
FinancialAdditional
Statements.information regarding our equity compensation plans can be found in Note 2 of the Notes to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.
Purchase of Equity Securities
Purchase of Equity Securities
The following table provides information regarding our common stock repurchases under our publicly-announced share
repurchase
program
andtable
shares
withheld
for taxes due
upon vesting
of restricted
stock for theunder
quarter
December 31, 2012.
The
following
provides
information
regarding
our common
stock repurchases
ourended
publicly-announced
share All
repurchasesprogram
related to
theshares
share withheld
repurchase
were
made
on the
open market.
repurchase
and
forprogram
taxes due
upon
vesting
of restricted
stock for the quarter ended December 31, 2012. All
repurchases related to the share repurchase program were made on the open market.
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Period
Period

October 1 - October 31, 2012
October 1 -1October
31, 2012
November
- November
30, 2012

Total Number
of SNumber
hares
Total
of S hares(a)
Purchased

Average Price
Paid
per SPrice
hare
Average
(b)
Paid per
S hare

(a)
217,047
Purchased

November
November31,
30,2012
2012
December 11 -- December
December
1
December
31,
2012
Total
Total

(b)

217,047
215,797
215,797
97,838

$61.13
$61.13
$58.40

Total Number of
S hares
Total Purchased
Number ofas
Part of
Publicly as
S hares
Purchased
Announced
Plans or
Part of Publicly
Programs
Announced
Plans or

Maximum Number (or
Approximate
Dollar Value)
Maximum Number
(or
of S hares that
May Yet
Be
Approximate
Dollar
Value)
Purchased
Under
theYet
Plans
of S hares that
May
Be
or Programs
Purchased
Under the Plans

213,865
215,732
215,732
97,026

36,925,385
24,326,628
24,326,628
18,776,868

$58.40
$57.20
$57.20
$59.29

97,838
530,682
530,682

$59.29

213,865
Programs

$
$

36,925,385
or Programs

97,026
526,623
526,623

18,776,868

(a) Includes 3,182 shares, 65 shares, and 812 shares withheld for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock during October, November,
December,
respectively.
(a) and
Includes
3,182 shares,
65 shares, and 812 shares withheld for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock during October, November,

respectively.
(b) and
The December,
average price
paid per share for shares withheld for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock was $60.50, $61.44, and $57.19 in
October,
November,
andper
December,
respectively.
(b) The average price paid
share for shares
withheld for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock was $60.50, $61.44, and $57.19 in
October, November, and December, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we repurchased a total of 1,944,828 shares at an average price per share of $51.26
under ourDuring
publicly-announced
repurchase
program.
In January a2013,
Board of Directors
approved
ourshare
remaining
the year endedshare
December
31, 2012,
we repurchased
total our
of 1,944,828
shares at an
averageraising
price per
of $51.26
share
authority to $50.0
of Manhattan
common
stock. approved raising our remaining
under repurchase
our publicly-announced
sharemillion
repurchase
program. Associates
In Januaryoutstanding
2013, our Board
of Directors
share repurchase authority to $50.0 million of Manhattan Associates outstanding common stock.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
You should read the following selected consolidated financial data in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial
Statements
andshould
related
Notes
andselected
with “Management’s
Discussion
Analysis of Financial
Condition andFinancial
Results of
You
read
the thereto
following
consolidated financial
dataand
in conjunction
with our Consolidated
Operations”
included
elsewhere
in
this
Form
10-K.
The
statement
of
income
data
for
the
years
ended
December
31,
2012, 2011,
Statements and related Notes thereto and with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of and
2010, and theincluded
balance elsewhere
sheet data in
as this
of December
31,The
2012statement
and 2011,
derived
andyears
are qualified
by reference
to, the2011,
audited
Operations”
Form 10-K.
ofare
income
datafrom,
for the
ended December
31, 2012,
and
financial
included
elsewhere
in this Form
10-K.and
The
statement
of income
years ended
December
31, audited
2009 and
2010,
andstatements
the balance
sheet data
as of December
31, 2012
2011,
are derived
from,data
andfor
arethe
qualified
by reference
to, the
2008 and statements
the balanceincluded
sheet data
as of December
31, 2010,
and 2008 are
deriveddata
fromfor
audited
financial
financial
elsewhere
in this Form
10-K.2009,
The statement
of income
the years
endedstatements
December not
31, included
2009 and
herein.andHistorical
results
notasnecessarily
indicative
of results
to be2008
expected
in the from
future.audited financial statements not included
2008
the balance
sheetare
data
of December
31, 2010,
2009, and
are derived
herein. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in the future.
Year Ended December 31,
2008
2009 Year Ended
2010
2012
December 31, 2011
(in thousands, except
2008
2009
2010 per share data)
2011
2012
Statement of Income Data:
(in thousands, except per share data)
$
34,686
$
54,450
$
54,241
$ 61,494
Software
$
65,313
Statementlicense
of Income Data:
$ 329,253
$ 376,248
Total revenue
$ 246,667
34,686
$ 297,117
54,450
54,241
61,494
Software
license
$ 337,201
65,313
$ 246,667
21,142
$ 297,117
41,927
61,363
80,073
Operating
income
$ 337,201
25,963
$ 329,253
$ 376,248
Total revenue
16,562
28,061
44,907
51,853
Net incomeincome
22,798
$
21,142
$
41,927
$
61,363
$ 80,073
Operating
$
25,963
Earnings
per diluted share
$
0.94
0.73
1.25
2.09
2.56
$
16,562
$
28,061
$
44,907
$ 51,853
Net income
22,798
$
0.73
$
1.25
$
2.09
$
2.56
Earnings per diluted share
$
0.94

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash
equivalents
Balance
Sheet
Data: and investments
Total
assets
Cash, cash equivalents and investments
Debt assets
Total
Shareholders'
equity
Debt
Shareholders' equity

2008
2008
$
$
$
$
$

2009
2009
$
$
$
$
$

88,706
270,221
88,706
270,221179,839179,839

23
23

123,014
264,711
123,014
264,711183,365183,365

December 31,
2010 31,
December
(in thousands)
2010
(in thousands)
$ 126,869
$ 280,464
126,869
$ 280,464$ 183,800$ 183,800

2011
2011
$
$
$
$
$

99,114
259,600
99,114
259,600162,080162,080

2012
2012
$
$
$
$
$

103,047
261,813
103,047
261,813161,509161,509

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
All statements, trend analyses, and other information contained in the following discussion relative to markets for our
products All
andstatements,
trends in revenue,
gross margins,
andinformation
anticipatedcontained
expense levels,
as well as discussion
other statements
words
such as
trend analyses,
and other
in the following
relativeincluding
to markets
for our
“anticipate,”
“believe,”
“plan,”gross
“estimate,”
“expect,”
and “intend”
and
otherassimilar
constitute
forward-looking
products
and trends
in revenue,
margins,
and anticipated
expense
levels,
well asexpressions
other statements
including
words such as
statements. These
forward-looking
statements“expect,”
are subject
to“intend”
business and
and other
economic
risks
and uncertainties,
including
those discussed
“anticipate,”
“believe,”
“plan,” “estimate,”
and
similar
expressions
constitute
forward-looking
under
the
caption
“Risk
Factors”
in
Item
1A
of
this
Form
10-K,
and
our
actual
results
of
operations
may
differ
materially
from
those
statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to business and economic risks and uncertainties, including those
discussed
contained
in the forward-looking
under
the caption
“Risk Factors”statements.
in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, and our actual results of operations may differ materially from those
contained in the forward-looking statements.
Business Overview
Business Overview
We are a leading developer and implementer of supply chain software solutions that help organizations optimize their supply
chain operations
planning
through
Our
supply chain
software
solution
portfoliosoptimize
– Manhattan
We are afrom
leading
developer
andexecution.
implementer
ofplatform-based
supply chain software
solutions
that help
organizations
their supply
®
TM
and
Manhattan
SCALE
–
are
designed
to
deliver
both
business
agility
and
total
cost
of
ownership
advantages
to
SCOPE
chain operations from planning through execution. Our platform-based supply chain software solution portfolios – Manhattan
®
TM
customers.
SCOPE
(Supply
Optimization,
through
Execution)
our Supply
Chain Process
andManhattan
Manhattan
SCALE
– areChain
designed
to deliver Planning
both business
agility
and totalleverages
cost of ownership
advantages
to
SCOPE
Platform (SCPP)
to unify
the full
breadthChain
of theOptimization,
supply chain,Planning
while Manhattan
SCALE (Supply
Chain
for Process
Logistics
customers.
Manhattan
SCOPE
(Supply
through Execution)
leverages
ourArchitected
Supply Chain
Execution)
leverages
Microsoft’s
.NET® of
platform
to unify
logistics
functions. SCALE (Supply Chain Architected for Logistics
Platform (SCPP)
to unify
the full breadth
the supply
chain,
while Manhattan
Execution) leverages Microsoft’s .NET® platform to unify logistics functions.
Early in the Company’s history, our offerings were heavily focused on warehouse management solutions. As the Company
grew in size
and
our offerings
expanded
across the
entire
supply
chain,onwhile
still maintaining
a significant
in, and a
Early
inscope,
the Company’s
history,
our offerings
were
heavily
focused
warehouse
management
solutions.presence
As the Company
relatively
strong
of revenues
fromacross
warehouse
management
solutions,
is a component
of our distribution
grew
in size
and concentration
scope, our offerings
expanded
the entire
supply chain,
whilewhich
still maintaining
a significant
presence in, and a
management
solution
suite. Over
time, as our
non-warehouse
management
solutionswhich
have is
proliferated
andofincreased
in capability, the
relatively
strong
concentration
of revenues
from
warehouse management
solutions,
a component
our distribution
Company’s revenue
in its as
warehouse
management
solutions has
correspondingly
decreased.
management
solutionconcentration
suite. Over time,
our non-warehouse
management
solutions
have proliferated
and increased in capability, the
Company’s revenue concentration in its warehouse management solutions has correspondingly decreased.
Our business model is singularly focused on the development and implementation of complex supply chain software
solutionsOur
that business
are designed
to is
optimize
supply
chainoneffectiveness
and efficiency
for our customers.
Wesupply
have three
model
singularly
focused
the development
and implementation
of complex
chainprincipal
softwaresources
of
revenue:
solutions
that are designed to optimize supply chain effectiveness and efficiency for our customers. We have three principal sources
of revenue: • licenses of our supply chain software;
••
•
•

licenses
of our
supply including
chain software;
professional
services,
solutions planning and implementation, related consulting, customer training, and
customer
support
services
and software
“services”);
and
professional services, including
solutionsenhancements
planning and(collectively,
implementation,
related consulting,
customer training, and
customer
support
services
and
software
enhancements
(collectively,
“services”);
and
hardware sales and other revenue.

•
hardware sales and other revenue.
In 2012, we generated $376.2 million in total revenue, with a revenue mix of: license revenue 16%; services revenue 76%;
and hardware
and we
other
revenue$376.2
8%. million in total revenue, with a revenue mix of: license revenue 16%; services revenue 76%;
In 2012,
generated
and hardware and other revenue 8%.
We manage our business based on three geographic regions: North America and Latin America (Americas), Europe, Middle
East, andWe
Africa
(EMEA),
and Asiabased
Pacific
Geographic
revenue
based onand
the Latin
location
of the (Americas),
sale. Our international
manage
our business
on (APAC).
three geographic
regions:
NorthisAmerica
America
Europe, Middle
revenue
approximately
$104.4
$90.7 million,
and $80.7
million
for theon
years
ended December
31, Our
2012,
2011, and 2010,
East,
andwas
Africa
(EMEA), and
Asiamillion,
Pacific (APAC).
Geographic
revenue
is based
the location
of the sale.
international
respectively,
which represents
approximately
28%,million,
28%, and
of million
our totalfor
revenue
forended
the years
ended December
31, 2012,
revenue
was approximately
$104.4
million, $90.7
and27%
$80.7
the years
December
31, 2012, 2011,
and 2011,
2010,
and
2010,
respectively.
International
revenue
includes
all
revenue
derived
from
sales
to
customers
outside
the
United
States.
respectively, which represents approximately 28%, 28%, and 27% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2012,At2011,
December
31, 2012, we employed
approximately
2,400all
employees
worldwide,
which
1,130 employees
the Americas,
and
2010, respectively.
International
revenue includes
revenue derived
fromofsales
to customers
outsideare
thebased
UnitedinStates.
At
170 employees
in EMEA,
and 1,100
employees in2,400
APAC
(includingworldwide,
India). Weofhave
offices
Australia, are
China,
France,
Japan,
December
31, 2012,
we employed
approximately
employees
which
1,130inemployees
based
in theIndia,
Americas,
the
and1,100
the United
Kingdom,
as well
as representatives
Mexico
andinreseller
partnerships
in Latin
America,
170Netherlands,
employees inSingapore,
EMEA, and
employees
in APAC
(including
India). Weinhave
offices
Australia,
China, France,
India,
Japan,
Eastern
Europe, the
Middle East,
South
Africa,
and Asia.
the
Netherlands,
Singapore,
and the
United
Kingdom,
as well as representatives in Mexico and reseller partnerships in Latin America,
Eastern Europe, the Middle East, South Africa, and Asia.
Global Economic Trends and Industry Factors
Global Economic Trends and Industry Factors
Global macro economic trends, technology spending, and supply chain management market growth are important barometers
for our business.
In 2012,
approximately
72% of ourspending,
total revenue
was generated
in the Unitedmarket
States,growth
12% inare
EMEA,
and barometers
the balance
Global macro
economic
trends, technology
and supply
chain management
important
in APAC,
Canada,Inand
Latin
America. In72%
addition,
Inc., anwas
information
research
advisory
company,
for
our business.
2012,
approximately
of ourGartner
total revenue
generatedtechnology
in the United
States,and
12%
in EMEA,
and theestimates
balance
thatAPAC,
nearlyCanada,
80% of every
supply
chain software
solutions
dollar
is spent technology
in the United
States and
(50%)
and Western
Europe
in
and Latin
America.
In addition,
Gartner
Inc.,invested
an information
research
advisory
company,
estimates
(28%);
consequently,
the supply
health of
the software
U.S. and solutions
the Western
European
economies
meaningful
our
financial
results.
that
nearly
80% of every
chain
dollar
invested
is spent inhas
thea United
Statesimpact
(50%)on
and
Western
Europe
(28%); consequently, the health of the U.S. and the Western European economies has a meaningful impact on our financial results.
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We sell technology-based solutions with total pricing, including software and services, in many cases exceeding $1.0 million.
Our software
often
is a part of our customers’
and total
prospects’
much
larger software
capital commitment
with facilities
expansion
and
We sell
technology-based
solutions with
pricing,
including
and services,associated
in many cases
exceeding
$1.0 million.
business
improvement.
We
believe
that,
given
the
lingering
uncertainty
in
the
global
macro
environment,
the
current
sales
cycles
for
Our software often is a part of our customers’ and prospects’ much larger capital commitment associated with facilities expansion and
large license
sales of $1.0
million
orthat,
greater
in our
markets
have been
extended.
The current
business
the United
business
improvement.
We
believe
given
the target
lingering
uncertainty
in the
global macro
environment,
theclimate
currentwithin
sales cycles
for
States
and geographic
regions
in which
we operate
continues
to affect
and prospects’
decisions
timingthe
of United
large license
sales of $1.0
million
or greater
in our target
markets
havecustomers’
been extended.
The current
businessregarding
climate within
strategic
expenditures.
Delays
respect to
such decisions
have a material
adverse decisions
impact onregarding
our business,
andofmay
States andcapital
geographic
regions in
whichwith
we operate
continues
to affectcan
customers’
and prospects’
timing
further intensify
competition inDelays
our already
highly competitive
markets.
strategic
capital expenditures.
with respect
to such decisions
can have a material adverse impact on our business, and may
further intensify competition in our already highly competitive markets.
In January 2013, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) provided a World Economic Outlook (WEO) update lowering its
previous In
2013
world2013,
economic
growth forecast
from October
2012provided
by 10 basis
pointsEconomic
projectingOutlook
3.5 percent
growth
in 2013
versus
January
the International
Monetary
Fund (IMF)
a World
(WEO)
update
lowering
its 3.2
percent growth
in 2012.
The WEO
noted
that Europe
and Japan
areby
in 10
recession,
and the
United States
continues
to struggle
with 3.2
previous
2013 world
economic
growth
forecast
from October
2012
basis points
projecting
3.5 percent
growth
in 2013 versus
fiscal
policy,
including
debt
ceiling,
taxthat
policy,
andand
entitlement
Theand
update
stated States
that “[g]lobal
growth
is projected
percent
growth
in 2012.the
The
WEO
noted
Europe
Japan areprograms.
in recession,
the United
continues
to struggle
with to
increase
during
2013, asthe
thedebt
factors
underlying
soft and
global
activity are
expectedThe
to subside.
However,
this upturn
is projected
to be to
fiscal policy,
including
ceiling,
tax policy,
entitlement
programs.
update stated
that “[g]lobal
growth
is projected
more
gradual
than
in the
October
2012
WEO projections.”
Furtherare
theexpected
update stated
that “[g]lobal
financial
conditions
improved
increase
during
2013,
as the
factors
underlying
soft global activity
to subside.
However,
this upturn
is projected
to be
furthergradual
in the fourth
of 2012.
a broad set of
indicators
for global
industrial
production
and conditions
trade suggests
that global
more
than inquarter
the October
2012However,
WEO projections.”
Further
the update
stated
that “[g]lobal
financial
improved
growth
didthe
notfourth
strengthen
WEO projected
thatofadvanced
which represent
our primary
revenue
markets,
further in
quarterfurther.”
of 2012.The
However,
a broad set
indicatorseconomies,
for global industrial
production
and trade
suggests
that global
would
grow
at
about
1.4
percent
in
2013
and
2.2
percent
in
2014,
while
the
emerging
and
developing
economies
would
continue
growth did not strengthen further.” The WEO projected that advanced economies, which represent our primary revenue markets,to
grow atgrow
aboutat5.5
percent
in 2013inand
5.9and
percent
in 2014.
would
about
1.4 percent
2013
2.2 percent
in 2014, while the emerging and developing economies would continue to
grow at about 5.5 percent in 2013 and 5.9 percent in 2014.
During 2012 and 2011, the overall trend has been an increase in large license sales for the Company, with recognized $1.0
million orDuring
larger 2012
software
sales
totaling
twelve
and thirteen
for 2012
andlicense
2011, sales
respectively,
up from nine
2010. However,
and license
2011, the
overall
trend
has been
an increase
in large
for the Company,
withinrecognized
$1.0
the number
of large
licenselicense
sales has
been
inconsistent
fromthirteen
quarterfor
to 2012
quarter,
what we believe
to be
ongoing
million
or larger
software
sales
totaling
twelve and
andreflecting
2011, respectively,
up from
nine
in 2010. However,
macroeconomic
uncertainty
in thehas
United
and Western
Europe.
While we
are encouraged
our 2012
and
2011 results, we,
the number of large
license sales
been States
inconsistent
from quarter
to quarter,
reflecting
what webybelieve
to be
ongoing
along with manyuncertainty
of our customers,
still remain
regarding
the pace
of we
global
economic recovery.
Withand
global
growth
macroeconomic
in the United
Statescautious
and Western
Europe.
While
are encouraged
by our 2012
2011GDP
results,
we,
continuing
to be well
below
pre-2008
wecautious
believe regarding
global economic
will continue
shapeglobal
customers’
along
with many
of our
customers,
stilllevels,
remain
the pacevolatility
of globallikely
economic
recovery.to With
GDP and
growth
prospects’
decisions,
making itlevels,
more difficult
to forecast
sales cycles
for ourlikely
products
the timing
of large
software
continuing buying
to be well
below pre-2008
we believe
global economic
volatility
willand
continue
to shape
customers’
andlicense
sales.
prospects’ buying decisions, making it more difficult to forecast sales cycles for our products and the timing of large software license
sales.
Revenue
Revenue
License revenue: License revenue, a leading indicator of our business, is primarily derived from software license fees that
customersLicense
pay forrevenue:
supply chain
solutions.
In a2012,
license
revenue
totaled
$61.5ismillion,
or 16%
of total
gross
margins
License
revenue,
leading
indicator
of our
business,
primarily
derived
fromrevenue,
softwarewith
license
fees
that
of
87.3%. pay
For for
the supply
year ended
EMEA,
and APAC
recognized
$50.0ofmillion,
$9.6 million,
and margins
$1.9
customers
chainDecember
solutions.31,
In 2012,
2012, Americas,
license revenue
totaled
$61.5 million,
or 16%
total revenue,
with gross
million
in license
respectively.
typicalAmericas,
license revenue
of new to$50.0
existing
customers
historically
has
of 87.3%.
For therevenue,
year ended
December Our
31, 2012,
EMEA,percentage
and APACmix
recognized
million,
$9.6 million,
and $1.9
approximated
50/50.
However,
for
the
year
ended
December
31,
2012,
the
majority
of
license
revenue
was
generated
from
existing
million in license revenue, respectively. Our typical license revenue percentage mix of new to existing customers historically has
customers, largely
influenced
byfor
twothe
large
signed
during31,
the2012,
third the
quarter
endedofSeptember
30, 2012,
the percentage
approximated
50/50.
However,
yeardeals
ended
December
majority
license revenue
was resulting
generatedinfrom
existing
mix of newlargely
to existing
customers
of approximately
30/70.
We the
believe
current
mixSeptember
of new customer
to existing
license
customers,
influenced
by two
large deals signed
during
thirdour
quarter
ended
30, 2012,
resultingcustomer
in the percentage
sales
will
fluctuate
with
continuing
global
macroeconomic
uncertainty;
however,
the
mix
should
return
to
historically
normal
levels in
mix of new to existing customers of approximately 30/70. We believe our current mix of new customer to existing customer license
improved
global economic
conditions.
sales will fluctuate
with continuing
global macroeconomic uncertainty; however, the mix should return to historically normal levels in
improved global economic conditions.
License revenue growth is influenced by the strength of general economic and business conditions and the competitive
position of
our software
license by
revenue
generally
has longeconomic
sales cycles
which the
timing of
thethe
closing
of a few
License
revenueproducts.
growth isOur
influenced
the strength
of general
andofbusiness
conditions
and
competitive
large
license
transactions
can have Our
a material
ongenerally
our license
operating
margins
earnings
per
position
of our
software products.
licenseimpact
revenue
hasrevenues,
long sales
cycles ofprofit,
whichoperating
the timing
of the and
closing
of a few
share.
For example,
$1.0 can
million
equatesrevenues,
to approximately
cents
of diluted
earnings
share per
impact.
large license
transactions
haveofa license
materialrevenue
impactin
on2012
our license
operatingthree
profit,
operating
margins
and per
earnings
share. For example, $1.0 million of license revenue in 2012 equates to approximately three cents of diluted earnings per share impact.
Our software solutions are singularly focused on the supply chain planning and execution markets, which are intensely
competitive
characterized
rapid
technological
We arechain
a market
leaderand
in execution
the supplymarkets,
chain management
software
Ourand
software
solutionsbyare
singularly
focusedchange.
on the supply
planning
which are intensely
solutions
market
as defined byby
industry
analysts such change.
as ARC Advisory
Group and
Gartner.
Our goal
is tomanagement
extend our position
competitive
and characterized
rapid technological
We are a market
leader
in the supply
chain
softwareas a
leading
global
supply
chain
solutions
provider
by
growing
our
license
revenues
faster
than
our
competitors
through
investment
in a
solutions market as defined by industry analysts such as ARC Advisory Group and Gartner. Our goal is to extend our position as
innovation.
expect
to continue
face increased
competition
fromrevenues
Enterprise
Resource
Planning
(ERP)through
and Supply
Chain in
leading globalWe
supply
chain
solutionstoprovider
by growing
our license
faster
than our
competitors
investment
Management
application
and
application
software
vendors
that may
broaden
their solution
byChain
internally
innovation. We
expect tovendors
continue
tobusiness
face increased
competition
from
Enterprise
Resource
Planning
(ERP) offerings
and Supply
developing,
by acquiring
or partnering
with independent
developers
of supply
chainbroaden
planningtheir
andsolution
execution
software.
Increased
Managementorapplication
vendors
and business
application software
vendors
that may
offerings
by internally
competition
could
result in price
reductions,
fewer
customerdevelopers
orders, reduced
grosschain
margins,
and loss
market share.
developing, or
by acquiring
or partnering
with
independent
of supply
planning
and of
execution
software. Increased
competition could result in price reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share.
Services revenue: Our services business consists of professional services (consulting and customer training) and customer
support services
software
enhancements
(“CSSE”).
In of
2012,
our services
revenue
totaled $283.9
million,training)
or 76% of
revenue,
Servicesand
revenue:
Our
services business
consists
professional
services
(consulting
and customer
andtotal
customer
support services and software enhancements (“CSSE”). In 2012, our services revenue totaled $283.9 million, or 76% of total revenue,
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with gross margins of 54.7%. The Americas, EMEA, and APAC recognized $228.7 million, $36.2 million, and $19.0 million,
respectively,
in services
revenue
forAmericas,
the year ended
December
31,recognized
2012. Professional
services$36.2
accounted
forand
approximately
65% of
with
gross margins
of 54.7%.
The
EMEA,
and APAC
$228.7 million,
million,
$19.0 million,
total
services
revenue
and
approximately
50%
of
total
revenue
in
2012.
Our
consolidated
operating
margin
profile
may
be
lower
than
respectively, in services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012. Professional services accounted for approximately 65% of
thoseservices
of various
other and
technology
companies
to ourrevenue
large services
mix as a percentage
total revenue.
While
we believe
total
revenue
approximately
50%due
of total
in 2012.revenue
Our consolidated
operatingofmargin
profile may
be lower
than
our
services
margins
very strong,
they do due
lower
operating
margin
profile
as services of
margins
are inherently
than
those
of various
otherare
technology
companies
to our
our overall
large services
revenue
mix
as a percentage
total revenue.
Whilelower
we believe
license
revenue
margins.
our services
margins
are very strong, they do lower our overall operating margin profile as services margins are inherently lower than
license revenue margins.
At December 31, 2012, our professional services organization totaled approximately 1,425 employees, accounting for 60% of
our total At
employees
worldwide.
professional services
services organization
organization totaled
provides
our customers
withemployees,
expertise and
assistanceforin60% of
December
31, 2012, Our
our professional
approximately
1,425
accounting
planning
and
implementing
our
solutions.
To
ensure
a
successful
product
implementation,
consultants
assist
customers
with the
our total employees worldwide. Our professional services organization provides our customers with expertise and assistance
in initial
installation
ofimplementing
a system, the conversion
andTo
transfer
customer’s
historical
data onto our
system, and
ongoing
training,
planning
and
our solutions.
ensureofa the
successful
product
implementation,
consultants
assist
customers
witheducation,
the initial
and system of
upgrades.
our professional
enable customers
to data
implement
our
software
the education,
installation
a system,We
thebelieve
conversion
and transferservices
of the customer’s
historical
onto our
system,
andrapidly,
ongoingensure
training,
customer’s
with
our
solution,
ourservices
customer
relationships,
add to our industry-specific
knowledge
base for use
and system success
upgrades.
We
believe
our strengthen
professional
enable
customersand
to implement
our software rapidly,
ensure the
in future implementations
and
productstrengthen
innovations.
customer’s
success with our
solution,
our customer relationships, and add to our industry-specific knowledge base for use
in future implementations and product innovations.
Although our professional services are optional, the majority of our customers use at least some portion of these services for
their planning,
implementation,
or related
needs.
Professional
servicesofare
typically
rendered
time and
materials-based
contracts
Although
our professional
services
are optional,
the majority
our
customers
use at under
least some
portion
of these services
for
with services
billed on or
anrelated
hourly needs.
basis. Professional
renderedunder
undertime
fixed-fee
based contractscontracts
with
their
planning,typically
implementation,
Professional services
services are
are sometimes
typically rendered
and materials-based
payments
duetypically
on specific
dates
with
services
billed
onor
anmilestones.
hourly basis. Professional services are sometimes rendered under fixed-fee based contracts with
payments due on specific dates or milestones.
Typically, our professional services lag license revenue by several quarters, as implementation services and related consulting
are performed
after our
the purchase
of the
software.
Services
revenue
contingent
upon license revenue
growth
and customer
Typically,
professional
services
lag license
revenue
bygrowth
severalisquarters,
as implementation
services
and related
consulting
upgrade
cycles,after
which
influenced
by the
strength
of general
economic
andis business
conditions
and the
competitive
of our
are
performed
theispurchase
of the
software.
Services
revenue
growth
contingent
upon license
revenue
growthposition
and customer
software
products.
In addition,
our professional
services
business
has competitive
exposure
to offshore
andposition
other consulting
upgrade cycles,
which
is influenced
by the strength
of general
economic
and business
conditions
and theproviders
competitive
of our
companies.
All of these
factors our
potentially
createservices
the riskbusiness
of pricing
fewerexposure
customertoorders,
reduced
gross
margins,
and loss
software
products.
In addition,
professional
haspressure,
competitive
offshore
providers
and
other consulting
of market share.
companies.
All of these factors potentially create the risk of pricing pressure, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins, and loss
of market share.
For CSSE, we offer a comprehensive 24 hours per day, 365 days per year program that provides our customers with software
upgrades,For
when
and we
if available,
which include24
additional
improved
functionality
and technological
advances
incorporating
CSSE,
offer a comprehensive
hours perorday,
365 days
per year program
that provides
our customers
with software
emerging
chain
and industry
initiatives.
Our CSSEorrevenues
totaled
$98.6 million
in 2012, representing
upgrades, supply
when and
if available,
which
include additional
improved
functionality
and technological
advancesapproximately
incorporating 35% of
services revenue
approximately
25% of totalOur
revenue,
The$98.6
growth
of CSSE
revenues
is influenced
by: (1) new
emerging
supply and
chain
and industry initiatives.
CSSErespectively.
revenues totaled
million
in 2012,
representing
approximately
35% of
license
revenue
growth;
(2)
annual
renewal
of
support
contracts;
(3)
increase
in
customers
through
acquisitions;
and
(4)
services revenue and approximately 25% of total revenue, respectively. The growth of CSSE revenues is influenced by:fluctuations
(1) new in
currency
rates. Substantially
all of renewal
our customers
renew
their annual
support in
contracts.
Over
the last
three years,and
our(4)
annual
revenue in
license revenue
growth; (2) annual
of support
contracts;
(3) increase
customers
through
acquisitions;
fluctuations
renewal
of customers
subscribing
comprehensive
and enhancements
has Over
been greater
revenue
is
currencyrate
rates.
Substantially
all of ourtocustomers
renew support
their annual
support contracts.
the last than
three90%.
years,CSSE
our annual
revenue
generally
paid
in
advance
and
recognized
ratably
over
the
term
of
the
agreement,
typically
twelve
months.
CSSE
renewal
revenue
renewal rate of customers subscribing to comprehensive support and enhancements has been greater than 90%. CSSE revenue is is
not recognized
unless
payment
is receivedratably
from the
customer.
generally
paid in
advance
and recognized
over
the term of the agreement, typically twelve months. CSSE renewal revenue is
not recognized unless payment is received from the customer.
Hardware and other revenue: Our hardware and other revenue totaled $30.9 million in 2012 representing 8% of total
revenue with
gross margins
of revenue:
18.4%. During
2012, Americas,
APAC
were
responsible
$28.9 million,
million,
Hardware
and other
Our hardware
and otherEMEA,
revenueand
totaled
$30.9
million
in 2012for
representing
8% $1.4
of total
and $0.6with
million,
in hardware
and2012,
other Americas,
revenue. In
conjunction
with the
licensing
of our
and as$1.4
a convenience
revenue
grossrespectively,
margins of 18.4%.
During
EMEA,
and APAC
were
responsible
forsoftware,
$28.9 million,
million,
for
we resell a variety
of hardware
products
developed
and manufactured
by thirdof
parties.
These products
andour
$0.6customers,
million, respectively,
in hardware
and other
revenue.
In conjunction
with the licensing
our software,
and as a include
convenience
computer
hardware,weradio
frequency
networks,
RFID
chip readers,
bar code printers
and parties.
scanners,These
and other
peripherals.
for
our customers,
resell
a varietyterminal
of hardware
products
developed
and manufactured
by third
products
include We
resell all third-party
products
and related
maintenance
pursuant
to bar
agreements
with and
manufacturers
or through
distributor-We
computer
hardware, hardware
radio frequency
terminal
networks,
RFID chip
readers,
code printers
scanners, and
other peripherals.
authorized
reseller agreements
pursuantand
to which
are entitled pursuant
to purchase
hardware products
and servicesor
at through
discountdistributorprices. We
resell all third-party
hardware products
relatedwe
maintenance
to agreements
with manufacturers
generally
hardware from
our vendors
only
receiving
order from
a customer.
a result,
weatgenerally
not We
authorizedpurchase
reseller agreements
pursuant
to which
weafter
are entitled
to an
purchase
hardware
productsAsand
services
discountdo
prices.
maintain
hardware
inventory.
generally purchase hardware from our vendors only after receiving an order from a customer. As a result, we generally do not
maintain hardware inventory.
Other revenue represents amounts associated with reimbursements from customers for out-of-pocket expenses. The total
amount ofOther
expense
reimbursement
recordedassociated
to hardware
andreimbursements
other revenue was
million,
million, and
$9.0 million
for
revenue
represents amounts
with
from$12.6
customers
for$10.4
out-of-pocket
expenses.
The total
2012, 2011,
and 2010,
respectively.recorded to hardware and other revenue was $12.6 million, $10.4 million, and $9.0 million for
amount
of expense
reimbursement
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
Product Development
Product Development
We continue to invest significantly in research and development (R&D), which historically has averaged about 14 cents of
every revenue
dollar, excluding
hardware andinother
revenue,
to provide leading
solutions
that help global
manufacturers,
wholesalers,
We continue
to invest significantly
research
and development
(R&D),
which historically
has averaged
about 14
cents of
distributors,
retailers,
and logistics
providers
manage
accelerating
fluctuating
demands
well as the increasing
every revenue
dollar, excluding
hardware
andsuccessfully
other revenue,
to provide
leadingand
solutions
that help
globalasmanufacturers,
wholesalers,
distributors, retailers, and logistics providers successfully manage accelerating and fluctuating demands as well as the increasing
26
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complexity and volatility of their local and global supply chains. Our research and development expenses for the years ended
December
2011,ofand
2010
were
and $40.5
respectively.
December
2012, our
complexity31,
and2012,
volatility
their
local
and$44.7
globalmillion,
supply $42.4
chains.million,
Our research
andmillion,
development
expensesAtfor
the years31,
ended
R&D
organization
totaled
approximately
650
employees,
located
in
the
U.S.
and
India.
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 were $44.7 million, $42.4 million, and $40.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 2012, our
R&D organization totaled approximately 650 employees, located in the U.S. and India.
We expect to continue to focus our R&D resources on the development and enhancement of supply chain software solutions.
We offerWe
what
we believe
to be to
thefocus
broadest
solution
portfolio
thedevelopment
supply chainand
solutions
marketplace,
to address
all aspects
of
expect
to continue
our R&D
resources
oninthe
enhancement
of supply
chain software
solutions.
planning
and
forecasting,
inventory
optimization,
order
lifecycle
management,
transportation
lifecycle
management,
and
distribution
We offer what we believe to be the broadest solution portfolio in the supply chain solutions marketplace, to address all aspects of
management.
planning
and forecasting, inventory optimization, order lifecycle management, transportation lifecycle management, and distribution
management.
We also plan to continue to enhance our existing solutions and to introduce new solutions to address evolving industry
standardsWe
andalso
market
We identify
opportunities
to further
enhance
solutions
to develop
and provide
newindustry
solutions
planneeds.
to continue
to enhance
our existing
solutions
and to our
introduce
newand
solutions
to address
evolving
through
customer
supportWe
organization,
as well as through
ongoing
customer
consulting
implementations,
standardsour
and
market needs.
identify opportunities
to further
enhance
our solutions
and engagements
to develop andand
provide
new solutions
interactions
our user
groups,
association
industry
analysts
and market
research
firms, andand
participation
on industry
through
our with
customer
support
organization,
aswith
wellleading
as through
ongoing
customer
consulting
engagements
implementations,
standards
and
research
committees.
Our
solutions
address
the
needs
of
customers
in
various
vertical
markets,
including
retail,
interactions with our user groups, association with leading industry analysts and market research firms, and participation on industry
consumer and
goods,
food and
grocery, logistics
serviceaddress
providers,
industrial
and wholesale,
highvertical
technology
and electronics,
life sciences,
standards
research
committees.
Our solutions
the needs
of customers
in various
markets,
including retail,
and
government.
consumer
goods, food and grocery, logistics service providers, industrial and wholesale, high technology and electronics, life sciences,
and government.
Cash Flow and Financial Condition
Cash Flow and Financial Condition
For 2012, we generated cash flow from operating activities of $75.3 million and have generated a cumulative total of $181.1
million for
threewe
years
ended December
31, 2012.
Our activities
cash and investments
at December
2012 totaled
$103.0 million,
with no
Forthe
2012,
generated
cash flow from
operating
of $75.3 million
and have31,
generated
a cumulative
total of $181.1
debt on for
ourthe
balance
We currently
have
creditOur
facilities.
During
the pastatthree
years, 31,
our 2012
primary
uses$103.0
of cashmillion,
have been
million
three sheet.
years ended
December
31,no2012.
cash and
investments
December
totaled
with no
funding
investment
R&DWe
andcurrently
operations
to no
drive
earnings
growth
and repurchases
of years,
common
debt on our
balance in
sheet.
have
credit
facilities.
During
the past three
ourstock.
primary uses of cash have been
funding investment in R&D and operations to drive earnings growth and repurchases of common stock.
During 2012, we repurchased approximately $99.7 million of Manhattan Associates’ outstanding common stock under the
share repurchase
program
by approximately
our Board of Directors
throughout
the year.Associates’
In Januaryoutstanding
2013, our Board
of Directors
approved
During 2012,
we approved
repurchased
$99.7 million
of Manhattan
common
stock under
the
raising
our remaining
shareapproved
repurchase
million.
share repurchase
program
by authority
our Boardtoof$50.0
Directors
throughout the year. In January 2013, our Board of Directors approved
raising our remaining share repurchase authority to $50.0 million.
In 2013, we anticipate that our priorities for use of cash will be in developing sales and services resources and continued
investment
product
development
and support
growth
extend our
market
leadership.
We will
to
In in
2013,
we anticipate
that to
ourdrive
priorities
for useprofitable
of cash will
be in and
developing
sales
and services
resources
andcontinue
continued
evaluate acquisition
opportunities
are complementary
to our product
andour
technology
direction. We
continue
investment
in product
developmentthat
to drive
and support profitable
growthfootprint
and extend
market leadership.
We will
will also
continue
to to
weigh
ouracquisition
share repurchase
optionsthat
against
cash for acquisitions
investing
in the
Wedirection.
do not anticipate
evaluate
opportunities
are complementary
to our and
product
footprint
andbusiness.
technology
We willany
alsoborrowing
continue to
requirements
in 2013
for general
corporate
weigh our share
repurchase
options
against purposes.
cash for acquisitions and investing in the business. We do not anticipate any borrowing
requirements in 2013 for general corporate purposes.
Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The SEC defines “critical accounting policies” as those that require application of management’s most difficult, subjective, or
complex The
judgments,
often “critical
as a result
of the need
to makeasestimates
the application
effect of matters
that are inherently
uncertainsubjective,
and may or
SEC defines
accounting
policies”
those thatabout
require
of management’s
most difficult,
change
subsequentoften
periods.
complexinjudgments,
as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain and may
change in subsequent periods.
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP).Our
Theconsolidated
preparation of
financial
statements
conformity
with GAAPwith
requires
to makeaccepted
estimates
and assumptions
in certain
financial
statements
areinprepared
in accordance
U.S. us
generally
accounting
principles
circumstances
that affect amounts
reported
in the in
accompanying
consolidated
financial
and related
Weinbelieve
(GAAP). The preparation
of financial
statements
conformity with
GAAP requires
us statements
to make estimates
and footnotes.
assumptions
certain
that
estimates, that
judgments,
and assumptions
upon
we rely are
reasonablefinancial
based upon
information
available
to us at We
the time
that
circumstances
affect amounts
reported in
the which
accompanying
consolidated
statements
and related
footnotes.
believe
theseestimates,
estimates,judgments,
judgments,and
andassumptions
assumptionsupon
are made.
there are material
differences
between
thosetoestimates,
that
whichTo
wethe
relyextent
are reasonable
based upon
information
available
us at the time that
judgments,
or assumptions
results,are
ourmade.
financial
statements
will are
be affected.
accounting
policies
that
reflect our more
these
estimates,
judgments,and
andactual
assumptions
To the
extent there
material The
differences
between
those
estimates,
significant
judgments,
and assumptions
are: Revenue
Recognition,
foraccounting
Doubtful Accounts,
Valuation
of more
judgments, estimates,
or assumptions
and actual
results, our financial
statements
will be Allowance
affected. The
policies that
reflect our
Goodwill, Accounting
for Incomeand
Taxes,
and Stock-based
Compensation.
significant
estimates, judgments,
assumptions
are: Revenue
Recognition, Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, Valuation of
Goodwill, Accounting for Income Taxes, and Stock-based Compensation.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue consists of fees from the licensing and hosting of software (collectively included in “Software
license” revenue
in the Consolidated
Statements
Income),
fees from
and training
services
(collectively,
The Company’s
revenue consists
of feesoffrom
the licensing
andimplementation
hosting of software
(collectively
included
in “Software
“professional
services”)
and customerStatements
support services
and software
enhancements
(collectively
included
in “Services”
revenue in the
license” revenue
in the Consolidated
of Income),
fees from
implementation
and training
services
(collectively,
Consolidated
Statements
of
Income),
and
sales
of
hardware
and
other
revenue,
which
consists
of
reimbursements
of
out-of-pocket
“professional services”) and customer support services and software enhancements (collectively included in “Services” revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income), and sales of hardware and other revenue, which consists of reimbursements of out-of-pocket
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expenses incurred in connection with our professional services (collectively included in “Hardware and other” revenue in the
Consolidated
Statements
of Income).
All professional
revenue is recognized
net of any related
sales
expenses
incurred
in connection
with our
services (collectively
included
in taxes.
“Hardware and other” revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income). All revenue is recognized net of any related sales taxes.
The Company recognizes license revenue when the following criteria are met: (1) a signed contract is obtained covering all
elements The
of the
arrangement,
(2) delivery
the product
the license
fee(1)
is afixed
or determinable,
and (4)covering
collection
Company
recognizes
licenseof
revenue
whenhas
the occurred,
following(3)
criteria
are met:
signed
contract is obtained
allis
probable. ofRevenue
recognition
software
withproduct
multiple-element
arrangements
requires
of revenue using
thecollection
“residualis
elements
the arrangement,
(2)for
delivery
of the
has occurred,
(3) the license
fee isrecognition
fixed or determinable,
and (4)
method”
(a) there
is vendor-specific
objective
evidence (VSOE)
of the fair values
ofrecognition
all undelivered
elements
in athe
multipleprobable.when
Revenue
recognition
for software
with multiple-element
arrangements
requires
of revenue
using
“residual
element
thatis isvendor-specific
not accounted objective
for using long-term
contractof
accounting,
(b) VSOE
of fair valueelements
does not in
exist
for one or
method”arrangement
when (a) there
evidence (VSOE)
the fair values
of all undelivered
a multiplemore
of the
delivered that
elements
the arrangement,
(c) all other
applicable
revenue-recognition
for software
element
arrangement
is notin
accounted
for usingand
long-term
contract
accounting,
(b) VSOE of faircriteria
value does
not existrevenue
for one or
recognition,
are
satisfied.
For
those
contracts
that
contain
significant
customization
or
modifications,
license
revenue
is recognized
more of the delivered elements in the arrangement, and (c) all other applicable revenue-recognition criteria for software
revenue
using contract
recognition,
areaccounting.
satisfied. For those contracts that contain significant customization or modifications, license revenue is recognized
using contract accounting.
The Company allocates revenue to customer support services and software enhancements and any other undelivered elements
of the arrangement
based
on VSOE
of fairtovalue
of each
element
and such
deferred until
applicable
delivery criteria
The Company
allocates
revenue
customer
support
services
and amounts
software are
enhancements
andthe
any
other undelivered
elements
andthe
other
revenue recognition
criteria
been of
met.
The
balance
of such
the revenue,
any discounts
in the
arrangement,
of
arrangement
based on VSOE
ofhave
fair value
each
element
and
amountsnet
areofdeferred
until theinherent
applicable
delivery
criteria is
recognized
at the outset
of the criteria
arrangement
usingmet.
the residual
method
as the
product
delivered.
If theinCompany
cannot is
and
other revenue
recognition
have been
The balance
of the
revenue,
netlicenses
of any are
discounts
inherent
the arrangement,
objectively at
determine
theoffair
of each using
undelivered
element
basedasonthe
theproduct
VSOE licenses
of fair value,
the Company
revenue
recognized
the outset
the value
arrangement
the residual
method
are delivered.
If thedefers
Company
cannot
recognition determine
until all elements
delivered,
all services have
beenbased
performed,
or untilof
fair
canthe
beCompany
objectively
determined.
objectively
the fair are
value
of each undelivered
element
on the VSOE
fairvalue
value,
defers
revenue The
Company must
judgment
determining
all elements
the arrangement
in fair
determining
of fairdetermined.
value for each
recognition
untilapply
all elements
areindelivered,
all services
haveofbeen
performed, orand
until
value canthe
beVSOE
objectively
The
element,
price charged
for eachall
product
on aofstand-alone
basis or
applicable
renewal
For
Companyconsidering
must applythe
judgment
in determining
elements
the arrangement
and
in determining
therates.
VSOE
ofarrangements
fair value for that
each
include
software
deliverables,
the Company
accountsbasis
for these
deliverables
as a separate
element
of the that
element,future
considering
thefunctionality
price charged
for each product
on a stand-alone
or applicable
renewal
rates. For
arrangements
arrangement.
Company deliverables,
does not sell these
deliverables
on a standalone
basis, the Company
is not
able toofestablish
VSOE
include
future Because
software the
functionality
the Company
accounts
for these deliverables
as a separate
element
the
of
fair value ofBecause
these deliverables.
Asdoes
a result,
the these
Company
defers all
underbasis,
the arrangement
until
the able
future
has
arrangement.
the Company
not sell
deliverables
onrevenue
a standalone
the Company
is not
tofunctionality
establish VSOE
been
delivered
to
the
customer.
of fair value of these deliverables. As a result, the Company defers all revenue under the arrangement until the future functionality has
been delivered to the customer.
Payment terms for the Company’s software licenses vary. Each contract is evaluated individually to determine whether the
fees in thePayment
contractterms
are fixed
or determinable
and whether
collectibility
is contract
probable.is Judgment
is required intoassessing
thewhether
probability
for the
Company’s software
licenses
vary. Each
evaluated individually
determine
the
of
collection,
which
is
generally
based
on
evaluation
of
customer-specific
information,
historical
collection
experience,
and
economic
fees in the contract are fixed or determinable and whether collectibility is probable. Judgment is required in assessing the probability
market
conditions.
conditions
or ifof
thecustomer-specific
financial conditions
of customers
deteriorate,
the Company
may
unable to
of
collection,
whichIfismarket
generally
based ondecline,
evaluation
information,
historical
collection
experience,
andbeeconomic
determine
that collectibility
probable, and
the Company
could beconditions
required toofdefer
the recognition
of revenue
until the
market conditions.
If marketisconditions
decline,
or if the financial
customers
deteriorate,
the Company
mayCompany
be unable to
receives
payments.is The
Company
has Company
an established
of collecting
the terms of
software
license
contracts
determinecustomer
that collectibility
probable,
and the
couldhistory
be required
to deferunder
the recognition
of its
revenue
until
the Company
without providing
or concessions
to its
Therefore,
Company under
has determined
thatitsthe
presence
of payment
receives
customer refunds
payments.
The Company
hascustomers.
an established
history the
of collecting
the terms of
software
license
contracts
terms that
extend beyond
execution
in acustomers.
particular contract
do the
notCompany
preclude the
in the of
contract
are
without
providing
refundscontract
or concessions
to its
Therefore,
hasconclusion
determinedthat
thatthe
thefees
presence
payment
fixed
determinable.
Although
when
paymentcontract
terms indo
a contract
extend
twelve
hasare
terms or
that
extend beyond
contractinfrequent,
execution in
a particular
not preclude
thebeyond
conclusion
thatmonths,
the feesthe
in Company
the contract
determined
that such fees
are not infrequent,
fixed or determinable
and recognizes
revenue extend
as payments
become
provided
that all other
fixed or determinable.
Although
when payment
terms in a contract
beyond
twelvedue
months,
the Company
has
conditions for
recognition
haveorbeen
met.
determined
thatrevenue
such fees
are not fixed
determinable
and recognizes revenue as payments become due provided that all other
conditions for revenue recognition have been met.
The Company’s services revenue consists of fees generated from professional services and customer support and software
enhancements
related to the
Company’s
software
Professional
include
systemand
planning,
design,
configuration,
The Company’s
services
revenue
consistsproducts.
of fees generated
fromservices
professional
services
customer
support
and software
testing, and other
software
supportproducts.
and are not
typically essential
the functionality
of ourdesign,
software.
Fees from
enhancements
related
to theimplementation
Company’s software
Professional
services to
include
system planning,
configuration,
professional
services
performed
by the Company
areand
separately
priced and
are generally
billed on an hourly
basis, and Fees
revenue
is
testing, and other
software
implementation
support
are not typically
essential
to the functionality
of our software.
from
recognized
as
the
services
are
performed.
In
certain
situations,
professional
services
are
rendered
under
agreements
in
which
billings
professional services performed by the Company are separately priced and are generally billed on an hourly basis, and revenue is
are limited to
or based
upon asituations,
fixed-fee for
portions of
or all of
engagement.
Revenue related
to fixed-fee
recognized
as contractual
the servicesmaximums
are performed.
In certain
professional
services
arethe
rendered
under agreements
in which
billings
based
contracts
is recognized
on a proportional
performance
basis
on of
theorhours
on discreteRevenue
projectsrelated
within to
anfixed-fee
overall
are limited
to contractual
maximums
or based upon
a fixed-fee
for based
portions
all ofincurred
the engagement.
services
arrangement.
The Company
has determined
that output
delivered,
the input
based contracts
is recognized
on a proportional
performance
basismeasures,
based on or
theservices
hours incurred
on approximate
discrete projects
withinmeasures
an overall
associated
with fixed-fee
services
arrangements.
Project
providedorfor
in theirdelivered,
entirety inapproximate
the period inthewhich
become
services
arrangement.
The
Company
has determined
thatlosses
outputare
measures,
services
inputthey
measures
known. Revenue
related to
customer
support services
andlosses
software
enhancements
generally
in advance
recognized
ratably
associated
with fixed-fee
services
arrangements.
Project
are provided
for in is
their
entiretypaid
in the
period inand
which
they become
over the Revenue
term of the
agreement,
typically
twelve
months.
known.
related
to customer
support
services
and software enhancements is generally paid in advance and recognized ratably
over the term of the agreement, typically twelve months.
Hardware and other revenue is generated from the resale of a variety of hardware products, developed and manufactured by
third parties,
that areand
integrated
with and
complementary
to resale
the Company’s
software
solutions.
As part
of a complete
solution, theby
Hardware
other revenue
is generated
from the
of a variety
of hardware
products,
developed
and manufactured
Company’s
periodically
hardware from
the Company’s
Company for
use with
the software
licenses
purchasedsolution,
from thethe
third parties,customers
that are integrated
withpurchase
and complementary
to the
software
solutions.
As part
of a complete
Company. These
products
include computer
hardware,from
radiothe
frequency
terminal
RFID chip
readers,
bar codefrom
printers
Company’s
customers
periodically
purchase hardware
Company
for use networks,
with the software
licenses
purchased
the and
scanners, and
otherproducts
peripherals.
Hardware
revenue
is recognized
upon shipment
the customer
title passes.
The Company
Company.
These
include
computer
hardware,
radio frequency
terminal to
networks,
RFIDwhen
chip readers,
bar code
printers and
generally
purchases
hardware from
the Company’s
only after
from a customer.
a result,
Company
scanners, and
other peripherals.
Hardware
revenue vendors
is recognized
uponreceiving
shipmentan
to order
the customer
when title As
passes.
Thethe
Company
generally
does
not
maintain
hardware
inventory.
generally purchases hardware from the Company’s vendors only after receiving an order from a customer. As a result, the Company
generally does not maintain hardware inventory.
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In accordance with the other presentation matters within the Revenue Recognition Topic of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification, the Company recognizes amounts associated with reimbursements
from customers for out-of-pocket expenses as revenue. Such amounts have been included in “Hardware and other” revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The total amount of expense reimbursement recorded to revenue was $12.6 million, $10.4
million, and $9.0 million for 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
We continuously monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts
based upon our historical experience and any specific customer collection issues that we have identified. Additions to the allowance
for doubtful accounts generally represent a sales allowance on services revenue, which are recorded to operations as a reduction to
services revenue. While such losses have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established, we cannot guarantee
that we will continue to experience the same loss rates that we have in the past.
Valuation of Goodwill
In accordance with the Intangibles - Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, we do not
amortize goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives. Our goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test, which
requires us to estimate the fair value of our business compared to the carrying value. The impairment reviews require an analysis of
future projections and assumptions about our operating performance. Should such review indicate the assets are impaired, we would
record an expense for the impaired assets.
Annual tests or other future events could cause us to conclude that impairment indicators exist and that our goodwill is
impaired. For example, if we had reason to believe that our recorded goodwill had become impaired due to decreases in the fair
market value of the underlying business, we would have to record a charge to income for that portion of goodwill that we believed was
impaired. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations. At
December 31, 2012, our goodwill balance was $62.3 million.
Accounting for Income Taxes
We provide for the effect of income taxes on our financial position and results of operations in accordance with the Income
Taxes Topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. Under this accounting pronouncement, income tax expense is
recognized for the amount of income taxes payable or refundable for the current year and for the change in net deferred tax assets or
liabilities resulting from events that are recorded for financial reporting purposes in a different reporting period than recorded in the
tax return. Management must make significant assumptions, judgments, and estimates to determine our current provision for income
taxes and also our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance to be recorded against our net deferred tax asset.
Our judgments, assumptions, and estimates relative to the current provision for income tax take into account current tax laws,
our interpretation of current tax laws, allowable deductions, projected tax credits, and possible outcomes of current and future audits
conducted by foreign and domestic tax authorities. We do not recognize a tax benefit unless we conclude that it is more likely than not
that the benefit will be sustained on audit by the taxing authority based solely on the technical merits of the associated tax position. If
the recognition threshold is met, we recognize a tax benefit measured at the largest amount of the tax benefit that, in our judgment, is
greater than 50 percent likely to be realized. Changes in tax law or our interpretation of tax laws and the resolution of current and
future tax audits could significantly impact the amounts provided for income taxes in our financial position and results of operations.
Our assumptions, judgments, and estimates relative to the value of our net deferred tax asset take into account predictions of the
amount and category of future taxable income. Actual operating results and the underlying amount and category of income in future
years could render our current assumptions, judgments, and estimates of recoverable net deferred taxes inaccurate, thus materially
impacting our financial position and results of operations.
Equity-Based Compensation
In January 2012, in order to simplify equity grant administration, we changed our practice of granting restricted stock in
favor of granting restricted stock units, or RSUs, which convert to our common stock upon vesting. There is no material difference
between the grant of restricted stock and the grant of RSUs to either us or the recipients receiving the grants; however, in contrast to
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the granting of restricted stock, no stock will actually be issued under the granting of RSUs until the units vest. We do not currently
grant stock options.
In January 2010 our Compensation Committee approved certain changes to our historical equity incentive grant practices,
with the objective to optimize the Company’s performance and retention strength while managing program share usage to improve
long-term equity overhang. The change eliminated stock option awards in favor of 100% restricted stock grants, which for the 2011
and 2010 awards contain vesting provisions that are 50% service-based and 50% performance-based. The 2011 and 2010 awards have
a four year vesting period, with the performance portion tied to their respective year revenue and adjusted earnings per share targets.
For our historical stock option grants, we estimated the fair value on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. We based our estimate of fair value on certain assumptions, including the expected term of the option, the expected volatility
of the price of the underlying share for the expected term of the option, the expected dividends on the underlying share for the
expected term, and the risk-free interest rate for the expected term of the option. We based our expected volatilities on a combination
of the historical volatility of our stock and the implied volatility of publicly traded options (issued by third party) for our common
stock. Due to the limited trading volume of publicly traded options for our common stock, we placed a greater emphasis on historical
volatility of our common stock. We also used historical data to estimate the term that options are expected to be outstanding. We
based the risk-free interest rate on the rate for U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term approximating the expected term.
We recognize compensation cost for service-based awards with graded vesting on a straight-line basis over the entire vesting
period, with the amount of compensation cost recognized at any date at least equal to the portion of the grant-date value of the award
that is vested at that date. For our performance-based restricted stock awards with graded vesting, we recognize compensation cost on
an accelerated basis applying straight-line expensing for each separately vesting portion of each award. Compensation cost
recognized in any period is impacted by the number of stock-based awards granted, the vesting period of the awards (which generally
is four years), the estimated forfeiture rate, and the probable outcome of any performance conditions.
Accounting Charges
Recovery of previously impaired investment. In the quarter ended September 30, 2008, we recorded an impairment charge of
$3.5 million on an investment in an auction rate security. We reduced the carrying value to zero due to credit downgrades of the
underlying issuer and the bond insurer as well as increasing publicly reported exposure to bankruptcy risk by the issuer. In the quarter
ended September 30, 2011, we were able to sell the auction rate security recovering 72%, or $2.5 million, of our original investment.
Full Year 2012 Financial Summary
•

Diluted earnings per share for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 was $2.56, compared to $2.09 for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2011. Results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 include a positive impact of
$0.12 per share for the recovery of an auction rate security investment, which had been impaired in a prior period, and a
$2.0 million tax benefit, or $0.09 per share, resulting from the reduction of a valuation allowance associated with a
change in India tax law. The change eliminates the tax holiday for India companies under the Software Technology Park
of India (STPI) tax plan;

•

Consolidated revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012 was $376.2 million, compared to $329.3 million
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011. License revenue was $61.5 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2012, compared to $54.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011;

•

Operating income was $80.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, compared to $61.4 million for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2011. Results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 included a $2.5
million recovery of a previously impaired auction rate security investment;

•

Operating margins for 2012 were 21.3%, up 270 basis points compared to operating margins of 18.6% in 2011;

•

Cash flow from operations totaled $75.3 million for the full year 2012 compared to $55.8 million in 2011;

•

Cash and investments on hand at December 31, 2012 was $103.0 million compared to $99.1 million at December 31,
2011;
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•

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, the Company repurchased approximately 2.0 million shares of
Manhattan Associates common stock under the share repurchase program authorized by the Board of Directors, for a
total investment of $99.7 million; and

•

In January 2013, the Board of Directors approved raising the Company’s remaining share repurchase authority to $50.0
million of Manhattan Associates’ outstanding common stock.

Results of Operations
The following table summarizes selected Statement of Income data for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010.
Year Ended December 31,
% Change vs. Prior Year

2012
Revenue:

Software license
Services

$

Total revenue

Costs and expenses:
Cost of license

Cost of services

Research and development

30,954

Recovery of previously impaired investment (1)

13%

0%

213,750

16%

14%

28,917

0%

7%

14%

11%

7,838

6,806

6,172

15%

10%

2%

4%

4%

3%

128,686

107,510

44,704

42,372

296,175
80,073
21.3%

20%

40,508

6%

23,844

43,944

42,702
34,027

7,284

(2,519)

$

98,776

24,785

37,708

-

$

54,450

2011

297,117

5,638

Depreciation and amortization

$

2012

329,253

38,474

General and administrative

54,241

244,058

2010

376,248

45,622

Sales and marketing

(1)

$

25,213

Cost of hardware and other

Operating margin

61,494

283,872

30,882

Hardware and other

Total costs and expenses
Income from operations

2011
(in thousands)

267,890
61,363
18.6%

5%
11%

9,161

-23%

-20%

255,190
41,927

11%
30%

5%
46%

-

$

2%

9%

14.1%

N/A

N/A

Amount represents recovery of an auction rate security investment which had been impaired in a prior period.

We manage our business based on three geographic regions: the Americas, EMEA, and APAC. Geographic revenue
information is based on the location of sale. The revenues represented below are from external customers only. The geographicalbased expenses include costs of personnel, direct sales, and marketing expenses, and general and administrative costs to support the
business. There are certain corporate expenses included in the Americas region that are not charged to the other segments including
research and development, certain marketing and general and administrative costs that support the global organization, and the
amortization of acquired developed technology. Included in the Americas costs are all research and development costs, including the
costs associated with the Company’s India operations. During 2012, 2011, and 2010, we derived the majority of our revenues from
sales to customers within our Americas region. The following table summarizes revenue and operating profit by region:
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Year Ended December 31,
% Change vs. Prior Year

2012

Revenue:

Software license
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Total license

$

50,036
9,569
1,889
61,494

$

$ 228,673
36,167
19,032
$ 283,872

$

$

28,883
1,402
597
30,882

$

$ 307,592
47,138
21,518
$ 376,248

$

$

$

$

Services
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Total services

Hardware and Other
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Total hardware and other

$

Total Revenue
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Total revenue

Operating income:
Americas
EMEA
APAC
Total operating income

2011
(in thousands)

$

$

$

$

65,517
9,725
4,831
80,073

$

$

2010

45,506
6,362
2,373
54,241

$

198,041
30,824
15,193
244,058

$

29,312
1,109
533
30,954

$

272,859
38,295
18,099
329,253

$

53,550
5,239
2,574
61,363

$

$

$

$

$

$

2012

2011

44,254
4,972
5,224
54,450

10%
50%
-20%
13%

3%
28%
-55%
0%

176,912
26,269
10,569
213,750

15%
17%
25%
16%

12%
17%
44%
14%

27,784
925
208
28,917

-1%
26%
12%
0%

5%
20%
156%
7%

248,950
32,166
16,001
297,117

13%
23%
19%
14%

10%
19%
13%
11%

35,868
3,685
2,374
41,927

22%
86%
88%
30%

49%
42%
8%
46%

The results of our operations for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 are discussed below.
Revenue
Our revenue consists of fees generated from the licensing and hosting of software; fees from professional services, customer
support services and software enhancements; hardware sales of complementary radio frequency and computer equipment; and other
revenue representing amounts associated with reimbursements from customers for out-of-pocket expenses.
Year Ended December, 31
2012

2011

(in thousands)

Software license

$ 61,494

$

Hardware and other

30,882
$376,248

30,954
$ 329,253

Services

Total revenue

283,872

54,241

244,058

% Change vs. Prior Year
2012
2011

2010
$

54,450

213,750

28,917
$ 297,117
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13%

16%

0%
14%

0%

14%

7%
11%

% of Total Revenue
2012
2011
2010
16%

17%

18%

76%

74%

72%

100%

100%

100%

8%

9%

10%

License revenue
Year 2012 compared with year 2011
License revenue increased $7.3 million, or 13%, to $61.5 million in 2012 compared to 2011. We completed twelve large
deals and thirteen large deals greater than $1.0 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively. Our Americas and EMEA license revenue
increased $4.5 million and $3.2 million, respectively, while APAC license revenue decreased $0.5 million over 2011.
The license sales percentage mix across our product suite in 2012 was approximately 65% warehouse management solutions
and 35% non-warehouse management solutions. Our warehouse management solutions increased $6.5 million, or 19%, in 2012
compared to 2011 and non-warehouse management solutions increased $0.7 million, or 4%, in 2012 over 2011.
Year 2011 compared with year 2010
License revenue decreased slightly to $54.2 million in 2011 compared to $54.5 million in 2010. Our APAC license revenue
decreased $2.9 million in 2011 compared to 2010 partially offset by an increase in Americas and EMEA license revenue of $1.3
million and $1.4 million, respectively, in the same period.
The license sales percentage mix across our product suite in 2011 was approximately 60% warehouse management solutions
and 40% non-warehouse management solutions. Our warehouse management solutions increased $2.6 million, or 8%, in 2011
compared to 2010, and non-warehouse management solutions decreased $2.8 million, or 12%, in 2011 over 2010.
Services revenue
Year 2012 compared with year 2011
Services revenue increased $39.8 million, or 16%, in 2012 compared to 2011 due to a $28.4 million, or 18%, increase in
professional services revenue and an $11.4 million, or 13%, increase in CSSE revenue. The Americas, EMEA, and APAC segments
increased $30.6 million, $5.3 million, and $3.8 million, respectively, compared to 2011. The increase in services revenue is primarily
due to customer-specific initiatives in conjunction with customer upgrade activity and size of license deals signed.
Year 2011 compared with year 2010
Services revenue increased $30.3 million, or 14%, in 2011 compared to 2010 due to a $24.9 million, or 19%, increase in
professional services revenue and a $5.4 million, or 7%, increase in CSSE revenue. The Americas, EMEA, and APAC segments
increased $21.1 million, $4.6 million, and $4.6 million, respectively, compared to 2010. The increase in services revenue is primarily
due to customer-specific initiatives in conjunction with customer upgrade activity and large license deals signed.
Hardware and other
Sales of hardware decreased $2.3 million to $18.3 million in 2012 compared to $20.5 million in 2011. Sales of hardware
increased slightly to $20.5 million in 2011 from $19.9 million in 2010. The majority of hardware sales are derived from our Americas
segment. Sales of hardware are largely dependent upon customer-specific desires, which fluctuate. Other revenue represents
reimbursements for professional service travel expenses that are required to be classified as revenue and are included in hardware and
other revenue. Reimbursements by customers for out-of-pocket expenses were approximately $12.6 million, $10.4 million, and
$9.0 million for 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
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Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31,
2012

Cost of license
Cost of services
Cost of hardware and other
Total cost of revenue

$
$

7,838
128,686
25,213
161,737

2011

(in thousands)
$

$

6,806
107,510
24,785
139,101

2010
$
$

6,172
98,776
23,844
128,792

% Change vs. Prior Year
2012

15%
20%
2%
16%

2011

10%
9%
4%
8%

Cost of License
Cost of license consists of the costs associated with software reproduction; hosting services; media, packaging and delivery,
documentation, and other related costs; and royalties on third-party software sold with or as part of our products. Cost of licenses
increased $1.0 million, or 15%, in 2012 compared to 2011, primarily due to increase in sales of over the prior year. Cost of licenses
increased $0.6 million, or 10%, in 2011 compared to 2010, primarily due to increased sales of third party software over the prior year.
Cost of Services
Year 2012 compared with year 2011
Cost of services consists primarily of salaries and other personnel-related expenses of employees dedicated to professional
and technical services and customer support services. Cost of services increased $21.2 million, or 20%, in 2012 compared to 2011
principally due to a $14.3 million increase in employee-related costs such as salary, benefits, and payroll taxes resulting from an
increase in the number of professional services personnel in 2012 to support demand and a $3.1 million increase in performance-based
compensation expense.
Services gross margin decreased 120 basis points to 54.7% in 2012 from 55.9% in 2011. The decrease in services margin is
primarily attributable to an increase in the hiring of professional services personnel to fulfill services demand.
Year 2011 compared with year 2010
Cost of services increased $8.7 million, or 9%, in 2011 compared to 2010 principally due to an $11.4 million increase in
employee-related costs such as salary, benefits, and payroll taxes resulting from an increase in the number of professional services
personnel in 2011 to support demand, partially offset by a $2.4 million decrease in performance-based compensation expense.
Services gross margin increased 210 basis points to 55.9% in 2011 from 53.8% in 2010. The increase in services margin is
attributable to services revenue growth and higher than normal billable utilization from our services personnel.
Cost of Hardware and other
In 2012, cost of hardware decreased $1.6 million to $12.8 million from $14.4 million in 2011 as a direct result of a decrease
in sales of hardware. Cost of hardware decreased slightly to $14.4 million in 2011 from $15.0 million in 2010. Cost of hardware and
other includes professional services billed travel expenses reimbursed by customers of approximately $12.4 million, $10.4 million,
and $8.8 million for 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Changes in amounts of out-of-pocket expenses correlate to changes in
amounts of services revenue.
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Operating Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2012
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Recovery of previously impaired investment
Operating expenses

$

44,704
45,622
38,474
5,638
$ 134,438

2011
(in thousands)
$

$

42,372
43,944
37,708
7,284
(2,519)
128,789

2010
$

$

40,508
42,702
34,027
9,161
126,398

% Change vs. Prior Year
2012
2011
6%
4%
2%
-23%
N/A
4%

5%
3%
11%
-20%
N/A
2%

Research and Development
Our principal research and development (R&D) activities during 2012, 2011, and 2010 focused on the expansion and
integration of new products acquired and new product releases and expanding the product footprint of our supply chain optimization
solutions called Supply Chain Optimization from Planning through Execution. The Manhattan SCOPE Platform provides not only a
sophisticated service oriented, architecture based application framework, but a platform that facilitates the integration with Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) and other supply chain solutions.
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, we did not capitalize any R&D costs because the costs incurred
following the attainment of technological feasibility for the related software product through the date of general release were
insignificant.
Year 2012 compared with year 2011
R&D expenses primarily consist of salaries and other personnel-related costs for personnel involved in our R&D activities.
Consistent with prior years, we typically invest approximately 13% to 15% of total revenue, excluding hardware and other revenue, in
R&D. R&D expenses increased $2.3 million, or 6%, to $44.7 million in 2012 compared to $42.4 million in 2011 primarily due to a
$1.4 million increase in salary-related costs resulting from an increase in the number of R&D personnel to support our product
development and a $1.1 million increase in performance-based compensation expense.
Year 2011 compared with year 2010
R&D expenses increased to $42.4 million in 2011 compared to $40.5 million in 2010 primarily due to a $1.9 million increase
in salary-related costs resulting from an increase in the number of R&D personnel, partially offset by a $0.7 million decrease in
performance-based compensation expense.
Sales and Marketing
Year 2012 compared with year 2011
Sales and marketing expenses include salaries, commissions, travel, and other personnel-related costs and the costs of our
marketing and alliance programs and related activities. Sales and marketing expenses increased by $1.7 million, or 4%, in 2012
compared to 2011. The increase was mainly attributable to a $3.1 million increase in performance-based compensation partially offset
by a decrease in travel expense of $1.1 million.
Year 2011 compared with year 2010
Sales and marketing expenses increased by $1.2 million, or 3%, in 2011 compared to 2010. The increase was mainly
attributable to $1.1 million in compensation and employee-related expenses and $0.7 million in marketing programs, partially offset
by a decrease in performance-based compensation expense of $0.5 million.
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General and Administrative
Year 2012 compared with year 2011
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs of executive, financial,
human resources, information technology, and administrative personnel, as well as facilities, legal, insurance, accounting, and other
administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $0.8 million, or 2%, in 2012 primarily attributable to an
increase in compensation, employee-related expenses, and temporary contracted personnel of $1.8 million and an increase in
performance-based compensation expense of $0.4 million partially offset by a $1.1 million decrease in equity-based compensation and
a $0.7 million decrease in professional fees.
Year 2011 compared with year 2010
General and administrative expenses increased $3.7 million, or 11%, in 2011 primarily attributable to (i) an increase in
compensation, employee-related expenses, and temporary contracted personnel of $1.6 million, (ii) an increase in professional fees of
$1.1 million, and (iii) a 2010 non-recurring $1.2 million recovery of previously recorded state sales tax partially offset by a $1.0
million decrease in 2011 performance-based compensation expense.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation expense amounted to $5.6 million, $6.1 million, and $6.9 million, during 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively,
and has decreased due to lower capital expenditures over the past several years. Amortization of intangibles was nearly nil in 2012,
$1.2 million and $2.3 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively. We have recorded goodwill and other acquisition-related intangible
assets as part of the purchase accounting associated with various acquisitions prior to 2006. The decreases in amortization expense in
2012 and 2011 of $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively, were associated with certain finite-lived intangible assets related to prior
acquisitions, which are now fully amortized.
Recovery of previously impaired investment
In September 2008, we recorded an impairment charge of $3.5 million on an investment in an auction rate security. We
reduced the carrying value to zero due to credit downgrades of the underlying issuer and the bond insurer as well as increasing
publicly reported exposure to bankruptcy risk by the issuer.
In the quarter ended September 30, 2011, we were able to sell the auction rate security, recovering 72%, or $2.5 million, of
our original investment.
Operating Income
Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased $18.7 million to $80.1 million, compared to $61.4
million, which includes a $2.5 million recovery of an auction rate security investment which had been impaired in a prior period, for
the year ended December 31, 2011. Operating margins were 21.3% for 2012 versus 18.6% for 2011. Operating income and margins
increased due to increased services revenue. Operating income in the Americas, EMEA, and APAC segments increased by
$12.0 million, $4.5 million, and $2.2 million, respectively in 2012.
Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $61.4 million, which includes a $2.5 million recovery of an
auction rate security investment which had been impaired in a prior period, compared to $41.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2010. Operating margins were 18.6% for 2011 versus 14.1% for 2010. Operating income and margins increased due to services
revenue and expense management. Operating income in the Americas, EMEA, and APAC segments increased by $17.7 million, $1.6
million, and $0.2 million, respectively in 2011.

36

Other Income (Loss) and Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31,
2012
Other income (loss), net
Income tax provision

$

2011
965

29,185

$

1,864

18,320

2010
$

(143)

13,723

% Change vs. Prior Year
2012

2011

-48%

1403%

59%

33%

Other Income (Loss), net
Other income (loss), net primarily includes interest income, foreign currency gains and losses, and other non-operating
expenses. Interest income was $1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and $0.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase of $0.4 million in interest income in 2011 compared to 2010 was due to a higher weighted-average
interest rate earned. The weighted-average interest rate earned on cash and investments was approximately 1% for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and 0.5% for the year ended December 31, 2010. We recorded a net foreign currency loss of $0.1
million in 2012, a net foreign currency gain of $0.8 million in 2011, and a net foreign currency loss of $0.7 million in 2010. The
foreign currency gain and losses mainly resulted from gains or losses on intercompany transactions denominated in foreign currencies
with subsidiaries due to the fluctuation of the U.S. dollar relative to other foreign currencies, primarily the Indian Rupee.
Income Tax Provision
Our effective income tax rates were 36.0%, 29.0%, and 32.8% in 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. Our effective income
tax rate takes into account the source of taxable income, domestically by state and internationally by country, and available income tax
credits. The increase in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to the same periods in the prior year is
principally due to the expiration of the federal research and development tax credit and foreign net operating loss carry-forwards
benefitted in prior periods that have now been fully utilized.
The effective rate for the year ended December 31, 2011 was impacted by the $2.5 million recovery of a previously impaired
auction rate security investment discussed in Note 3. We did not record a tax benefit in 2008 on the original impairment charge as
there were no future capital gains to offset the loss, and we therefore did not have tax expense related to the recovery of the charge.
Also, the effective tax rate in 2011 included a $2.0 million tax benefit resulting from the reduction of a valuation allowance associated
with tax credit carryforwards and deferred tax assets in India. The benefit was attributable to the elimination of the tax holiday for
Indian companies under the Software Technology Park of India (STPI) tax plan, based on the February 2011 budget approved by the
India Finance Ministry, which will allow us to utilize tax assets previously reserved. In addition, the effective tax rate for the year
ended December 31, 2011 included a tax benefit from the disqualifying disposition of incentive stock options that were previously
expensed and the reduction of income tax reserves that resulted from the expiration of tax audit statutes and the settlement of an IRS
audit.
The effective tax rate in 2010 included a tax benefit from the disqualifying disposition of incentive stock options that were
previously expensed and the reduction of U.S. federal income tax reserves that resulted from the expiration of tax audit statutes for tax
returns filed for 2006 and prior, partially offset by the establishment of income tax reserves for state audits.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
During 2012, 2011, and 2010, we funded our business through cash generated from operations. As of December 31, 2012,
our cash and investments totaled $103.0 million as compared to $99.1 million at December 31, 2011.
Our cash flow from operating activities totaled $75.3 million, $55.8 million, and $50.0 million in 2012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively. Typical factors affecting our cash provided by operating activities include our level of revenue and earnings for the
period, the timing and amount of employee bonus payments and income tax payments, and the timing of cash collections from our
customers which is our largest source of operating cash flow. Cash flow from operating activities for 2012 increased $19.4 million
compared to 2011 primarily attributable to higher revenue and net earnings combined with lower tax payments in 2012. Cash flow
from operating activities for 2011 increased $5.8 million compared to 2010 primarily attributable to higher revenue and net earnings.
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Days sales outstanding (DSO) was 60 days, 62 days, and 61 days at December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively, reflects strong
collection.
Our investing activities used cash of approximately $7.0 million, $4.6 million, and $8.9 million in 2012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively. The use of cash for investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 was for capital expenditures of
approximately $7.9 million partially offset by the net maturities of $0.9 million in investments. The use of cash for investing activities
for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $5.1 million in capital expenditures partially offset by the net maturities of $0.5 million in
investments. The use of cash for investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was for capital expenditures of
approximately $5.9 million and the net purchase of $3.0 million in short-term investments.
Our financing activities used cash of approximately $63.5 million, $77.9 million, and $40.9 million in 2012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively. The principal use of cash for financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 was to purchase approximately
$103.2 million of our common stock, including $3.5 million for shares withheld for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock,
partially offset by proceeds generated from options exercised of $32.1 million and a $7.5 million excess tax benefit related to the
exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock awards. The principal use of cash for financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2011 was to purchase approximately $133.1 million of our common stock, including $2.4 million for shares withheld
for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock, partially offset by proceeds generated from options exercised of $52.7 million and a
$2.5 million excess tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock awards. The principal use of
cash for financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010 was to purchase approximately $77.7 million of our common
stock, including $1.2 million for shares withheld for taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock, partially offset by proceeds generated
from options exercised of $36.4 million. In January 2013, our Board of Directors increased our remaining share repurchase authority
to a total of $50.0 million.
Periodically, opportunities may arise to grow our business through the acquisition of complementary and synergistic
companies, products, and technologies. Any material acquisition could result in a decrease to our working capital depending on the
amount, timing, and nature of the consideration to be paid. We believe that our existing cash and investments will be sufficient to
meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs at least for the next twelve months, although there can be no assurance that
this will be the case. In 2013, we anticipate that our priorities for use of cash will be similar to prior years, with our first priority being
continued investment in product development and profitably growing our business to extend our market leadership. We will continue
to evaluate acquisition opportunities that are complementary to our product footprint and technology direction. We will also continue
to weigh our share repurchase options against cash for acquisitions and investing in the business. We do not anticipate any borrowing
requirements in 2013 for general corporate purposes.
New Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update on testing goodwill for impairment to simplify the
goodwill impairment test. The standards update is intended to reduce cost and complexity of the annual goodwill impairment test by
permitting companies to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. Under this
standards update, a company is not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the company determines that it is more
likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. The “more likely than not” threshold is defined as having a
likelihood of more than 50 percent. This guidance is effective for interim and annual goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2011. We adopted this guidance as of December 31, 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not
have a material impact on our financial statements.
In May 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update on fair value measurements that clarifies the application of
existing guidance and disclosure requirements, changes certain fair value measurement principles, and requires additional disclosures
about fair value measurements. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. We
adopted of this guidance as of December 31, 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial
statements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations
Our principal commitments as of December 31, 2012 consist of obligations under operating leases. We expect to fulfill all of
the following commitments from our working capital. We have no off-balance sheet arrangements within the meaning of SEC rules.
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Lease Commitments
We lease our facilities and some of our equipment under noncancelable operating lease arrangements that expire at various
dates through 2018. Rent expense for these leases aggregated $5.8 million, $5.7 million, and $5.3 million during 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively.
The following table summarizes our contractual commitments as of December 31, 2012 (in thousands):
Non-cancelable operating leases

Total
$ 32,910

$

2013
6,630

$

2014
6,317

$

2015
5,452

$

2016
5,410

$

2017
5,368

Thereafter
$
3,733

Indemnifications
Our customer contracts generally contain infringement indemnity provisions. Under those provisions, we generally agree,
subject to certain exceptions, to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the customer in connection with third party claims against the
customer alleging that the customer’s use of our software products in compliance with their license infringe the third party’s patent,
copyright, or other intellectual property rights. Conditions to our obligations generally include that we are provided the right to
control the defense of the claims and, in general, to control settlement negotiations. Those provisions generally provide also that, if
the customer is prevented from using our software because of a third party infringement claim, our sole obligation (in addition to the
indemnification, defense, and hold harmless obligation referred to above) is to, at our expense, (i) procure for the customer the right to
continue to use the software, (ii) to replace or modify the product so that its use by the customer does not infringe, or, if either of the
foregoing are not reasonably feasible, to terminate the customer contract and provide a refund of the unamortized portion of the
customer’s license fee (based on a five year amortization period). Our customer contracts sometimes also require us to indemnify,
defend, and hold harmless the customer in connection with death, personal injury, or property damage claims made by third parties
with respect to actions of our personnel or contractors. Conditions to our obligations generally include that we are provided the right
to control the defense of the claims and, in general, to control settlement negotiations. The indemnity obligations contained in our
customer contracts generally have no specified expiration date and no specified monetary limitation on liability. We have not
previously incurred costs to settle claims or pay awards under these indemnification obligations. We account for these indemnity
obligations in accordance with FASB guidance on accounting for contingencies, and record a liability for these obligations when a
loss is probable and reasonably estimable. We have not recorded any liabilities for these contracts as of December 31, 2012.
Warranties
In general, in our customer contracts we warrant to our customers that our software products will perform in all material
respects in accordance with our standard published specifications in effect at the time of delivery of the licensed products to the
customer for six months after first use of the licensed products, but no more than 24 months after execution of the license agreement.
Additionally, we warrant to our customers that our services will be performed consistent with generally accepted industry standards or
specific service levels through completion of the agreed upon services. If necessary, we would provide for the estimated cost of
product and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history. However, we have not incurred significant
recurring expense under our product or service warranties. As a result, we believe the estimated fair value of these agreements is
nominal. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2012.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Business
Our international business is subject to risks typical of an international business, including, but not limited to differing
economic conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures, other regulations and restrictions, and foreign exchange rate
volatility. Our international operations currently include business activity out of offices in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands,
France, Australia, China, Japan, Singapore, and India. When the U.S. dollar strengthens against a foreign currency, the value of our
sales and expenses in that currency converted to U.S. dollars decreases. When the U.S. dollar weakens, the value of our sales and
expenses in that currency converted to U.S. dollars increases. We recognized a foreign exchange loss of $0.1 million in 2012, a
foreign exchange gain of $0.8 million in 2011, and a foreign exchange loss of $0.7 million in 2010. Foreign exchange rate transaction
gains and losses are classified in “Other (loss) income, net” in our Consolidated Statements of Income. A fluctuation of 10% in the
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period end exchange rates at December 31, 2012 relative to the U.S. dollar would result in a change of approximately $0.4 million in
the reported foreign currency gain. A fluctuation of 10% in the period end exchange rates at December 31, 2011 relative to the U.S.
dollar would result in minimal change to the reported foreign currency gain.
Interest Rates
We currently invest our cash in a variety of financial instruments, including taxable and tax-advantaged floating rate
obligations in money market funds and certificates of deposit. These investments are mainly denominated in U.S. dollars. Cash
balances in foreign currencies overseas are derived from business operations. At December 31, 2012, our cash, cash equivalents, and
investment balances totaled $103.0 million, of which $96.7 million is highly liquid. The remaining $6.3 million balance is invested in
short-term certificates of deposit. Our cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2012 was $45.9 million. Cash equivalents principally
consist of highly liquid money market funds and certificates of deposit with maturities of less than three months when purchased.
Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest-earning instruments carry interest rate risk. Fixed rate securities may
have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating rate securities may produce less income
than expected if interest rates fall. Due in part to these factors, our future investment income may fall short of expectations due to
changes in interest rates, or we may suffer losses in principal if forced to sell securities that have seen a decline in market value due to
changes in interest rates. The weighted-average interest rate of return on cash and investment securities was approximately 1% for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The fair value of cash equivalents and investments held at December 31, 2012 and 2011
was $52.3 million and $42.7 million, respectively. Based on the average investments outstanding during 2012 and 2011, increases or
decreases in the rates of return of 25 basis points would result in increases or decreases to interest income of approximately $0.3
million for both years from the reported interest income.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Financial Statements
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Consolidated Financial
Statements
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management of Manhattan Associates, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
the directors of the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
As of the end of the Company’s 2012 fiscal year, management conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has determined that the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012 was effective.
Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2012, has audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012 and has
issued a report regarding the Company’s internal control over financial reporting appearing on page 42, which expresses an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012.
/s/ Eddie Capel
Eddie Capel
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 22, 2013
/s/ Dennis B. Story
Dennis B. Story
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, and Treasurer
February 22, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Manhattan Associates, Inc. and Subsidiaries
We have audited Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012 of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries, and our report dated February 22, 2013 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 22, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Manhattan Associates, Inc. and Subsidiaries
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the
Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2012, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, and our report dated February 22, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 22, 2013
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MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

2012

Revenue:

$

Software license
Services

Year Ended December 31,
2011

61,494

283,872

$

30,882

Hardware and other

Cost of services

Research and development

6,806

98,776

44,704

42,372

40,508

24,785

Total costs and expenses

Interest income

296,175

267,890

1,062

1,072

Income tax provision
Net income

$
$

Basic earnings per share

$

Diluted earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares:

29,185
51,853
2.64

2.56

19,660

Basic

20,271

Diluted

255,190

41,927

636

792

81,038

Income before income taxes

9,161
-

61,363

(97)

Other (loss) income, net

34,027

7,284
(2,519)

80,073

Operating income

42,702

37,708

5,638
-

Depreciation and amortization
Recovery of previously impaired investment

23,844

43,944

38,474

General and administrative

6,172

107,510

45,622

Sales and marketing

297,117

128,686

25,213

Cost of hardware and other

(779)

63,227

41,784

$

18,320
44,907

$

13,723
28,061

$

2.20

$

1.31

$

2.09

$

20,455

21,492

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Statements of Income.

44

54,450

213,750

28,917

329,253

7,838

Cost of license

$

30,954

376,248

Total revenue

Costs and expenses:

54,241

244,058

2010

1.25

21,497

22,450

MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands)

2012
$

Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of taxes of $53, ($20) and $43
in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

Comprehensive income

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

51,853

$

44,907

$

318

(4,024)

1,012

92
410

(33)
(4,057)

71
1,083

52,263

$

40,850

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.
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28,061

29,144

MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $6,235 and $4,816 in 2012 and 2011, respectively
Deferred income taxes
Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Long-term investments
Goodwill
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets

December 31,
2012
2011
$

$

96,737
6,310
62,102
7,787
7,386
1,185
181,507
15,650
62,265
732
1,659
261,813

$

$

92,180
6,079
56,264
7,599
4,859
6,059
1,474
174,514
13,321
855
62,261
5,696
2,953
259,600

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accrued and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Income taxes payable
Total current liabilities

$

Deferred rent, long-term
Deferred income taxes
Other non-current liabilities
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or
outstanding in 2012 or 2011
Common stock, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 19,620,967 and 20,415,946
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$

10,229
16,720
12,233
47,935
4,024
91,141

8,090
16,503
13,648
49,882
88,123

5,770
656
2,737

6,612
2,785

-

-

196
166,016
(4,703)
161,509
261,813

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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$

$

204
166,989
(5,113)
162,080
259,600

MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2012
2011
2010
Operating activities:
Net income
$ 51,853
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
5,638
Recovery of previously impaired investment
Equity-based compensation
8,338
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment
(46)
Tax benefits of stock awards exercised/vested
9,901
Excess tax benefits from equity-based compensation
(7,531)
Deferred income taxes
5,388
Unrealized foreign currency loss (gain)
427
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
(5,446)
Other assets
281
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
(162)
Income taxes
8,831
Deferred revenue
(2,201)
Net cash provided by operating activities
75,271

$ 28,061

7,284
(2,519)
10,372
25
7,481
(2,474)
2,409
(189)

9,161
10,420
(4)
2,207
(475)
(463)
210

(8,994)
(1,332)
(3,537)
(2,514)
4,905
55,824

(9,454)
(2,661)
8,271
(2,934)
7,633
49,972

(7,873)
(7,582)
7,446
1,000
(7,009)

(5,074)
(7,296)
4,438
3,323
(4,609)

(5,871)
(8,625)
4,414
1,200
(8,882)

(103,155)
32,082
7,531
(63,542)

(133,144)
52,721
2,474
(77,949)

(77,704)
36,368
475
(40,861)

(163)

(1,830)

298

Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of short-term investments
Maturities of short-term investments
Sales of long-term investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Purchase of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from options exercised
Excess tax benefits from equity-based compensation
Net cash used in financing activities

$ 44,907

Foreign currency impact on cash
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

4,557
92,180
$ 96,737

(28,564)
120,744
$ 92,180

527
120,217
$ 120,744

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for taxes

$

$ 11,113

$ 14,340

6,277

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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20,415,946 $
(2,022,739)
1,252,634
(24,874)
19,620,967 $

204
(20)
12
196

217
(37)
21
3
-

225
(28)
16
4
-

$

$

(50,309)
32,070
8,338
9,901
-

487
(71,037)
52,700
10,369
7,481
-

2,892
(51,380)
36,352
10,416
2,207
-

$

$

166,989
(52,826)
51,853
166,016

184,152
(62,070)
44,907

182,387
(26,296)
28,061

Retained
Earnings

48

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity.

21,729,789
(3,685,196)
2,108,066
263,287
-

Balance, December 31, 2011
Repurchase of common stock
Stock option exercises
Restricted stock shares/units issuance/cancelation
Equity-based compensation
Tax effects of equity-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized loss on investments
Net income
Balance, December 31, 2012

Balance, December 31, 2010
Repurchase of common stock
Stock option exercises
Restricted stock shares/units issuance/cancelation
Equity-based compensation
Tax effects of equity-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized loss on investments
Net income

22,467,123
(2,766,173)
1,613,735
415,104
-

Balance, December 31, 2009
Repurchase of common stock
Stock option exercises
Restricted stock shares/units issuance/cancelation
Equity-based compensation
Tax effects of equity-based compensation
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain on investments
Net income

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

(In thousands, except share data)

MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

$

$

(5,113)
318
92
(4,703)

(1,056)
(4,024)
(33)
-

(2,139)
1,012
71
-

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

$

$

162,080
(103,155)
32,082
8,338
9,901
318
92
51,853
161,509

183,800
(133,144)
52,721
10,372
7,481
(4,024)
(33)
44,907

183,365
(77,704)
36,368
10,420
2,207
1,012
71
28,061

Total
Shareholders'
Equity

MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
1. Organization, Consolidation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Business
Manhattan Associates, Inc. (“Manhattan” or the “Company”) is a developer and provider of supply chain solutions that help
organizations optimize the effectiveness, efficiency, and strategic advantages of their supply chains. The Company’s solutions consist
of software, services, and hardware, which coordinate people, workflows, assets, events, and tasks holistically across the functions
linked in a supply chain from planning through execution. These solutions also help coordinate the actions, data exchange, and
communication of participants in supply chain ecosystems, such as manufacturers, suppliers, distributors, trading partners,
transportation providers, channels (such as catalogers, store retailers, and Web outlets), and consumers.
The Company’s operations are in North America, Europe, and the Asia/Pacific region. The European operations are
conducted through the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, Manhattan Associates Limited, Manhattan Associates Europe B.V.,
Manhattan France SARL, and Manhattan Associates GmbH, in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, France, and Germany,
respectively. The Company’s Asia/Pacific operations are conducted through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Manhattan Associates Pty
Ltd., Manhattan Associates KK, Manhattan Associates Software (Shanghai), Co. Ltd., Manhattan Associates Software Pte Ltd., and
Manhattan Associates (India) Development Centre Private Limited in Australia, Japan, China, Singapore, and India, respectively. The
Company occasionally sells its products and services in other countries, such as countries in Latin America, Eastern Europe, Middle
East, and Asia, through its direct sales channel as well as various reseller channels.
Principles of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Translation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries have been translated into United States dollars in accordance with the foreign
currency matters topic in the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (the
“Codification”). Revenues and expenses from international operations were denominated in the respective local currencies and
translated using the average monthly exchange rates for the year. All balance sheet accounts have been translated using the exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date and the effect of changes in exchange rates from year to year are disclosed as a separate
component of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income.
New Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update on testing goodwill for impairment to simplify the
goodwill impairment test. The standards update is intended to reduce cost and complexity of the annual goodwill impairment test by
permitting companies to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. Under this
standards update, a company is not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the company determines that it is more
likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. The “more likely than not” threshold is defined as having a
likelihood of more than 50 percent. This guidance is effective for interim and annual goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2011. The Company adopted this guidance as of December 31, 2012. The adoption of this
guidance did not have a material impact on its financial statements.
In May 2011, the FASB issued an Accounting Standards Update on fair value measurements that clarifies the application of
existing guidance and disclosure requirements, changes certain fair value measurement principles, and requires additional disclosures
about fair value measurements. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The
Company adopted of this guidance as of December 31, 2012. The adoption this guidance did not have a material impact on its
financial statements.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash or
cash equivalents.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of
cash and cash equivalents, short- and long-term investments and accounts receivable. The Company maintains cash and cash
equivalents and short- and long-term investments with various financial institutions. Amounts held at certain financial institutions are
above the federally insured limit.
The Company’s sales are primarily to companies located in the United States, Europe and Asia. The Company performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and does not require collateral. Accounts receivable are due
principally from large U.S., European and Asia Pacific companies under stated contract terms. Accounts receivable, net as of
December 31, 2012 for the Americas, EMEA, and APAC companies were $51.0 million, $8.2 million, and $2.8 million, respectively.
Accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2011 for the Americas, EMEA, and APAC companies were $46.0 million, $6.1 million,
and $4.1 million, respectively. The Company’s top five customers in aggregate accounted for 12%, 15%, and 10% of total revenue in
the period the related sales were recorded for each of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. No single
customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue in the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 or for more than 10% of
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.
Fair Value Measurement
The Company measures its investments based on a fair value hierarchy disclosure framework that prioritizes and ranks the
level of market price observability used in measuring assets and liabilities at fair value. Market price observability is affected by a
number of factors, including the type of asset or liability and their characteristics. This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad
levels as follows:
•
•

•

Level 1–Quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2–Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets
that are not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in
active markets.
Level 3–Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are
unobservable.

The Company’s investments are categorized as available-for-sale securities and recorded at fair market value. Investments
with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase are classified as cash equivalents; investments with maturities of greater
than 90 days from the date of purchase but less than one year are generally classified as short-term investments; and investments with
maturities of one year or greater from the date of purchase are generally classified as long-term investments. Unrealized holding gains
and losses are reflected as a net amount in a separate component of shareholders’ equity until realized. For the purposes of computing
realized gains and losses, cost is determined on a specific identification basis.
Prior to 2008, the Company invested in auction rate securities of which certain auctions failed during 2008 and the
underlying securities were not redeemed by the issuer. In the quarter ended September 30, 2008, the Company recorded an otherthan-temporary impairment charge of $3.5 million for one of its investments. The Company reduced the carrying value of the
investment to zero due to credit downgrades of the underlying issuer and the bond insurer as well as increasing publicly reported
exposure to bankruptcy risk by the issuer. In the quarter ended September 30, 2011, the Company was able to sell the auction rate
security and recovered 72%, or $2.5 million, of its original investment. The $2.5 million recovery from the sale of the auction rate
security is included in the recovery of previously impaired investment line in the Consolidated Statements of Income. During 2010,
2011, and 2012, the Company sold all of its remaining auction rate securities investments at their par value totaling $3.0 million. The
Company currently has no long-term investments.
At December 31, 2012, the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments balances were $50.8 million,
$45.9 million, and $6.3 million, respectively. Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid money market funds and certificates of
deposit. Short-term investments consist of certificates of deposit. The Company uses quoted prices from active markets that are
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classified at Level 1 as a highest level observable input in the disclosure hierarchy framework for all available-for-sale securities. At
December 31, 2012, the Company has $35.2 million in money market funds, which are classified as Level 1 and are included in cash
and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company has no investments classified as Level 2 or Level 3.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Significant estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based upon an evaluation of historical amounts
written-off, the customers’ ability to pay, and general economic conditions; the useful lives of intangible assets; self-insurance
accruals; legal accruals; the recoverability or impairment of intangible asset values; stock based compensation, which is based on the
expected term of the award and corresponding expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, and dividends; and the Company’s effective
income tax rate and deferred tax assets, which are based upon the Company’s expectations of future taxable income, allowable
deductions, and projected tax credits. Actual results will differ from these estimates.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other financial instruments
included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets approximate their fair values principally due to the short-term maturities
of these instruments. Unrealized gains and losses on investments are included as a separate component of “Accumulated other
comprehensive loss,” net of any related tax effect, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Risks Associated with Single Business Line, Technological Advances, and Foreign Operations
The Company currently derives a substantial portion of its revenues from sales of its software and related services and
hardware. The markets for supply chain execution and supply chain planning solutions are highly competitive, subject to rapid
technological change, changing customer needs, frequent new product introductions, and evolving industry standards that may render
existing products and services obsolete. As a result, the Company’s position in these markets could be eroded rapidly by unforeseen
changes in customer requirements for application features, functions, and technologies. The Company’s growth and future operating
results will depend, in part, upon its ability to enhance existing applications and develop and introduce new applications that meet
changing customer requirements that respond to competitive products and that achieve market acceptance. Any factor adversely
affecting the markets for supply chain execution and supply chain planning solutions could have an adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition, and results of operations.
The Company’s international business is subject to risks typical of an international business, including, but not limited to,
differing economic conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures, other regulations and restrictions, and foreign
exchange rate volatility. Accordingly, future results could be materially adversely impacted by changes in these or other factors. The
Company recognized a foreign exchange rate loss of $0.1 million in 2012, foreign exchange rate gain of $0.8 million in 2011, and
foreign exchange rate loss of $0.7 million in 2010. Foreign exchange rate transaction gains and losses are classified in “Other (loss)
income, net” on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue consists of fees from the licensing and hosting of software (collectively included in “Software
license” revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Income), fees from implementation and training services (collectively,
“professional services”) and customer support services and software enhancements (collectively included in “Services” revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income), and sales of hardware and other revenue, which consists of reimbursements of out-of-pocket
expenses incurred in connection with our professional services (collectively included in “Hardware and other” revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income). All revenue is recognized net of any related sales taxes.
The Company recognizes license revenue when the following criteria are met: (1) a signed contract is obtained covering all
elements of the arrangement, (2) delivery of the product has occurred, (3) the license fee is fixed or determinable, and (4) collection is
probable. Revenue recognition for software with multiple-element arrangements requires recognition of revenue using the “residual
method” when (a) there is vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of the fair values of all undelivered elements in a multiple51
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element arrangement that is not accounted for using long-term contract accounting, (b) VSOE of fair value does not exist for one or
more of the delivered elements in the arrangement, and (c) all other applicable revenue-recognition criteria for software revenue
recognition, are satisfied. For those contracts that contain significant customization or modifications, license revenue is recognized
using contract accounting.
The Company allocates revenue to customer support services and software enhancements and any other undelivered elements
of the arrangement based on VSOE of fair value of each element and such amounts are deferred until the applicable delivery criteria
and other revenue recognition criteria have been met. The balance of the revenue, net of any discounts inherent in the arrangement, is
recognized at the outset of the arrangement using the residual method as the product licenses are delivered. If the Company cannot
objectively determine the fair value of each undelivered element based on the VSOE of fair value, the Company defers revenue
recognition until all elements are delivered, all services have been performed, or until fair value can be objectively determined. The
Company must apply judgment in determining all elements of the arrangement and in determining the VSOE of fair value for each
element, considering the price charged for each product on a stand-alone basis or applicable renewal rates. For arrangements that
include future software functionality deliverables, the Company accounts for these deliverables as a separate element of the
arrangement. Because the Company does not sell these deliverables on a standalone basis, the Company is not able to establish VSOE
of fair value of these deliverables. As a result, the Company defers all revenue under the arrangement until the future functionality has
been delivered to the customer.
Payment terms for the Company’s software licenses vary. Each contract is evaluated individually to determine whether the
fees in the contract are fixed or determinable and whether collectibility is probable. Judgment is required in assessing the probability
of collection, which is generally based on evaluation of customer-specific information, historical collection experience, and economic
market conditions. If market conditions decline, or if the financial conditions of customers deteriorate, the Company may be unable to
determine that collectibility is probable, and the Company could be required to defer the recognition of revenue until the Company
receives customer payments. The Company has an established history of collecting under the terms of its software license contracts
without providing refunds or concessions to its customers. Therefore, the Company has determined that the presence of payment
terms that extend beyond contract execution in a particular contract do not preclude the conclusion that the fees in the contract are
fixed or determinable. Although infrequent, when payment terms in a contract extend beyond twelve months, the Company has
determined that such fees are not fixed or determinable and recognizes revenue as payments become due provided that all other
conditions for revenue recognition have been met.
The Company’s services revenue consists of fees generated from professional services and customer support and software
enhancements related to the Company’s software products. Professional services include system planning, design, configuration,
testing and other software implementation support and are not typically essential to the functionality of our software. Fees from
professional services performed by the Company are separately priced and are generally billed on an hourly basis, and revenue is
recognized as the services are performed. In certain situations, professional services are rendered under agreements in which billings
are limited to contractual maximums or based upon a fixed-fee for portions of or all of the engagement. Revenue related to fixed-fee
based contracts is recognized on a proportional performance basis based on the hours incurred on discrete projects within an overall
services arrangement. The Company has determined that output measures, or services delivered, approximate the input measures
associated with fixed-fee services arrangements. Project losses are provided for in their entirety in the period in which they become
known. Revenue related to customer support services and software enhancements is generally paid in advance and recognized ratably
over the term of the agreement, typically twelve months.
Hardware and other revenue is generated from the resale of a variety of hardware products, developed and manufactured by
third parties, that are integrated with and complementary to the Company’s software solutions. As part of a complete solution, the
Company’s customers periodically purchase hardware from the Company for use with the software licenses purchased from the
Company. These products include computer hardware, radio frequency terminal networks, RFID chip readers, bar code printers and
scanners, and other peripherals. Hardware revenue is recognized upon shipment to the customer when title passes. The Company
generally purchases hardware from the Company’s vendors only after receiving an order from a customer. As a result, the Company
generally does not maintain hardware inventory.
In accordance with the other presentation matters within the Revenue Recognition Topic of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board’s (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification, the Company recognizes amounts associated with reimbursements
from customers for out-of-pocket expenses as revenue. Such amounts have been included in “Hardware and other” revenue in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The total amount of expense reimbursement recorded to revenue was $12.6 million, $10.4
million, and $9.0 million for 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
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Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue represents amounts collected prior to having completed performance of professional services, customer
support services and software enhancements, and significant remaining obligations under license agreements. The Company generally
expects to complete such services or obligations within the next twelve months.
Returns and Allowances
The Company has not experienced significant returns or warranty claims to date and, as a result, has not recorded a provision
for the cost of returns and product warranty claims at December 31, 2012 or 2011.
The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the historical experience of write-offs and a detailed
assessment of accounts receivable. Additions to the allowance for doubtful accounts generally represent a sales allowance on services
revenue, which are recorded to operations as a reduction to services revenue. The total amounts charged to operations were $4.3
million, $2.5 million, and $3.5 million for 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. In estimating the allowance for doubtful accounts,
management considers the age of the accounts receivable, the Company’s historical write-offs, and the creditworthiness of the
customer, among other factors. Should any of these factors change, the estimates made by management will also change accordingly,
which could affect the level of the Company’s future allowances. Uncollectible accounts are written off when it is determined that the
specific balance is not collectible.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost and consists of furniture, computers, other office equipment, internal use
software, and leasehold improvements. The Company depreciates the cost of furniture, computers, other office equipment, and
internal use software on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives (three to five years for computer software, five years for
office equipment, seven years for furniture and fixtures). Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of their useful lives
or the term of the lease. Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010 was approximately $5.6 million, $6.1 million, and $6.9 million, respectively, and was included in “Depreciation and
amortization” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Property and equipment, at cost, consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
$

Office equipment

Computer software

2012

28,889

15,727

$

2,892

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvement

$

Property, plant and equipment, net

36,667

15,466
2,746

15,606

14,834

(47,464)

(56,392)

63,114

Property, plant and equipment, gross

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

2011

15,650

69,713

$

13,321

Software Development Costs
Research and development expenses are charged to expense as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and
2010, the Company did not capitalize any internal research and development costs because the costs incurred between the attainment
of technological feasibility for the related software product through the date when the product was available for general release to
customers have been insignificant.
The Company determines the amount of development costs capitalizable under the provisions of FASB Codification
accounting for costs of computer software to be sold, leased, or marketed. Under this guidance, computer software development costs
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are charged to R&D expense until technological feasibility is established, after which remaining software production costs are
capitalized. The Company has defined technological feasibility as the point in time at which the Company has a detailed program
design or a working model of the related product, depending on the type of development efforts, and high-risk development issues
have been resolved through end-to-end system testing.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews the values assigned to long-lived assets, including property and certain intangible assets, to determine
whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the remaining estimated useful lives may warrant revision or that
the remaining balances may not be recoverable. In such reviews, undiscounted cash flows associated with these assets are compared
with their carrying value to determine if a write-down to fair value is required. During 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Company did not
recognize any impairment charges associated with its long-lived or intangible assets.
The evaluation of asset impairment requires management to make assumptions about future cash flows over the life of the
asset being evaluated. These assumptions require significant judgment, and actual results may differ from assumed and estimated
amounts.
Goodwill and Impairment of Goodwill
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over fair value of net identified tangible and intangible assets and liabilities
acquired. The Company does not amortize goodwill, but instead tests goodwill for impairment on at least an annual basis. Goodwill
was $62.3 million at the end of each year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. Approximately $36.0 million of the gross Goodwill
balance is deductible for income tax purposes. To date, there have been no goodwill impairments.
Impairment of Goodwill
The Company evaluates the carrying value of goodwill annually as of December 31 and between annual evaluations if events
occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount.
Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to, (1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate,
(2) unanticipated competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator.
The Company adopted the simplified goodwill impairment test for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, that permits
companies to perform a qualitative assessment based on economic, industry and company-specific factors as the initial step in the
annual goodwill impairment test for all or selected reporting units. Based on the results of the qualitative assessment, companies are
only required to perform Step 1 of the annual impairment test for a reporting unit if the company concludes that it is more likely than
not that the unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. To the extent the Company concludes it is more likely than not that a
reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount, the two-step approach is applied. The first step would require a comparison
of each reporting unit’s fair value to the respective carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, a second step is
performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The Company did not identify any macroeconomic or industry
conditions as of December 31, 2012, that would indicate the fair value of the reporting units were more likely than not to be less than
their respective carrying values. If circumstances change or events occur to indicate it is more likely than not that the fair value of any
reporting units have fallen below their carrying value, the Company would test such reporting unit for impairment. The Company
previously performed its periodic review of its goodwill for impairment as of December 31, 2011, and 2010, and did not identify any
impairment as a result of the review.
Guarantees and Indemnifications
The Company accounts for guarantees in accordance with the guarantee accounting topic in the FASB Codification. Our
customer contracts generally contain infringement indemnity provisions. Under those provisions, we generally agree, subject to certain
exceptions, to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the customer in connection with third party claims against the customer alleging
that the customer’s use of our software products in compliance with their license infringe the third party’s patent, copyright, or other
intellectual property rights. Conditions to our obligations generally include that we are provided the right to control the defense of the
claims and, in general, to control settlement negotiations. Those provisions generally provide also that, if the customer is prevented
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from using our software because of a third party infringement claim, our sole obligation (in addition to the indemnification, defense,
and hold harmless obligation referred to above) is to, at our expense, (i) procure for the customer the right to continue to use the
software, (ii) to replace or modify the product so that its use by the customer does not infringe, or, if either of the foregoing are not
reasonably feasible, to terminate the customer contract and provide a refund of the unamortized portion of the customer’s license fee
(based on a five year amortization period). Our customer contracts sometimes also require us to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless
the customer in connection with death, personal injury, or property damage claims made by third parties with respect to actions of our
personnel or contractors. Conditions to our obligations generally include that we are provided the right to control the defense of the
claims and, in general, to control settlement negotiations. The indemnity obligations contained in our customer contracts generally
have no specified expiration date and no specified monetary limitation on liability. We have not previously incurred costs to settle
claims or pay awards under these indemnification obligations. We account for these indemnity obligations in accordance with FASB
guidance on accounting for contingencies, and record a liability for these obligations when a loss is probable and reasonably
estimable. We have not recorded any liabilities for these contracts as of December 31, 2012, or 2011.
In general, in our customer contracts, the Company warrants to its customers that its software products will perform in all
material respects in accordance with the standard published specifications in effect at the time of delivery of the licensed products to
the customer for six months after first use of the licensed products, but no more than 24 months after execution of the license
agreement. Additionally, the Company warrants to its customers that services will be performed consistent with generally accepted
industry standards or specific service levels through completion of the agreed upon services. If necessary, the Company will provide
for the estimated cost of product and service warranties based on specific warranty claims and claim history. However, the Company
has not incurred significant recurring expense under product or service warranties. As a result, the Company believes the estimated
fair value of these agreements is nominal. Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of
December 31, 2012, and 2011.
Segment Information
The Company has three reporting segments: Americas, EMEA, and APAC as defined by FASB Codification topic for
segment reporting. See Note 7 for discussion of the Company’s reporting segments.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled approximately $95,000, $240,000, and $10,000 in 2012, 2011, and
2010, respectively. Advertising costs are included in “Sales and marketing” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Basic and Diluted Net Income Per Share
Basic net income per share is computed using net income divided by the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding (“Weighted Shares”) for the period presented.
Diluted net income per share is computed using net income divided by Weighted Shares and the treasury stock method effect
of common equivalent shares (“CESs”) outstanding for each period presented. The following is a reconciliation of the shares used in
the computation of net income per share for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 (in thousands, except per share data):
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2012

Net income

$

Earnings per share:

$

Basic
Effect of CESs
Diluted

$

Weighted average number of shares:

Year Ended December 31,
2011

51,853
2.64
(0.08)
2.56

44,907

$

28,061

$

2.20
(0.11)
2.09

$

1.31
(0.06)
1.25

$

19,660

Basic

$

20,455

611
20,271

Effect of CESs
Diluted

2010

$

21,497

1,037
21,492

953
22,450

Options to purchase 2,000 shares and 1,312,639 shares of common stock were outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the options’ exercise prices were greater
than the average market price of the common shares during the respective years. There were no anti-dilutive CESs in 2012. See Note
2 for further information on those securities.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income includes net income, foreign currency translation adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses on
investments that are excluded from net income and reflected in shareholders’ equity.
The following table sets forth the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (in thousands):

$

Unrealized loss on investments, net of taxes
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Total

$

2012

December 31,
-

(4,703)
(4,703)

$
$

2011
(92)

(5,021)
(5,113)

2. Equity-Based Compensation
Equity Based Compensation Plans
The Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors and
approved by the shareholders in February 1998. Options granted under the 1998 Plan cannot have a term exceeding ten years. Options
typically have an annual graded vesting schedule over four years and vest based on service conditions. Following approval of the
Manhattan Associates, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”) discussed below, the Company may not make any additional
awards under the 1998 Plan.
The 2007 Plan was initially approved by the shareholders of the Company in May 2007 and was subsequently amended in
May 2009 and May 2011. The 2007 Plan provides for the grant of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and stock
appreciation rights. Vesting conditions can be service-based or performance-based, or a combination of both.
As amended, a maximum of 7,500,000 shares are available for grant under the 2007 Plan. Each stock option or stock
appreciation right granted is counted against the maximum share limitation as one share, and each share of restricted stock or
restricted stock unit granted (including those that are service based or performance based) counts against the maximum share
limitation as two shares. Options and stock appreciation rights cannot have a term exceeding seven years. As of December 31, 2012,
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there were 3,533,966 shares available for issuance under the amended 2007 Plan. The 1998 and 2007 Plans are administered by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The committee has the authority to interpret the provisions thereof.
In January 2010 the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved certain changes to the Company’s
historical equity incentive grant practices, with the objective to optimize its performance and retention strength while managing
program share usage to improve long-term equity overhang. The changes eliminated stock option awards in favor of 100% restricted
stock grants, which for the 2010 and 2011 awards contain vesting provisions that are 50% service based and 50% performance based
for employee awards and 100% service based for non-employee members of the Board of Directors (“Outside Directors”). The equity
compensation program change for employees was effective January 2010 and for Outside Directors was effective May 2010. The
employee awards have a four year vesting period, with the performance portion tied to annual revenue and earnings per share targets.
The awards to Outside Directors have a one year vesting period. The Company recognizes compensation cost for service-based
restricted awards with graded vesting on a straight-line basis over the entire vesting period, with the amount of compensation cost
recognized at any date at least equal to the portion of the grant-date value of the award that is vested at that date. For its performancebased restricted stock awards with graded vesting, the Company recognizes compensation cost on an accelerated basis applying
straight-line expensing for each separately vesting portion of each award.
In January 2012, in order to simplify equity grant administration, the Company changed its practice of granting restricted
stock in favor of granting restricted stock units, or RSUs, which convert to the Company’s common stock upon vesting. There is no
material difference between the grant of restricted stock and the grant of RSUs to either the Company or the recipients receiving the
grants; however, in contrast to the granting of restricted stock, no stock will actually be issued under the granting of RSUs until the
units vest. The Company does not currently grant stock options.
Stock Option Awards
The Company recorded equity-based compensation related to stock options granted prior to 2011 of $0.6 million, $2.0
million, and $3.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. A summary of changes in
outstanding options for the year ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:

Outstanding at January 1, 2012

Exercised
Forfeited and expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2012
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2012

Exercisable at December 31, 2012

Number of
Shares

1,633,566

(1,252,634)
(9,182)
371,750
351,574

278,868

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Term

25.61
21.08
$22.13

2.1

$24.79

$22.46

$24.09

2.1

1.8

Average
Intrinsic
Value (in
thousands)

$
$

$

14,206
13,317

10,109

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions for the year ended December 31, 2010:
2010

Dividend yield

Expected volatility

0%

36%

Risk-free interest rate at the date of grant

2.4%

Expected life (in years)

4.0

No stock options were granted in 2011 or 2012.
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Expected volatilities are based on a combination of historical volatility of the Company’s stock and implied volatility of the
Company’s publicly traded stock options. Due to the limited trading volume of the Company’s publicly traded options, the Company
places a greater emphasis on historical volatility. The Company also uses historical data to estimate the term that options are expected
to be outstanding and the forfeiture rate of options granted. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon
issues with a term approximating the expected term. Using these assumptions, the weighted average grant-date fair values of the stock
options granted during the year ended December 31, 2010 was $7.82.
Options with graded vesting are valued as a single award. The total value of the award is expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period with the amount of compensation cost recognized at any date at least equal to the portion of the grant-date fair
value of the award that is vested at that date. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010 based on market value at the exercise dates was $31.2 million, $25.8 million, and $11.9 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2012, unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock option awards totaled less than $0.1 million and is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of less than one year.
Restricted Stock and RSU Awards
A summary of changes in unvested shares/units of restricted stock for the year ended December 31, 2012 are as follows:
Number of
Shares

Outstanding at January 1, 2012

655,155

Granted

227,748

Vested

Grant Date Fair
Value
$

(252,285)

Forfeited
Outstanding at December 31, 2012

(33,419)
597,199

25.84

44.08

25.62

$

29.07
32.70

The Company recorded equity-based compensation related to restricted stock and RSUs of $7.7 million, $8.4 million, and
$6.6 million during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock awards
vested during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, based on market value at the vesting dates was $15.2 million,
$10.8 million, and $3.6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2012, unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
restricted stock awards totaled $9.8 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 2.2
years.
Included in the RSU grants for the year ended December 31, 2012, are 98,202 units that have performance-based vesting
criteria. As noted above, the performance criteria are tied to the Company’s 2012 financial performance. As of December 31, 2012,
the performance criteria for the fiscal year were met and the associated equity-based compensation expense has been recognized for
the portion of the award attributable to 2012 services.
The Company recognizes compensation cost for service-based restricted stock awards with graded vesting on a straight-line
basis over the entire vesting period, with the amount of compensation cost recognized at any date at least equal to the portion of the
grant-date value of the award that is vested at that date. For performance-based restricted stock awards with graded vesting, the
Company recognizes compensation cost on an accelerated basis applying straight-line expensing for each separately vesting portion of
each award.
3. Income Taxes
The Company is subject to future federal, state, and foreign income taxes and has recorded net deferred tax assets on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2012 and 2011. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the
difference between the financial accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Significant components of the Company’s deferred
tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows (in thousands):
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2012

Deferred tax assets:

$

Accounts receivable
Accrued liabilities

December 31,
2011

2,128

4,131

$

1,722

4,745

3,595

Equity-based compensation

5,765

2,647

Capitalized costs

3,801

765

Accrued sales taxes

765

Deferred rent

2,435

2,658

Net operating losses

2,246

2,803

3,079

State tax credits

2,958

683

Tax credits - foreign

1,205

(5,965)

Valuation allowance

(6,711)

591

Other

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets

16,335

350

$

20,061

6,155

4,627

8,472
7,863

6,766
13,295

2,317

Depreciation

$

Net deferred tax assets

2,139
$

The components of income from domestic and foreign operations before income tax expense for the years ended December
31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, are as follows (in thousands):

$

Domestic
Foreign
Total

$

2012

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

75,731

5,307
81,038

$
$

55,487

7,740
63,227

$

$

36,881
4,903
41,784

The components of the income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, are as follows (in
thousands):
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2012

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

$

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

20,150
1,835
1,702

$

23,687

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
$

5,498
29,185

$

15,913

4,670
232
596

Total

12,438
1,043
2,432

14,384

4,036
240
(1,869)

$

2,407
18,320

11,271
1,296
1,817
(694)
(29)
62

$

(661)
13,723

The income tax benefits related to the exercise of stock options were approximately $11.0 million, $9.2 million, and $4.2
million, for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
As a result of losses in foreign locations, the Company has net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $7.9
million available to offset future income. Approximately $7.6 million of the NOLs expire in 2013 to 2020, and the remainder does not
expire. The Company has established a valuation allowance for substantially all of these NOLs because the ability to utilize them is
not more likely than not.
The Company has tax credit carry-forwards of approximately $4.7 million available to offset future state tax. These tax
credit carry-forwards expire in 2017 to 2021. These credits represent a deferred tax asset of $3.1 million after consideration of the
federal benefit of state tax deductions. A valuation allowance of $2.8 million has been established for these credits because the ability
to use them is not more likely than not.
The Company recorded a $2.0 million tax benefit in 2011, resulting from the reduction of a valuation allowance associated
with tax credit carryforwards and deferred tax assets in India. The benefit is attributable to the elimination of the tax holiday for
Indian companies under the Software Technology Park of India (STPI) tax plan, based on the February 2011 budget approved by the
India Finance Ministry, which will allow the Company to utilize tax assets previously reserved. The Company expects to fully utilize
the credits by 2015.
Deferred taxes are not provided for temporary differences of approximately $29.5 million, $24.9 million, and $22.2 million
as of December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively, representing earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries that are intended to be
permanently reinvested. Those earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested; accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and
state income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon repatriation of those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise, the
Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to
various foreign countries. It is impractical to calculate the tax impact until such repatriation occurs.
The following is a summary of the items that cause recorded income taxes to differ from taxes computed using the statutory
federal income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010:
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2012
Statutory federal income tax rate
Effect of:
State income tax, net of federal benefit
State credit carryforwards
Foreign operations
Tax exempt income
Tax contingencies
Other permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Income taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

1.8
(0.1)
(0.7)
-

2.1
(0.2)
(4.9)
(0.3)
(1.1)
(1.6)

1.2
(0.6)
(0.8)
(0.1)
0.7
(3.7)
1.1

36.0%

29.0%

32.8%

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows for the years ended December
31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 (in thousands):
December 31,
2011

2012
Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1,
Gross amount of increases in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions
taken during a prior period
Gross amount of decreases in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax
positions taken during a prior period
Gross amount of increases in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions
taken during the current period
Amounts of decreases in the unrecognized tax benefits relating to settlements
with taxing authorities
Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits as a result of a lapse of the applicable
statute of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31,

2010

$ (2,328)

$ (2,435)

$ (2,331)

(47)

(40)

(527)

87

40

360

(142)

(526)

(227)

228

159

240
$ (2,190)

405
$ (2,328)

131
$ (2,435)

The Company’s unrecognized tax benefits totaled $2.2 million and $2.3 million as of December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively, of which substantially all, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate.
The Company recognizes potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within its global
operations in income tax expense. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Company recognized $0.2 million,
$0.1 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, of expense for the potential payment of interest and penalties. Accrued interest and
penalties were $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2011. The Company conducts business globally and, as a
result, files income tax returns in the United State federal jurisdiction and in many state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company is
generally no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, and local, or non-US income tax examinations for the years before 2009. Due to the
expiration of statutes of limitations in multiple jurisdictions globally during 2013, the Company anticipates it is reasonably possible
that unrecognized tax benefits may decrease by $0.3 million.
4. Shareholders’ Equity
During 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Company purchased 1,944,828 shares, 3,607,267 shares, and 2,716,621 shares of the
Company’s common stock for approximately $99.7 million, $130.7 million, and $76.5 million, respectively, through open market
transactions as part of a publicly-announced share repurchase program. In January 2013, the Board of Directors increased the
remaining share repurchase authority to $50.0 million.
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5. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
Rents charged to expense were approximately $5.8 million, $5.7 million, and $5.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively. During the first quarter of 2007, the Company extended its Atlanta headquarters lease, which was
set to expire in March 2008, to September 30, 2018. The landlord funded leasehold improvements of $7.9 million in conjunction with
the new lease which was recorded as an increase in leasehold improvements and deferred rent. Additionally, the Company had a rent
holiday from April to September 2008. In August 2012, the Company amended its Atlanta headquarters lease to obtain additional
space and will receive reimbursement of $0.2 million from the landlord for leasehold improvements as part of the agreement. The
entire cash rent obligation is being amortized to expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Aggregate future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases as of December 31, 2012 are as follows (in
thousands):
Year Ending December 31,
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Thereafter
Total minimum payments required

$

$

6,630
6,317
5,452
5,410
5,368
3,733
32,910

There are no future minimum lease payments under capital leases as of December 31, 2012.
Employment Agreements
The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain executives and other key employees. The agreements
provide for total severance payments of up to approximately $2.1 million for termination of employment for any reason other than
cause. Pursuant to these agreements, payments would be made in equal monthly installments over a period of not more than
12 months. No amounts have been accrued because the payments are not probable and cannot be reasonably estimated.
Legal and Other Matters
From time to time, the Company may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of its ordinary course of business,
and occasionally legal proceeding not in the ordinary course. Many of the Company’s installations involve products that are critical
to the operations of its clients’ businesses. Any failure in a Company product could result in a claim for substantial damages against
the Company, regardless of the Company’s responsibility for such failure. Although the Company attempts to limit contractually its
liability for damages arising from product failures or negligent acts or omissions, there can be no assurance that the limitations of
liability set forth in its contracts will be enforceable in all instances. The Company is not currently a party to any ordinary course
legal proceeding or other legal proceedings the result of which it believes is likely to have a material adverse impact upon its business,
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. The Company expenses legal costs associated with loss contingencies as such
legal costs are incurred.
6. Employee Benefit Plan
The Company sponsors the Manhattan Associates 401(k) Plan and Trust (the “401(k) Plan”), a qualified profit sharing plan
with a 401(k) feature covering substantially all employees of the Company. Under the 401(k) Plan’s deferred compensation
arrangement, eligible employees who elect to participate in the 401(k) Plan may contribute up to 60% of eligible compensation up to
$17,000, as defined, to the 401(k) Plan. The Internal Revenue Service raised the eligible compensation limit to $250,000 for 2012.
During the second quarter of 2009, the Company suspended its 401(k) matching contribution for the remainder of 2009 and full year
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2010. In 2011, the Company reinstated its matching contribution program, which provides for a 25% matching contribution up to 6%
of eligible compensation being contributed after the participant’s first year of employment. In 2012, the Company increased the
401(k) match to a 50% matching contribution up to 6% of eligible compensation. During the years ended December 31, 2012 and
2011, the Company made matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan of $1.3 million, and $0.9 million, respectively.
7. Reporting Segments
The Company manages the business by geographic segment. The Company has identified three geographic reportable
segments: the Americas, EMEA, and APAC. All segments derive revenue from the sale and implementation of the Company’s supply
chain execution and planning solutions. The individual products sold by the segments are similar in nature and are all designed to
help companies manage the effectiveness and efficiency of their supply chain. The Company uses the same accounting policies for
each reporting segment. The chief executive officer and chief financial officer evaluate performance based on revenue and operating
results for each region.
The Americas segment charges royalty fees to the other segments based on software licenses sold by those reporting
segments. The royalties, which totaled $2.9 million, $2.2 million, and $2.5 million in 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively, are included
in cost of revenue for each segment with a corresponding reduction in America’s cost of revenue. The revenues represented below are
from external customers only. The geographical-based costs consist of costs of professional services personnel, direct sales and
marketing expenses, cost of infrastructure to support the employees and customer base, billing and financial systems, and management
and support team. There are certain corporate expenses included in the Americas region that are not charged to the other segments,
including research and development, certain marketing and general and administrative costs that support the global organization, and
the amortization of acquired developed technology. Included in the Americas’ costs are all research and development costs including
the costs associated with the Company’s India operations.
The operating expenses for the Americas segment include $1.2 million and $2.3 million of amortization expense on
intangible assets in 2011 and 2010, respectively. Amortization expense on intangible assets in 2012 was immaterial.
In accordance with the segment reporting topic of the FASB Codification, the Company has included a summary of financial
information by reportable segment. The following table presents the revenues, expenses, and operating income by reportable segment
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

Revenue:
Software license
Services

Hardware and other
Total revenue

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of revenue

Operating expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Recovery of previously impaired investment
Total costs and expenses

Operating income

2012
APAC

Americas

EMEA

$ 50,036

$ 9,569

$ 1,889

28,883

1,402

597

228,673

36,167

Consolidated

19,032

$

2011
APAC

Americas

EMEA

61,494

$ 45,506

$6,362

$2,373

30,882

29,312

1,109

533

283,872

198,041

30,824

15,193

Consolidated
$

54,241

244,058

30,954

307,592

47,138

21,518

376,248

272,859

38,295

18,099

329,253

126,342

23,998

11,397

161,737

108,648

20,436

10,017

139,101

5,158

262

218

5,638

6,741

352

191

7,284

110,575

-

242,075

$ 65,517

13,153

5,072

-

37,413

$ 9,725

128,800

-

16,687

$ 4,831

63

-

$

296,175
80,073

106,439
(2,519)

219,309

$ 53,550

12,268
-

33,056
$5,239

5,317

124,024

-

15,525
$2,574

(2,519)

$

267,890
61,363
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Year Ended December 31, 2010
Americas

Revenue:

Software license

$ 44,254

Services

176,912

Hardware and other

EMEA

APAC

$

$

27,784

Total revenue

Costs and Expenses:
Cost of revenue

Operating expenses

925

Total costs and expenses

$

208

54,450

213,750

28,917

32,166

16,001

297,117

102,682

17,634

8,476

128,792

8,658

324

179

213,082

Operating income

5,224

10,569

248,950

101,742

Depreciation and amortization

4,972

26,269

Total

$ 35,868

10,523

$

28,481
3,685

4,972

$

13,627
2,374

117,237

9,161

$

255,190
41,927

The following table presents the goodwill, long-lived assets, and total assets by reporting segment for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands):

Goodwill
Long lived assets
Total assets

Americas
$ 54,766
15,810
235,945

As of December 31, 2012
EMEA
APAC
Consolidated
$ 5,536 $ 1,963 $
62,265
800
699
17,309
17,391

8,477

261,813

Americas
$ 54,766
15,090

236,122

As of December 31, 2011
EMEA
APAC
Consolidated
$ 5,532 $ 1,963 $
62,261
586
598
16,274
15,330

8,148

259,600

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, we derived revenue from sales to customers outside the United
State of approximately $104.4 million, $90.7 million, and $80.7 million, respectively. Our remaining revenue was derived from
domestic sales.
Our services revenue consists of fees generated from professional services and customer support services and software
enhancements related to our software products for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, are as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,
2012
2011
2010
$ 185,242
$ 156,794
$ 131,871
98,630
87,264
81,879
$ 283,872
$ 244,058
$ 213,750

Professional services
Customer support and software enhancements
Total services revenue

License revenues related to our warehouse and non-warehouse product groups for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011,
and 2010, are as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,
2012
2011
2010
$ 40,068
$
33,560
$
30,966
21,426
20,681
23,484
$ 61,494
$
54,241
$
54,450

Warehouse
Non-Warehouse
Total license revenue
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8. Subsequent Events
The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 ("the Act") was enacted on January 2, 2013. The Act retroactively reinstates the
federal research and development tax credit for amounts incurred from January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2013, which will result
in a reduction in our projected annual effective tax rate for 2013 and the associated income tax expense. Application of the reinstated
provisions to the year ended December 31, 2012 would have reduced income tax expense for that period by approximately $0.7
million. The benefit of the reduction in the annual effective tax rate will be included in our income tax expense beginning in the first
quarter of 2013.
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Statements of Income Data:
Revenue:
Software license
Services
Hardware and other
Total revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of license
Cost of services
Cost of hardware and other
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Recovery of previously impaired investment
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Other income (loss), net
Income before income taxes
Income tax provision
Net income
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share
Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share
$
$
$

$

1,239
24,958
6,300
10,383
10,600
8,676
2,001
64,157
7,553
18
7,571
405
7,166
0.34
0.32
21,027
22,079

7,762
56,078
7,870
71,710

March 31,
2011

$
$
$

$
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1,824
27,462
6,457
10,676
12,309
9,238
2,223
70,189
18,213
334
18,547
6,208
12,339
0.60
0.57
20,696
21,775

16,347
63,774
8,281
88,402

June 30,
2011

$
$
$

$

$

1,196
28,054
6,695
10,877
10,865
9,342
1,698
(2,519)
66,208
19,394
862
20,256
5,379
14,877 $
0.74 $
0.70 $
20,156
21,125

13,565
63,594
8,443
85,602
2,547
27,036
5,333
10,436
10,170
10,452
1,362
67,336
16,203
650
16,853
6,328
10,525
0.53
0.50
19,941
20,923

16,567
60,612
6,360
83,539

$ 15,345
69,322
8,900
93,567

1,777
1,488
31,710
30,322
4,448
7,540
11,551
10,802
12,403
11,415
10,308
9,240
1,344
1,418
73,541
72,225
17,940
21,342
(124)
802
17,816
22,144
6,414
7,972
$ 11,402 $ 14,172
$ 0.57 $ 0.72
$ 0.55 $ 0.70
19,904
19,765
20,637
20,351

$ 15,587
70,370
5,524
91,481

Sept 30,
Dec 31,
March 31, June 30,
2011
2011
2012
2012
(In thousands, except per share data)

Quarter Ended

$

2,086
32,614
6,428
11,400
10,999
9,258
1,379
74,164
21,677
(247)
21,430
7,621
$ 13,809 $
$ 0.71 $
$ 0.69 $
19,568
20,130

$ 16,164
71,886
7,791
95,841

Sept 30,
2012

2,487
34,040
6,797
10,951
10,805
9,668
1,497
76,245
19,114
534
19,648
7,178
12,470
0.64
0.63
19,409
19,913

14,398
72,294
8,667
95,359

Dec 31,
2012

Following is the quarterly results of operations of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011. The unaudited quarterly results have
been prepared on substantially the same basis as the audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

9. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
No system of controls, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the
system of controls are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that the system of controls has operated
effectively in all cases. Our disclosure controls and procedures, however, are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the
objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.
As of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, with
the participation of management, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are
met.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2012, and the report of Ernst & Young LLP on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting are
contained on pages 41 and 42 of this report.
Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the fourth quarter of 2012, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting, including any corrective actions
with regard to material weaknesses.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our Proxy Statement for
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 12, 2013, under the captions “Election of
Directors,” “Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” “Code of Ethics,” and “Board
Committees.”
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the relevant information contained in our Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 12, 2013, under the captions
“Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and
“Compensation Committee Report.”
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the relevant information contained in our Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 12, 2013, under the caption
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.” The information required by this item with respect to the
Company’s securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is included in Part II, Item 5 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the relevant information contained in our Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 12, 2013, under the captions
“Related Party Transactions” and “Election of Directors.”
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the relevant information contained in our Proxy
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders expected to be filed with the SEC on or prior to April 12, 2013, under the caption
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a)

1.

Financial Statements.
The response to this item is submitted as a separate section of this Form 10-K. See Item 8.

2.

Financial Statement Schedule.
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The following financial statement schedule is filed as a part of this report:
SCHEDULE II
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Classification:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
For the year ended:
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2012

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Additions
Charged to
Operations

Net
Deductions

$
$
$

4,943,000
5,711,000
4,816,000

$
$
$

3,467,000
2,508,000
4,294,000

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance
For the year ended:
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011
December 31, 2012

$
$
$

7,887,000
7,689,000
6,711,000

$
$
$

Restructuring Charge Accrual
For the year ended:
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011

$
$

255,000
63,000

$
$

Balance at End
of Period

$ 2,699,000
$ 3,403,000
$ 2,875,000

$
$
$

5,711,000
4,816,000
6,235,000

-

$
$
$

198,000
978,000
746,000

$
$
$

7,689,000
6,711,000
5,965,000

-

$
$

192,000
63,000

$
$

63,000
-

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the consolidated
financial statements or notes thereto.
3.

Exhibits.

See (b) below.
(b)
The exhibits listed below under “Exhibit Index” are filed with or incorporated by reference in this Report. Where such filing
is made by incorporation by reference to a previously filed registration statement or report, such registration statement or report is
identified in parentheses.
(c)

See Item 15(a)(2).

69

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC.
By: /s/ Eddie Capel
Eddie Capel
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
Date: February 22, 2013
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ John J. Huntz, Jr.
John J. Huntz, Jr.
/s/ Eddie Capel
Eddie Capel
/s/ Dennis B. Story
Dennis B. Story
/s/ Brian J. Cassidy
Brian J. Cassidy
/s/ Dan J. Lautenbach
Dan J. Lautenbach
/s/ Thomas E. Noonan
Thomas E. Noonan
/s/ Deepak Raghavan
Deepak Raghavan
/s/ Peter F. Sinisgalli
Peter F. Sinisgalli

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board

February 22, 2013

President, Chief Executive Officer, and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

February 22, 2013

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, and Treasurer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 22, 2013

Director

February 22, 2013

Director

February 22, 2012

Director

February 22, 2013

Director

February 22, 2013

Director

February 22, 2013
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EXHIBIT INDEX
The following exhibits are filed with this Report.
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among the Registrant, Madison Acquisition Corp., Evant, Inc. and Ted
Schlein, as Shareholder Representative, dated August 10, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on August 16, 2005).

2.2

Voting Agreement, by and between the Registrant and the shareholders of Evant, Inc., dated August 10, 2005
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on August 16,
2005).

2.3

Amendment Number 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among Evant, Inc., the Registrant, Madison
Acquisition Corp. and Ted Schlein, as Shareholder Representative, dated as of August 15, 2005 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on August 16, 2005).

3.1

Articles of Incorporation of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on February 27, 1998).

3.2

Amended Bylaws of the Registrant (As Amended Effective October 13, 2010) (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on October 19, 2010).

4.1

Provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Registrant defining rights of the holders of common
stock of the Registrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on February 27, 1998).

4.2

Specimen Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Pre-Effective Amendment
No. 1 to its Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on April 2, 1998).

10.1

Lease Agreement by and between Wildwood Associates, a Georgia general partnership, and the Registrant dated
September 24, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on February 27, 1998).

10.2

First Amendment to Lease between Wildwood Associates, a Georgia general partnership, and the Registrant dated
October 31, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-47095), filed on February 27, 1998).

10.3

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement between Wildwood Associates, a Georgia general partnership, and the
Registrant, dated February 27, 1998 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Pre-Effective
Amendment No. 1 to its Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on April 2, 1998).

10.4

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement between Wildwood Associates and the Registrant, dated October 24, 2000
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31,
2000 (File No. 000-23999), filed on April 2, 2001).

10.5

Lease Agreement by and between Wildwood Associates, a Georgia general partnership, and the Registrant, dated
June 25, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report for the period ended
June 30, 2001 (File No. 000-23999), filed August 14, 2001).
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10.6

First Amendment to Lease Agreement between Wildwood Associates, and the Registrant, dated June 10, 2002
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31,
2006 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 14, 2007).

10.7

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement between 2300 Windy Ridge Parkway Investors LLC, and the Registrant,
dated February 27, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report for the
period ended December 31, 2006 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 14, 2007).

10.8

Lease Agreement by and between Tektronix UK Limited, Manhattan Associates Limited and Manhattan
Associates, Inc., dated October 21, 1999 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company’s Annual
Report for the period ended December 31, 1999 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 30, 2000).

10.9

Lease (Burlington Business Center) by and between Gateway Rosewood, Inc. and Manhattan Associates, Inc.,
dated August 23, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period
ended December 31, 2004 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 16, 2005).

10.10

Agreement to Build and Lease between Orchid Apartments Private Limited and Manhattan Associates India
Development Centre Private Limited, executed on November 19, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 2004 (File No. 000-23999), filed on
March 16, 2005).

10.11

Lease Agreement between IGE Energy Services (UK) Limited, Manhattan Associates Limited and Manhattan
Associates, Inc., dated February 1, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual
Report for the period ended December 31, 2004 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 16, 2005).

10.12

Sub-Sublease Agreement between Scientific Research Corporation, a Georgia corporation, and the Registrant,
dated July 2, 1998 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period
ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 31, 1999).

10.13

Sub-Sublease Agreement between The Profit Recovery Group International 1, Inc., a Georgia corporation, and the
Registrant, dated August 19, 1998 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report
for the period ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 31, 1999).

10.14

Standard Sublease Agreement between Life Office Management Association, Inc. and the Registrant, dated
October 20, 2000 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period
ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 000-23999), filed on April 2, 2001).

10.15

Standard Sublease Agreement between Chevron USA Inc. and the Registrant, dated November 20, 2000
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31,
2000 (File No. 000-23999), filed on April 2, 2001).

10.16

Form of Indemnification Agreement with certain directors and officers of the Registrant (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report for the period ended June 30, 2004 (File No. 00023999), filed on August 9, 2004).

10.17

Form of Tax Indemnification Agreement for direct and indirect shareholders of Manhattan Associates Software,
LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No.
333-47095), filed on February 27, 1998).

10.18

Summary Plan Description of the Registrant’s Money Purchase Plan & Trust, effective January 1, 1997
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33347095), filed on February 27, 1998).
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10.19

Summary Plan Description of the Registrant’s 401(k) Plan and Trust, effective January 1, 1995 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on
February 27, 1998).

10.20 *

Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on February 27, 1998).

10.21 *

First Amendment to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on March 31, 1999).

10.22 *

Second Amendment to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on March 31, 1999).

10.23 *

Third Amendment to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on March 31, 1999).

10.24 *

Fourth Amendment to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 1999 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on March 30, 2000).

10.25 *

Fifth Amendment to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Form S-8 (File No. 333-68968), filed on September 5, 2001).

10.26 *

Sixth Amendment to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Annex A to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting held May 17, 2002 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on April 24, 2002).

10.27 *

Amendment No. 7 to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s Form S-8 (File No. 333-105913), filed on June 6, 2003).

10.28 *

Form of Composite Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report for the period ended March 31, 2006 (File No. 000-23999), filed on May 4, 2006).

10.30(a)*

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Peter F. Sinisgalli, effective as of
February 25, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period
ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 15, 2004).

(b)*

Modification dated July 19, 2007 by and between the Company and Peter F. Sinisgalli to the Executive
Employment Agreement dated February 25, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on July 24, 2007).

(c)*

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Peter F. Sinisgalli, effective as of April 13,
2012 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on
December 23, 2011).

10.31 *

Separation and Non-Competition Agreement by and between the Registrant and Peter F. Sinisgalli, effective as of
February 25, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period
ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 15, 2004).
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10.32 *

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Jeffrey Mitchell, effective as of
September 3, 1999 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period
ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 15, 2004).

10.33 *

Executive Non-Competition and Severance Agreement by and between the Registrant and Jeffrey S. Mitchell,
dated June 22, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report for the period
ended June 30, 2004 (File No. 000-23999), filed on August 9, 2004).

10.34 *

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Jeffry Baum, effective as of October 30,
2000 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December
31, 2003 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 15, 2004).

10.35 *

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Dennis B. Story, effective as of
February 18, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999),
filed on February 22, 2006).

10.36 *

Severance and Non-Competition Agreement by and between the Registrant and Dennis B. Story, effective as of
February 18, 2006 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999),
filed on February 22, 2006).

10.37*

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Pervinder Johar, effective as of March 30,
2006. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on
January 2, 2009).

10.38 *

Severance and Non-Competition Agreement by and between the Registrant and Pervinder Johar, effective as
March 30, 2006. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999),
filed on January 2, 2009).

10.39*

Separation Agreement and Release by and between the Registrant and Pervinder Johar, dated December 31, 2008.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on January 7,
2009).

10.40*

Form of Modification Agreement for Terms and Conditions for Stock Options. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on January 2, 2009).

10.41*

Severance and Non-Competition Agreement by and between the Registrant and David Dabbiere, effective as of
September 29, 2008. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 00023999), filed on January 2, 2009).

10.42

Form of License Agreement, Software Maintenance Agreement and Consulting Agreement (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Pre-Effective Amendment No. 1 to its Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-47095), filed on April 2, 1998).

10.43

Form of Software License, Services and Maintenance Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to
the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-23999), filed on March 31,
1999).

10.44 *

2007 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended by the First Amendment thereto (Incorporated by reference to Annex A to
the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement related to its 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (File No. 00023999) filed on April 20, 2009).
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10.45 *

Written Summary of Manhattan Associates, Inc. 2009 Annual Cash Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on June 19, 2009).

10.46 *

Written Summary of Manhattan Associates, Inc. 2009 Supplemental Cash Incentive Plan (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K (File No. 000-23999), filed on June 19, 2009).

10.47*

Written Summary of Manhattan Associates, Inc. Annual Cash Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.47 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on February 19, 2010).

10.48*

Form of Manhattan Associates, Inc. Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Employees (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.48 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 2009 (File No. 000-23999),
filed on February 19, 2010).

10.49*

Form of Manhattan Associates, Inc. Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31,
2009 (File No. 000-23999), filed on February 19, 2010).

10.50*

Form of Manhattan Associates, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Employees (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.50 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31, 2012 (File
No. 000-23999), filed on February 23, 2012).

10.51*

Form of Manhattan Associates, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December 31,
2012 (File No. 000-23999), filed on February 23, 2012).

10.52*

Executive Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Bruce Richards, effective as of August 1,
2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended December
31, 2012 (File No. 000-23999), filed on February 23, 2012).

10.53*

Severance and Non-Competition Agreement by and between the Registrant and Bruce Richards, effective as of
August 1, 2011 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended
December 31, 2012 (File No. 000-23999), filed on February 23, 2012).

10.54*

Modification Agreement for Terms and Conditions for Stock Options by and between the Registrant and Eddie
Capel, effective as of June 4, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s Annual Report
for the period ended December 31, 2012 (File No. 000-23999), filed on February 23, 2012).

10.55*

Severance and Non-Competition Agreement by and between the Registrant and Eddie Capel, effective as of
March 18, 2010 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Company’s Annual Report for the period ended
December 31, 2012 (File No. 000-23999), filed on February 23, 2012).

21.1

List of Subsidiaries.

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
75

32 **

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 .INS ***

XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH***

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 .CAL***

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 .DEF ***

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101 .LAB***

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 .PRE ***

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
* Management contract or compensatory plan or agreement.
**In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of the SEC’s Regulation S-K, this Exhibit is hereby furnished to
the SEC as an accompanying document and is not deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section, nor shall it be
deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933.
*** In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL related information in Exhibit 101 to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any
registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
MANHATTAN ASSOCIATES, INC. SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiaries

Place of Incorporation

Manhattan Associates Limited

United Kingdom

Manhattan Associates Europe B.V.

Netherland

Manhattan Associates France SARL

France

Manhattan Associates GmbH

Germany

Manhattan Associates KK

Japan

Manhattan Associates Software (Shanghai), Co. Ltd.

China

Manhattan Associates Pty Ltd.

Australia

Manhattan Associates Software Pte Ltd.

Singapore

Manhattan Associates (India) Development Centre Private Limited

India

Manhattan Associates, S. de R.L. de CV

Mexico

Manhattan Associates Services, S. de R.L. de CV

Mexico

Manhattan Associates Supply Chain Software, LLC

Georgia, USA

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

EXHIBIT 23.1

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
1. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-60635) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan,
2. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-45802) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan,
3. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-68968) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan,
4. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-105913) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan,
5. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-129272) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan,
6. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-139598) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan,
7. Registration statement (Form S-8 No. 333-143611) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan,
8. Registration statement (Form S-8 No. 333-159852) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan,
and
9. Registration statement (Form S-8 No. 333-174499) pertaining to the Manhattan Associates, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan;
of our reports dated February 22, 2013, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Manhattan Associates,
Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Manhattan Associates, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 22, 2013

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

EXHIBIT 31.1

I, Eddie Capel, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of the registrant;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated this 22nd day of February, 2013
/s/ Eddie Capel
Eddie Capel, President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(d), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

EXHIBIT 31.2

I, Dennis B. Story, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of the registrant;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated this 22nd day of February, 2013
/s/ Dennis B. Story
Dennis B. Story, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, and Treasurer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

EXHIBIT 32

This Certificate is being delivered pursuant to the requirements of Section 1350 of Chapter 63 (Mail Fraud) of Title 18
(Crimes and Criminal Procedures) of the United States Code and shall not be relied on by any person for any other purpose.
The undersigned, who are the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of Manhattan Associates, Inc. (the
“Company”), hereby each certify that, to the undersigned’s knowledge:
1. the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2012 (the “Report”), which
accompanies this Certification, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and
2. all information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.
Dated this 22nd day of February, 2013

/s/ Eddie Capel
Eddie Capel, President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Dennis B. Story
Dennis B. Story, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, and Treasurer
In accordance with SEC Release No. 34-47986, this Exhibit is furnished to the SEC as an accompanying document and is not deemed
“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section, nor
shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933. A signed original of this written
statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the registrant and will be retained by the
registrant and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Auditors

Computershare Investor Services

Ernst & Young LLP

P O Box 43078

Atlanta, Georgia

Providence, RI 02940-3078
+1 800.568.3476

Legal Counsel

Inquiries regarding stock transfers, lost

Kilpatrick Townsend & Stockton LLP
Atlanta, Georgia

certificates or address changes should be
directed to above address.

The Company’s common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol MANH.
Additional copies of the Company’s 2012 10-K, included with this annual report to shareholders and filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, may be obtained by shareholders online at www.manh.com or without charge by
writing to Manhattan Associates Investor Relations at the Company’s headquarters.

Stock Performance
The following line-graph provides a comparison of the cumulative total shareholder return for Manhattan Associates,
Inc. (“Manhattan”) common stock for the period from December 31, 2007 through December 31, 2012, against the
cumulative shareholder return during such period achieved by The NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ Composite”)
and the NASDAQ Computer and Data Processing Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December
31, 2007 in Common Stock and in each of the comparison indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends. No cash
dividends have been declared on shares of Manhattan common stock. The data for the graph was provided to us
by Zacks Investment Research, Inc.

Comparison of 5-Year Cumulative Total Return
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2300 Windy Ridge Parkway | Atlanta, Georgia 30339
tel +1 770.955.7070 | fax +1 770.955.0302
North & South America +1 877.596.9208 | Global +44 (0)1344 318000
www.manh.com

Manhattan Associates is committed to developing supply chain solutions that foster environmental stewardship.
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